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CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GROWTH ENTERPRISE MARKET (“GEM”) OF THE
STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate companies to which a higher investment
risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be
aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to invest only
after due and careful consideration. The greater risk profile and other characteristics of GEM mean that it
is a market more suited to professional and other sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may
be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited take no responsibility for
the contents of this report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any
liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this
report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of China CBM Group Company Limited (the “Company”)
collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information
with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their
knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not
misleading or deceptive, and that there are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement herein
or this report misleading.

This report will remain on the “Latest Company Announcements” page of the GEM website at www.hkgem.com for at
least seven days from the date of its publication.
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CORPORATE PROFILE
2l i

China CBM Group Company Limited and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) currently conduct the business of
manufacture and sales of liquefied coalbed gas whose operations are
located in the PRC. The Company was incorporated in Cayman
Islands as an exempted company with limited liability in July 2002
and continued in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited
liabilities in accordance with the Company Act 1981 (as amended) of
Bermuda. It was initially listed on the Growth Enterprise Market
(“GEM”) of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 12 August
2008.

The Group is principally engaged in the business of exploitation,
liquefaction production and sales of natural gas in the PRC.
Headquartered in Tianjin. The Group’s production of liquefied coalbed
gas is in Shanxi Qinshui Basin which boasts the richest liquefied
coalbed gas, while its distribution network extends to Shanxi,
Guangxi and Guangdong Provinces, etc.

In order to stabilise our natural gas supply and hence raise the
utilisation of our liquefied natural gas (‘LNG”) plant, the Group has
made significant investment in resources exploration and exploitation
at the coalbed methane blocks located in Yangcheng, Shanxi, since
July 2011. The Group had successfully supplied gas to the LNG
plant. The commercial production of coalbed gas has transformed
our Group into a vertically integrated natural gas company and
continued to enhance our leading position in China’s unconventional
gas market.

The Group will adhere to the principle of “social responsibility is of
overriding importance” while exploring and developing in the new
energy sector with an aim to provide the world with high-quality clean
energy and keep improving and promoting the harmonious
coexistence of man and nature.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

| am pleased to present the audited financial results of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2016.

OVERALL BUSINESS REVIEW

After years of development, we have achieved the goal of turning
ourselves into a vertically integrated natural gas producer with
complete value chain businesses. We have established a complete
business process covering CBM extraction, liquefaction, pipelines
and highway transportation, distribution network and technical
services. As at 31 December 2016, we have completed the ground
work and drilling of 274 wells in the Yangcheng gas block which
resulted in stable increase of the number of production wells and gas
output. The gas supply pipeline connecting Yangcheng gas block
Huiyang Company (“Huiyang Company”) and Qinshui Shuntai LNG
Plant was constructed and put into operation. As Huiyang Company
started supply of CBM extracted by it to Qinshui Shuntai LNG Plant,
the plant is able to secure more stable gas supply and ready to
further improve its utilisation and production cost structure.

EXPLORATION AND PRODUCTION
BUSINESS REVIEW

During 2016, the construction of new wells was somewhat impacted
by our focus on improving capabilities of production wells. However,
the unremitting efforts of the management resulted in encouraging
progress in the construction of new wells. As at 31 December 2016,
we have completed the ground work and drilling of a total of 274
wells, of which 225 wells were producing gas. The gas output volume
of the existing production wells amounts to 800 cubic metre per day
per well on average. In addition, the gas supply pipeline connecting
the gas block and the LNG plant was constructed and put into
operation. The Group has started to generate revenue, profit and
cash flow from the business of exploitation of natural gas, and its
profitability and cash flow position will be further improved as the
number and capabilities of production wells further increase.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
BV 280

LNG BUSINESS REVIEW

The shortage of gas supply in the whole LNG industry in Shanxi,
including ourselves, has not yet improved significantly, and the
instability gas supply from the gas supplier which resulted in a lower
utilisation rate of our Qinshui Shuntai LNG plant. However, Qinshui
Shuntai LNG plant has been receiving gas supply from Yangcheng
gas block and its utilisation rate has improved gradually as the gas
supply pipeline was constructed and put into operation.

MARKETING BUSINESS REVIEW

After years of development, the Group has developed a diversified
customer base comprising industrial, commercial and resident
customers and established complete distribution channel and
network. In addition, we have also taken different measures to
maximise the profitability of our gas sale. During 2016, we used
different sales mix and flexibly selected various equipment such as
pipeline, cylinder group, gas station and skid-mounted equipment to
sell gas to our customers. With commencement of the related work,
we will be able to reduce the uncertainty in future natural gas sales
and optimise our sales mix, i.e. shifting towards a balanced mix from
a residential user dominated mix.

EMPHASIS ON TECHNOLOGIES
ADVANCEMENT

In order to ensure the smooth development of our exploration and
production business, the continuous improvement of technologies
and to maintain our leading position in technological advancement,
we actively worked with research institutes to build and expand our
professional technical team, so as to provide professional and
advanced technical services to our exploration and liquefaction
production business. In the future, we will be investing heavily in
developing and advancing our CBM extraction technology and
techniques.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY

As a responsible corporation, the Group is committed to observe its
environmental and social responsibility, in order to ensure sustainable
development of its business. To the knowledge of the Directors, the
Group has complied with all material relevant applicable laws and
regulations in relation to its business including employment and the
environment. The Group encourages employees, customers,
suppliers and other stakeholders to participate in environmental and
social activities.

The Company as a leading CBM company will seize opportunity to
grow our CBM business on a long term sustainable basis.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The bye-laws provides that the directors shall be indemnified out of
the assets and profits of the Company from and against all actions,
costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any of
them shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done,
concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty, or
supposed duty, in their respective offices.

The Company has taken out and maintained directors’ liability
insurance which provides appropriate cover for the directors and
directors of the subsidiaries of the Group.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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OUTLOOK

At present, demand for natural gas is increasing in China with huge
growth potential. As pollution is worsening in China, governments at
all levels are placing more emphasis on development of clean energy,
which shows great potential in further development, recognising the
rising advocacy of safer — especially under the recent nuclear power
crisis — and cleaner energy. However, the existing conventional
natural gas production is unlikely to satisfy China’s strong demand of
natural gas in the coming years; and we believe that it is inevitable
that the PRC government would need to encourage the
unconventional gas production. With all the favourable policies and
measures in place, there is no doubt that the Company, as a leading
CBM company, will gain major benefits. We will seize this opportunity
to grow our CBM business on a long term sustainable basis and
would try our very best to maximise our shareholders’ investment
return.

To carry through the Group’s spirit of advancement by innovation,
the Group has since the beginning of 2016 commenced the research
and development (R&D) on liquefied A-class air. Owing to the severe
air pollution issue in Northern China, residents there have an
increasingly earnest demand for fresh air. The Group thus considers
that the market of liquefied A-class air possess enormous room for
development. In 2017, the Group augments its efforts in the R&D of
liquefied A-class air, anticipating that the liquefied A-class air business
will become a new profit growth driver of the Group.

Lastly, | would like to take this opportunity to thank our team for all
their hard work in the past years for turning the Group a better
enterprise than | have ever seen. Going forward, | believe that our
team will pay more efforts in making the Group a leading enterprise in
China’s CBM industry.

Wang Zhong Sheng
Chairman

27 March 2017
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group recorded a consolidated turnover of approximately
RMB218,879,000 for the year ended 31 December 2016,
representing an decrease of approximately 33.5% compared with
that of the corresponding period in 2015. The sales quantity was at
roughly the same level in the year compared with the last year.
However, the sales unit price was decreased in the year, therefore,
the operating income generated from sales of liquefied coalbed gas
has decreased by approximately RMB121,650,000.

The sales unit price was decreased in 2016, and it leads to the gross
loss of the Group approximately RMB11,688,000 for the year ended
31 December 2016. The Group recorded a loss attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2016
of approximately RMB101,002,000 compared with that of
approximately RMB235,943,000 for the year ended 31 December
2015. The decrease in loss attributable to equity shareholders of the
Company as a result of no impairment loss on goodwill, intangible
assets and property, plant and equipment was incurred in 2016, and
it was amounting to RMB230,022,000 in 2015. The reasons for the
loss are as follows:

(i)  the gross loss of the Group approximately RMB11,688,000 as
a result of then sales unit price was decreased in the year;

(i) administrative expenses of the Group increased from
RMB50,625,000 to RMB58,447,000, it mainly due to an
increase in depreciation as a result of the acquisition of
subsidiary in December 2015;

(i) other operating expenses of the Group increased from
RMB4,343,000 to RMB8,255,000 in 2016, it mainly due to an
impairment of trade receivable of RMB5,513,000 was occurred
in 2016; and

The increase in trade and other payable from RMB364,754,000 to
RMB382,927,000 as a result of the increase in the amount due to the
main gas supplier during the year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BBt B oy A

BUSINESS REVIEW AND DEVELOPMENT
PROSPECTS

Resources and reserves

Yangcheng Huiyang New Energy Development Company Limited
(hereinafter referred to as “Huiyang New Energy”) has interest in
certain coalbed methane (CBM) properties located at Shanxi
Province, the PRC. The Yangcheng area is approximately 96 km? in
the Shanxi Province, the PRC. Development within the Yangcheng
gas block is focused on the #3 and #15 coal seams. These CBM
properties are located at various coal mine areas owned by Shanxi
Yangcheng Yangtai Group Industrial Company Limited. Huiyang New
Energy is a joint venture company and 60% of its equity interests is
held by one of the wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Group.

The movements in the reserves of certain CBM properties as of
31 December 2016 are set out below:

EBOBERERAIR

R EEEFERERERAR (THIE
BRTeE R ) RN P B ILAE N E TRKE
REEHRERAEZ - BEbRANPE LT
B HBENSFTRE - B KARESR
TEFERMSHERE - ZEREREE
RIS EEEEXAERARHESR
WZERBERKA BEHERS—HEA
L% HE0%M ANk A AN H EH A —
BEEMBRARREE -

ETHREREEBE_T—R"F+_H
=t BENRFESMERN TXHT

Reserve Reserve

evaluation evaluation

of the CBM of the CBM

properties properties

as at as at

31 December 2016 31 March 2012

BCF BCF

R=-B-—XRE R-B—Z=f%F

+=A=+-A =B=+-H

MEEREE WEEBREE

HETE R

TRIFER TRIFER

Total original gas in place on all blocks EBRRNRIGAARMELSE 2,724 2,724

Net 1P (Proved) reserves EEE(IP)FRHE 1,419 35

Net 2P (Proved + Probable) reserves FE MBS (2P) FRE 1,869 277
Net 3P (Proved + Probable + Possible) EBZ M INAT 8 (BP) F =

reserves 2,282 2,050
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The reserve evaluation of the CBM properties as at 31 March 2012 is
the results of evaluation conducted by an independent, US-licensed
natural gas reserve engineer, Netherland, Sewell & Associates, Inc.
(“NSAI") engaged by the Company in 2011 to evaluate the CBM
properties reserves.

Due to continued development of the gas field blocks by the
Company, the number and scope of the gas production wells are
relatively increased as compared with that of 2012, enabling the
Company to collect more data about the CBM properties to evaluate
the CBM properties more accurately. Accordingly, the Company
engaged an independent professional valuer in the PRC in July 2014
to evaluate certain CBM properties of “Huiyang New Energy” in terms
of net 3P (Proved + Probable + Possible) reserves, net 2P (Proved +
Probable) reserves and net 1P (Proved) reserves based on
substantially the same definitions and guidelines as that of NSAI in
2012. According to the results of the evaluation, the total original gas
in place on all blocks was generally unchanged as compared with
that of NSAI in 2012. Based on the current costs for developing
wells, the technical department of the Group estimates the capital
expenditure for each well to be approximately RMB1.4 million, mainly
comprising of road maintenance fees of approximately RMB0.09
million, drilling expenses of approximately RMB0.86 million, well
testing fees of approximately RMBO0.04 million and costs of
equipment and materials of approximately RMBO0.41 million.

Gas volumes are expressed in billion of cubic feet (BCF) at standard
temperature and pressure bases. The reserves shown in the above
table are estimates only and should not be construed as exact
quantities. Proved reserves are those quantities of oil and gas which,
by analysis of engineering and geoscience data, can be estimated
with reasonable certainty to be commercially recoverable; probable
and possible reserves are those additional reserves which are
sequentially less certain to be recovered than proved reserves.
Estimates of reserves may increase or decrease as a result of market
conditions, future operations, changes in regulations, or actual
reservoir performance.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BBt B oy A

Natural gas exploration and extraction

As at 31 December, 2016, the Group has completed the ground
work and drilling of 274 CBM wells, among which 225 wells were in
production, representing an increase in 2 wells in production
compared to the end of year 2015. As of the end of 2016, we have
completed the ground work and drilling of an aggregate of 274 CBM
wells, or 6 less than previously expected. It was mainly attributed to
the fact that the Company spent part of funds and put certain efforts
in stabilising and increasing the output of producing wells, which, to
some extent, has led to slowdown of construction of new wells. The
existing gas-output wells produce approximately 800 cubic meters of
gas on average per day. The Group expected that by the end of
2017, the total drills and wells in production will reach 288 and 264
respectively and the total gas output will exceed 200,000 cubic
meters per day.

Liquefaction operation

As at 31 December 2016, the production capacity of the Group’s
LNG remained unchanged at the level of approximately 500,000
cubic meters per day. Compared with the prior year, the raw gas
supply has significantly improved with an increasingly growing trend.
In 2016, the average daily production output was over 300,000 cubic
meters but the supply constraints in natural gas in the PRC have not
unleashed generally. The Group has not yet purchased adequate
natural gas to conduct downstream liquefaction accordingly. The
utilisation rate of our LNG plants increased substantially but the
production capacity had not achieve its full potential and there is still
room for growth. However, with the increase in production output of
Huiyang Natural Gas Region and the expected increase of the supply
from other gas suppliers, the production capacity of the utilisation
rate of Qinshui Shuntai LNG plant will gradually increase, which will
continue to increase the income, profit and cash flow contribution to
the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Marketing and sales

During 2016, the marketing and sales systems did not change
significantly and the personnel structure and sales strategies basically
remained the same. Affected by overall environment, the sales price
during traditional peak periods did not represent a substantial
increase as the previous year, by contrast, the sales price takes on a
descending trend, which, to some extent, has affected the sales
performance.

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Capital Structure

As at 31 December 2016, the Group had net assets of approximately
RMB418,136,000, including cash and bank balances of
approximately RMB20,534,000. To minimise financial risks, the
Group implements stringent financial and risk management strategies
and avoids the use of highly-geared financing arrangements. The
Group’s gearing ratio, calculated by the Group’s total external
borrowings divided by its shareholders’ fund, was approximately
21.74% as at 31 December 2016 (2015: 23.03%).

The Group is opportunistic in obtaining financing to further improve
the cash position given that the natural gas drilling program is capital
intensive. If the Group has adequate financing in the future (whether it
is from internal cash flow due to increased gas sales, or from fund
raising), the Group will accelerate the drilling program. Apart from the
intended investment in upstream CBM exploration and extraction, the
Group does not have any other plan for acquisition or investment,
disposal or scale-down of any current business.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BBt B oy A

The employees

As at 31 December, 2016, the employees of the Group totaled 543,
among which 92 were R&D staff and 262 were project and customer
service staff; 152 were administration staff and 37 were marketing
and sales staff. During the year, the total cost of staff (including the
remuneration of the Board Directors) recognised in profit or loss
account was approximately RMB30,728,000 (2015: approximately
RMB28,431,000). The remuneration and salary packages and
dividend policy of the Group were determined based on the individual
performance of staff. The Group will continue to offer professional
further studies and training to staff.

Impairment of intangible assets, goodwill and
property, plant and equipment

In 2010, 2011 and 2015, the Group acquired 100% equity interest in
Million Ideas Group, 100% equity interest of Wealthy Talent Global
Group and 100% equity interest of Nuoxin Engineering respectively.
The consideration for acquisition of Million ldeas Group was
RMB178,000,000. Million Ideas Group is principally engaged in the
provision of liquefied coalbed gas logistics services in the PRC. The
consideration for acquisition of Wealthy Talent Global Group was
HK$499,000,000. Wealthy Talent Global Group is principally engaged
in the supply of natural gas and sales of liquefied natural gas (“LNG”)
in Henan Province. The consideration for acquisition of Nuoxin
Engineering was RMB50,300,000. Nuoxin Engineering is principally
engaged in the manufacture and sale of PE gas pipeline, metal model
in construction use, mining machine, road compacting machine,crane
and exhaust fan for natural gas.

Although the natural gas business continued to make steady growth
and progress when compared to previous years, it is still under
development and far behind the expected development schedule. It
has not yet contributed satisfactory return to the Group since the
acquisition of the abovementioned two groups.

The recoverable amount of Cash Generating Unit (“CGU”) of Coalbed
methane exploration and development, natural gas liquefaction and
LNG distribution was determined with reference to a valuation
conducted by an independent valuer, based on income approach. In
July 2014, the Company engaged an independent professional valuer
to evaluate certain CBM properties of Huiyang New Energy. As a
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

result of an evaluation, the Group changed its business plan, and has
emphasised to develop certain area of Huiyang New Energy. As a
result of the change in the business plan, the forecasted number of
gas wells of each of the financial years over the forecast period will
be reduced. With reduced number of operating gas wells, the gas
output from the CBM field are expected to tumble over the forecast
period.

The Discounted Cash Flow Method has been employed for the
valuation of the CGU and there is no change in the valuation method
for the valuation as at 31 December 2016 compared to that as at
31 December 2015. The discount rate used in the valuation of the
CGU are 22% for 2016 (2015: 21%) to reflect specific risks relating to
the overall market as well as the relevant businesses and consistent
with external sources of information.

As such, an impairment loss of intangible assets, goodwill and
property, plant and equipment of approximately RMB97,864,000,
RMB3,551,000 and RMB92,086,000 in respect of the exclusive right
for piped natural gas operation in Ruyang County and operating
licence for liquefied coalbed gas logistics were recognised for the
year ended 31 December 2015.

In 2009, the Group acquired 100% equity interest in Allied Rich
Group. The consideration for acquisition of Allied Rich Group was
RMB203,163,000. Allied Rich Group is principally engaged in the
sales of piped natural gas in Beiliu City, Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous
Region, the PRC.

The recoverable amount of CGU of piped natural gas located in
Guangxi was determined with reference to a valuation conducted by
an independent valuer, based on income approach.

The Discounted Cash Flow Method has been employed for the
valuation of the CGU and there is no change in the valuation method
for the valuation as at 31 December 2016 compared to that as at
31 December 2015. The discount rate used in the valuation of the
CGU are 29% for both year, ended 2015 and 2016 to reflect specific
risks relating to the overall market as well as the relevant businesses
and consistent with external sources of information.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BBt B oy A

As such, an impairment loss of intangible assets of approximately
RMB36,521,000 in respect of the exclusive right for piped natural gas
operation in Beiliu City were recognised for the year ended
31 December 2015.

Risk in Foreign Exchange

The group entities collect most of the revenue and incur most of
expenditures in their respective functional currencies. The Directors
consider that the Group’s exposure to foreign currency exchange is
insignificant as the majority of the Group’s transactions are
denominated in the functional currency of each individual group
entity.

Significant Investment, Material Acquisitions and
Disposal of Subsidiaries and Associated Companies

During the year ended 31 December 2016, there was no significant
investment, material acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries and
associated companies by the Company.

OUTLOOK

The upstream business of the Company is improving steadily and the
well construction and gas output are both increasing constantly.
During 2016, apart from constructing new wells, the Company made
technological upgrade to some old wells to improve production
capacity and output, laying a solid foundation for the Company’s
long-term performance. With the steady increase in the number of
upstream wells and gas output, the foundation of the Company’s
upstream business is increasingly consolidated and the advantage of
vertical integration business will emerge. In recent years, the
unfavorable bottleneck of raw gas shortage will gradually be tackled
and the production capacity of liquefaction plants will be fully
unleashed. Together with the increase in the proportion of
self-produced gas, the Company will be gradually less affected by
external factors and the uncontrollable risks involved in the operation
of the Company will become less. It is projected that by the end of
2017, the daily output of gas exploration business will break through
beyond 200,000 cubic meters.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As there are growing concerns over the environmental issues, it is
foreseen that the highly-polluted energy will be eliminated from the
market more rapidly and the use of replaceable clean energy will be
more popular, resulting in a keener market demand for natural gas.
Although the production capacity of natural gas has been increasing
significantly in recent years, the projected demand will not be satisfied
still. The demand growth of natural gas market will continue to retain
its strong momentum. However, the drop in selling prices of natural
gas has resulted in operating losses. Management of the Company
will spare no effort in overcoming difficulties and be devoted to
making contribution to the Company’s profit margin and long — term
development.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BBt B oy A

In addition, against a backdrop of air pollution in Mainland China that
cannot be effectively improved in the short run, the public, especially
residents in Northeast China where the pollution is relatively more
severe, have an increasingly strong demand for fresh air. In response
to such market demand, the Group has conducted the R&D on
liquefied A-class air technology since the beginning of 2016. Liquefied
A-class air refers to air undergone multiply filtration, liquefied and
pumped into various sealed bottles. It is released slowly when used
to provide A-class fresh air that sustains normal respiration by users.
This product possesses advantages over ordinary air purifying
devices as it is of low cost, easy to carry and subjected to no
conditions of usage, such that it can be widely applied in household
vehicles, family lives, and business or office venues. As an extremely
desirable new product, the production of which is expected to bring
about consideration cost-effectiveness for the Group. In respect of
household vehicles, the Group’s target cities are Beijing, Tianjin,
Zhengzhou and Shijiazhuang, and the total number of vehicles in
such places amounts to approximately 7.5 million. Based on the
estimated production capacity of LLIFE/KIEZ R/ TR (Shanxi
Qinshui Shuntai Liquefying Plant), the Group will only be able to meet
1.9% demand of the targeted cities. As such, the Group believes that
the liquefied A-class air business has a huge development potential.
Currently, the R&D on liquefied A-class air has entered the stage of
transformation and calibration for liquefying equipment and optimized
molding for liquefied air bottles. In order to expedite R&D of this new
product that may kickoff a new business for the Group, the Group
has suspended the production of liquefied natural gas by Shanxi
Qinshui Shuntai since February 2017 with an aim to lower the
subsequent production cost of R&D on liquefied A-class air. Trial
production of liquefied A-class air has commenced by making use of
our existing liquefied natural gas equipping with some necessary
transformation and process adjustment. It is anticipated that such
R&D will yield results in 2017.

Despite that the Group has suspended the production of liquefied
natural gas by Shanxi Qinshui Shuntai since February 2017, the
Group is fully confident in the prospect of the natural gas market in
China. In 2017, the Group is intending to transport natural gas from
gas blocks directly to industrial users through pipelines, so as to
secure profit contribution from the natural gas business.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

(a)

(b)

Application of Corporate Governance Principles

The Group is committed to promoting good corporate
governance, with the objectives of (i) the maintenance of
responsible decision making, (ii) the improvement in
transparency and disclosure of information to shareholders,
(iii) the continuance of respect for the rights of shareholders and
the recognition of the legitimate interests of shareholders, and
(iv) the improvement in crisis management and the
enhancement of performance by the Group. The Group has
applied the principles set out in the Corporate Governance
Code (the “Code”) contained in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing
Rules with these objectives in mind.

Promulgation of Company’s Corporate
Governance Code

To this end, the Group has promulgated a set of code on
corporate governance (the “Company Code”) which sets out
the corporate standards and practices used by the Group to
direct and manage its business affairs. It is prepared by
reference to the principles, code provisions and recommended
best practices set out in the Code, which came into effect on
1 January 2005. In addition to formalising existing corporate
governance principles and practices, the Company Code also
serves the purpose of assimilating existing practices with
benchmarks prescribed by the Code and ultimately ensuring
high transparency and accountability to the Group’s
shareholders.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BRI,

(c) Compliance of Company Code and the code
provisions under the Code (the “Code
Provisions™)

The Group has complied with all provisions in the Company
Code and the Code Provisions under the Code during the year
ended 31 December 2016 save for code provisions A.2.1 and
A.4.1 of the Code, details of the derivation and reason for
derivation are set out in the paragraphs headed “Chairman and
Chief Executive” and “Appointment term of Non-executive
Directors” of this corporate governance report.

The Company Code contains all the Code Provisions of the
Code and other provisions.

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding Directors’
securities transactions on terms no less exacting than those as set
out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. Having made
specific enquiry of all Directors, all Directors have complied with the
required standard of dealings and code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by Directors as set out in the Company’s code
of conduct for the year 2016.

BOARD COMPOSITION, ROLE AND
FUNCTION

The Board is entrusted with the overall responsibility for promoting
the success of the Company through direction and supervision of the
Company’s business and affairs.

The Board comprises a total of five Directors, comprising two
executive Directors, namely, Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng (Chairman), and
Mr. Fu Shou Gang and three independent non-executive Directors,
namely, Mr. Luo Wei Kun, Mr. Wang Zhi He and Ms. Pang Yuk Fong.
Ms. Pang Yuk Fong has appropriate professional qualifications,
accounting and financial management expertise as required under
the GEM Listing Rules.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has made an
annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the
GEM Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all Independent
Non- executive Directors meet the independence guidelines set out
in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and are independent in
accordance with the terms of the guidelines.

The Company has complied with Rules 5.05(1), 5.05(2) and 5.05A of
the GEM Listing Rules. During the year ended 31 December 2016,
there were three independent non-executive Directors in the Board
and the number of independent non-executive Directors represents
at least one-third of the Board. The Company has also complied with
Rule 5.05(2) of the GEM Listing Rules, which stipulates that one of
the independent non-executive Directors must possess appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise. The Board considers that the independent
non-executive Directors are all independent persons with appropriate
qualifications or expertise and the Company has complied with the
relevant requirements of the GEM Listing Rules.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
functions set out in code provision D.3.1 of the Code. In 2016, the
Board has reviewed and monitored: (a) the Company’s corporate
governance policies and practices, (b) training and continuous
professional development of directors and senior management,
(c) the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal
and regulatory requirements, (d) the Company’s code of conduct and
(e) the Company’s compliance with the Code disclosure
requirements.

Appointment Term of Non-executive Directors

Under code provision A.4.1 of the Code, non-executive directors
should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election.
Currently, the independent non-executive Directors have no fixed
term of office but are subject to retirement by rotation at annual
general meetings of the Company in accordance with the Company’s
Articles of Association. As such, the Company considers that
sufficient measures have been taken to serve the purpose of this
code provision.
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BRI,

Roles of Directors

The Board assumes responsibility for leadership and control of the
management of the Company and is collectively responsible for
appointing and supervising senior management to ensure that the
operations of the Group are conducted in accordance with the
objectives of the Group. The principal roles of the Board are:

° to lay down the Group’s objectives, strategies, policies and
business plans;

° to monitor and control operating and financial performance
through the determination of the annual budget; and

° to formulate internal control policies and set appropriate policies
to manage risks in pursuit of the Group’s strategic objectives.

The Board is directly accountable to the shareholders and is
responsible for preparing the accounts.

Delegation by the Board

The Board has delegated the day-to-day management responsibility
to the management staff under the instruction/supervision of the
Board.

The management staff of the Company are principally responsible for:

1. exercising all such other powers and perform all such other acts
as may be exercised and performed by the Directors, save and
except for those that may specifically be reserved by the Board
and/or the committees set up by the Board for decision and
implementation; or those that may only be exercised by the
Board pursuant to the Articles of Association, the GEM Listing
Rules and other applicable laws and regulations;

2. formulating and/or implementing policies for business activities,
internal controls and administration of the Company;

24 CHINA CBM GROUP COMPANY LIMITED Annual Report 2016

EEAB

EXeRARERERAARERENER
T AREEAEZEREESAEEE -
NHERAEE 2 EEREGAEE B -
ETeNTEACA:

e HIEAKEMBERZ K
%t &l

BE ~ BUR N

e RAEBFTEFMHEE BERELES
LENMUBERE R

o HIEAREEFIBRRHEEENER
EERE  AEBAKENRERR

EXgERARRAE YEEREKAE -

EEERE

EEREHEEECEERNIET ER
T BTREEERE -

ARRZERABXEBRE:

1. TREFATENEMGHABRED KiE
TEFAETNEMMBTH (%b*
MEFER HEFTEKRINE
BEREMRAITHES  HREAF
MEERAR AR ETRARE
B RIARIERZRTE  EATHRE
ESRERENEBRRI)

/\El

2. %li&/iiﬂﬁﬁ%K“ﬂ%ﬁ%%@J :

P BRES 4% M AT RV R



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

3.  planning and deciding the Company’s strategies on its business
activities; and

4.  keeping proper written records of its decisions taken which may
be inspected by any members of the Board or the Board
committees upon request.

The Board will review the above arrangements on a periodic basis to
ensure that they remain appropriate to the needs of the Group.

Chairman and Chief Executive

Under the code provision A.2.1 of the Code, the roles of the chairman
and chief executive should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual. Prior to the retirement of Mr. Feng San Li on
26 November 2012, Mr. Feng San Li was holding the title of CEO.
Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng is the chairman of the Board. After
Mr. Feng’s retirement, Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng continues to act as
the chairman and the duties of the chief executive have been
undertaken by the other executive Director. The Board meets
regularly to consider major matters affecting the business and
operations of the Group. The Board considers that this structure will
balance the power and authority between the Board and
management and believes that this structure enables the Group to
make and implement decision promptly and efficiently.

BOARD OPERATION

Regular Board meetings are held normally every three months, with
additional meetings arranged, if and when required. In 2016, the
Board held 8 meetings.
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BRI,

The attendance record of each member of the Board at board
meetings and general meetings of the Company are set out below:

EEERRALEALTEER SRR
RARHREWT

Attendance of Attendance of
Board Meetings General Meetings

Exgg= RRRE
HE =R R R

Executive Directors
HITES
Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng (Chairman) 8/8 2/2
TRBEE (£E)
Mr. Fu Shou Gang 8/8 2/2
&M 5% 4
Independent Non-executive Directors
BYFHITES
Mr. Luo Wei Kun 7/8 2/2
BEBERE
Ms. Pang Yuk Fong 8/8 2/2
ZEFLL
Mr. Wang Zhi He 6/8 2/2
FzMEE
Note: Number of board meeting and general meeting held during the tenure  [ff3F : EEFTHANETESTeeZ NKREAE

of the Director

Directors are free to contribute alternative views at meetings and
major decisions would only be taken after deliberation at Board
meetings. Directors who are considered having conflict of interests or
material interests in the proposed transactions or issues to be
discussed would not be counted in the quorum of meeting and would
abstain from voting on the relevant resolution.

All Directors have access to the company secretary who is

responsible for ensuring that the Board procedures are complied
with, and advising the Board on compliance matters.
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Directors’ Duties

Every Director is required to keep abreast of his responsibilities as a
director of the Company and of the conduct, business activities and
development of the Company:

° A comprehensive director’s handbook is issued to every
Director, which sets out guidelines on conduct by making
reference to the relevant sections of the statutes or the GEM
Listing Rules, and reminds Directors of their responsibilities in
making disclosure of their interests and potential conflict of
interests.

o Orientation programmes are organised for providing induction
to new Directors to help them familiarise with the Company’s
management, business and governance practices.

° Management provides appropriate and sufficient information to
Directors and the committee members in a timely manner to
keep them apprised of the latest development of the Group and
enable them to discharge their responsibilities. Directors also
have independent and unrestricted access to senior executives
of the Company.
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BRI,

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME

Each newly appointed director is provided with necessary induction
and information to ensure that he has a proper understanding of the
Company’s operations and businesses as well as his responsibilities
under the relevant statutes, laws, rules and regulations. Directors’
training is an ongoing process. During the year ended 31 December
2016, Directors are provided with monthly updates on the
Company’s performance, position and prospects to enable the Board
as a whole and each Director to discharge their duties. In addition, all
Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The
Company updates Directors on the latest development regarding the
GEM Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements from
time to time, to ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of
good corporate governance practices.

Attending
seminar(s) or
programme(s)/
reading relevant
materials in
relation to the
business, GEM
Listing Rules or
directors’ duties

(Yes/No)
Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng Yes
Mr. Fu Shou Gang Yes
Mr. Luo Wei Kun Yes
Ms. Pang Yuk Fong Yes
Mr. Wang Zhi He Yes

The briefing sessions covered topics including the Code, listed
company regulations and disclosure obligations in Hong Kong,
disclosable transactions and connected transactions etc.
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REMUNERATION PAID TO MEMBERS OF KEY
MANAGEMENT

Details of remuneration paid to member of key management (exclude
Director) fell within the following band:

AEER R,

XNFEEEEASNEH

XNHFEEEEAB(TMEREES) WHMH
BN FUATEHE :

[ 2016 | 2015

—E—R¥ —FT—HF

Number of Number of

individuals individuals

A" AEL

Nil ~ RMB 1,000,000 =z AR®1,000,0007T 3 3

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

A remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration
Committee”) was established on 12 August 2005 for, inter alia, the
following purposes:

(@ to make recommendations to the Board on policies and
structure for remuneration of directors and senior management
and on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure
for developing such policy on remuneration;

(b) to make recommendations to the Board the remuneration
packages for executive Directors and senior management and
to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
non-executive Directors.

The Remuneration Committee is made up of all of the Company’s
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Ms. Pang Yuk Fong
(Chairman), Mr. Luo Wei Kun and Mr. Wang Zhi He. The duties of
Remuneration Committee is to review and make recommendations
to the remuneration policy and packages of the executive Directors
and executives.
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BRI,

In 2016, the Remuneration Committee held one meeting. The
attendance record of each member of the Remuneration Committee
is set out below:

Attendance
R
Ms. Pang Yuk Fong (Chairman) 1/1
TEFTL(EE)
Mr. Luo Wei Kun 1/1
BEBESTAE
Mr. Wang Zhi He 1/1
F2MEE

During the meeting, members of the Remuneration Committee
reviewed the remuneration packages and overall benefits of the
Directors by taking into account factors such as remuneration
packages and benefits offered by comparable companies, the
respective contribution of each of the Directors to the Group and the
business objectives of the Group.

The executive Directors are responsible for reviewing all relevant
remuneration data and market conditions as well as the performance
of individuals and the profitability of the Group, and proposing to the
remuneration committee for consideration and approval. The
Remuneration Committee performed the major work as below:

1. reviewed and discussed the remuneration policy and structure
of the Company and the remuneration and performance of
duties of the executive Directors and senior management in the
year under review;

2. made recommendation to the Board on the remuneration

packages of individual executive directors and senior
management.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

A nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee”) was established on 12 August 2005 for, inter alia, the
following purposes:

(@) to review the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board;

(b) to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and make recommendations to the Board on the
selection of individuals nominated for directorship; and

(¢) to make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters
relating to the appointment or reappointment of directors and
succession planning for directors.

In August 2013, the Board has adopted its board diversity policy (the
“Board Diversity Policy”). All Board appointments will be based on
meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against selection
criteria based on a range of diversity perspectives, which would
include but not be limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution
that the selected candidates will bring to the Board.

The Nomination Committee is made up of all of the Company’s
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Wang Zhi He
(Chairman), Mr. Luo Wei Kun and Ms. Pang Yuk Fong.

In 2016, the Nomination Committee held one meeting. The
attendance record of each member of the Nomination Committee is
set out below:
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Attendance
R R
Mr. Wang Zhi He (Chairman) 1/1
T2 MEE(£E)
Mr. Luo Wei Kun 1/1
EEBESTAE
Ms. Pang Yuk Fong 1/1
ZEFRL
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BRI,

At the meeting, the Nomination Committee reviewed the structure,
size and composition of the Company’s Board of Directors, made
reference to criteria including, inter alia, reputation for integrity,
accomplishment and experience in the relevant industry, professional
and educational background, and commitment in respect of available
time and relevant interest. The Nomination Committee was satisfied
with the existing composition of the Board and recommended no
change in the near future, and performed the major work as below:

1. examined the structure, size and composition of the Board, to
ensure the Directors have the expertise, skills and experience
required to meet the Company’s business;

2. assessed the independency of all independent non-executive
Directors; and

3. made recommendations to the Board in this regard.

AMENDMENT TO THE TERMS OF
REFERENCE OF NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The terms of reference of the nomination committee of the Company
was amended on 14 August 2013 to include the review of the
Company’s board diversity policy and the progress on achieving the
objectives set for implementing the said policy as one of its duty.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company’s audit committee (the “Audit Committee”) was
established on 28 July 2003 and currently comprises all three
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Ms. Pang Yuk Fong
(Chairman), Mr. Luo Wei Kun and Mr. Wang Zhi He. The primary
duties of the Audit Committee are (a) to review the Group’s annual
reports, financial statements, half year reports and quarterly reports;
(b) to serve as a focal point for communication between Directors,
the external auditors and internal auditors; (c) to assist the Board in
fulfilling its responsibilities by providing an independent review and
supervision of financial reporting, and the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control system; and (d) to review the appointment of external
auditors on an annual basis as well as to ensure independence of the
continuing auditors.
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In 2016, the Audit Committee held four meetings. The attendance
record of each member of the Audit Committee is set out below:

AEER R,

Attendance
HER
Ms. Pang Yuk Fong (Chairman) 4/4
CEFLET(£E)
Mr. Luo Wei Kun 4/4
BEBERE
Mr. Wang Zhi He 4/4
FzMEsE

At the meetings, the Audit Committee has carefully reviewed the
Company’s quarterly, half-yearly and annual results and its system of
internal control and has made suggestions to improve them. The
Audit Committee also carried out and discharged its other duties set
out in Code. In the course of doing so, the Audit Committee has met
the company’s management several times during year 2016. Each
member of the Audit Committee has unrestricted access to the
Group’s external auditors and the management.

During the financial year 2016, the Audit Committee has held four
meetings. The Group’s results for the year 2015 have been reviewed
and commented by the Audit Committee members, and performed
the major works as below:

1. reviewed the annual financial results and report for the year
ended 31 December 2015, interim financial results and report
for the six months ended 30 June 2016 and quarterly financial
results and reports for each of the three months ended
31 March 2016 and 30 September 2016;

2. reviewed the internal audit department’s report regarding the
reviewing and procedures of the internal control and risk
management of the Company; and

3. provided opinions to the Board in respect of the terms of
appointment of external auditors.
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BRI,

The Group’s result for the year ended 31 December 2016 have been
reviewed and commented by the audit committee members, which
was of the opinion that the preparation of such results complied with
the applicable accounting standards and requirements as well as the
GEM Listing Rules and that adequate disclosures have been made.

Procedures for directing Shareholders’ enquiries to
the Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns to
the Board in writing through mails whose contact details are as
follows:

Room 19, 13/F, Tower A,
New Mandarin Plaza,

14 Science Museum Road,
Tsim Sha Tsui East, Kowloon
Hong Kong

Tel No.: 2366 1613

Fax No.: 2366 1665

Procedures for putting forward proposals at general
meetings by Shareholders

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles of Association, The Board may
whenever it thinks fit call extraordinary general meetings. Any one or
more members holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all
times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
Secretary of the Company, to require an extraordinary general
meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within
two (2) months after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-
one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene
such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in
the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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Pursuant to Article 88 of the Articles of Association, no person other
than a Director retiring at the meeting shall, unless recommended by
the Directors for election, be eligible for election as a Director at any
general meeting unless a notice signed by a member (other than the
person to be proposed) duly qualified to attend and vote at the
meeting for which such notice is given of his intention to propose
such person for election and also a notice signed by the person to be
proposed of his willingness to be elected shall have been lodged at
the head office or at the registration office provided that the minimum
length of the period, during which such notice(s) are given, shall be at
least seven (7) days and that the period for lodgment of such notice(s)
shall commence no earlier than the day after the dispatch of the
notice of the general meeting appointed for such election and end no
later than seven (7) days prior to the date of such general meeting.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial reporting

The Directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation of the
annual accounts which give a true and fair view of the Group’s state
of affairs of the results and cash flow for the year. In preparing the
accounts for the year ended 31 December 2016, the Directors have:

° adopted suitable accounting policies and applied them
consistently; and

° made judgements and estimates that are prudent and
reasonable; and ensured the accounts are prepared on a going
concern basis.

The Company recognises that high quality corporate reporting is
important in reinforcing the trust relationship between the Company
and the its stakeholders and aims at presenting a balanced, clear and
comprehensible assessment of the Company’s performance, position
and prospects in all corporate communications.
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BRI,

Internal Control

The Board, through the Audit Committee, has reviewed the
effectiveness of the Company’s system of internal control over
financial, operational and compliance issues for the year 2016. The
Audit Committee concluded that, in general, the Group has set up a
sound control environment and installed necessary control
mechanisms to monitor and correct non-compliance. The Board,
through the review of the Audit Committee, is satisfied that the Group
in 2016, fully complied with the code provisions on internal controls
as set forth in the Code. The Audit Committee also concluded that
the Group has employed sufficient staff for the propose of
accounting, financial and internal control.

External Auditors

The Group’s external auditors are HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng
Limited. The Audit Committee is mandated to ensure continuing
auditors’ objectivity and safeguard independence of the auditors, and
it has:

° determined the framework for the type and authorisation of
non-audit services for which the external auditors may provide.
In general, the engagement of the external auditors to perform
non-audit services is prohibited except for tax related services;
and

° agreed with the Board on the policy relating to the hiring of
employees or former employees of the external auditors and
monitored the applications of such policy.

During 2016, the remuneration payable to the Company’s external

auditors for audit and non-audit services were approximately
RMB1,716,000 and RMB189,000 respectively.
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The accounts for the year ended 31 December 2016 were audited by
HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited whose term of office will expire
upon the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company. The
Audit Committee has recommended to the Board that HLB Hodgson
Impey Cheng Limited be re-appointed as the auditors of the
Company at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.

The Group has not employed any staff who was formerly involved in
the Group’s statutory audit.

Corporate Communication

The Group recognises the importance of shareholder feedback and
the need for ongoing communication with its stakeholders, including
the general public, investors, and the institutional and individual
shareholders. The Company published annual, interim and quarterly
reports which contained detailed information about the Group.
Inquiries by shareholders are directed and dealt with by senior
management of the Group.

Company secretary

Mr. Lui Chi Keung has been appointed as the company secretary
since September 2007. For the details, please refer to page 40 to this
report.

The company secretary has complied with Rule 5.15 of the GEM
Listing Rules in relation to the professional training requirements.

INVESTORS RELATIONSHIP

The Company has established a range of communication channels
between itself and its Shareholders, investors and other stakeholders.
These include the annual general meeting, the annual, interim and
quarterly reports, notices, announcements and circulars and the
Company’s website at http://www.capitalfp.com.hk/eng/index.
jsp?co=8270.

During the year ended 31 December 2016, there had been no
significant change in the Company’s constitutional documents.
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DIRECTORS
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng, aged 53, has been appointed as chairman
of the Board, an executive Director and the compliance officer of the
Company since May 2006. From 9 January 2004 to 26 May 2006,
Mr. Wang was an executive director of Tianjin Jinran Public Utilities
Company Limited (“Tianjin Jinran”) (formerly known as Tianjin Tianlian
Public Utilities Company Limited), a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 01265, former stock
code: 08290), and was responsible for its business strategies. He
graduated from the University of Tianjin with a bachelor degree in
engineering in 1984. Mr. Wang is also a director of Tianjin Leason
Investment Group Company Limited (KEMEERIEEEBEGRE A A).
Mr. Wang is a substantial shareholder of the company which holds
394,239,983 Shares in person or through controlled corporation,
representing approximately 29.88% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of this report. In addition, as at the date of
this report, Mr. Wang is interested as a grantee of options to
subscribe for 324,750 shares under the share option scheme
adopted by the Company on 18 May 2011 and as a holder of
convertible bonds convertible to 94,142,021 conversion shares.

Mr. Fu Shou Gang, aged 50, has years of experiences in the natural
gas sector. Prior to joining the Group, he worked in Tianjin Jinran,
where was pointed as an executive Director. Mr. Fu is interested as a
grantee of options to subscribe for 324,750 shares under the share
options scheme adopted by the Company on 18 May 2011.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Luo Wei Kun, aged 78, has been an independent non-executive
director of the Company since August 2006. He graduated from the
Tsinghua University with a bachelor’s degree in civil engineering in
1964 and started postgraduate studies in the same year. He was
awarded a postgraduate diploma in civil engineering in 1967. He
acted as a technician in Wuhan Branch of the Chinese Medicine
Industrial Limited during 1968 to 1969 and as a technician, deputy
section chief, section chief, engineer and vice chief engineer in the
State Ministry of Medicine — Hubei Medical Manufactory Branch
during 1969 to 1985. He then worked as a senior engineer, section
chief and assistant factory manager in Tianjin Second Coal Gas
Factory during 1986 to 1992. From 1992 to 2000, he acted as a vice
chief engineer in Tianjin Utility Department and at the same time,
worked as a chief engineer in Tianjin City Gas Administrative Office.
After his retirement in March 2000, Mr. Luo acted as a consultant of
Tianjin City Gas Administrative Office and Tianjin City Gas Planning
Office. Currently, he is an independent non-executive director of
Tianjin Jinran.

Ms. Pang Yuk Fong, Yvonne, aged 50, is an experienced practising
certified public accountant in Hong Kong with over 25 years of
professional experience in accounting and auditing. Ms. Pang is a
fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants,
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the Hong
Kong Institute of Company Secretaries and the Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and Administrators and an associate of the Institute of
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. Ms. Pang holds a
Master of Professional Accounting Degree from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University.
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Ms. Pang’s professional career started in Deloitte (one of the Big-4
International Accountancy Firms) and subsequently held the
accounting positions in the listed companies in Hong Kong. Ms. Pang
has been running her own practice of Certified Public Accountant
(practicing) in Hong Kong since 1990’s and has currently been the
Managing Director of Focus Asia CPA Limited. She has also been the
Managing Director of Focus Secretarial Services Limited which is
engaged in providing multilateral company secretarial services and
the Managing Director of Focus Asia Market Consultants Limited and
Focus Corporate Consultancy Limited which are engaged in providing
business advisory services to her clients in various aspects.

Ms. Pang has been appointed as an independent non-executive
Director since 2006.

Mr. Wang Zhi He, aged 69, has been an independent non-executive
director of the Company since August 2006. Mr. Wang is a senior
accountant. Mr. Wang graduated from Anhui University of Finance
and Economics in February 1972, and was assigned to finance
department of Anhui Huaibei Mining Bureau and worked as a
commissioner, deputy section chief, section chief, deputy director
and director. Mr. Wang was transferred to the Ministry of Coal
Industry in May 1995, and worked as a director of Asset Capital
Management Division and State-owned Assets Management
department. In October 1997, Mr. Wang was re-designated as a
chief accountant of China Coal Construction Group Corporation, and
worked as a deputy general manager and chief accountant in May
1999. Mr. Wang was transferred to Zhonglian Gas Company Limited
and worked as a chief accountant in March 2004. Mr. Wang has
years of relevant experience.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Lui Chi Keung, aged 59, has been appointed as the company
secretary and authorised representative of the Company since
September 2007. Mr. Lui presently is appointed as the Company’s
secretary and authorised representative. Mr. Lui is a fellow member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He is also
a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants. Mr. Lui has over 30 years of experience in auditing,
accounting, financial and business management.
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The Directors present their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2016.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 20 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2016 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on page 61 to 62.

The state of affairs of the Group and the Company as at
31 December 2016 are set out in the consolidated and company
statements of financial position on pages 63 to 64 and note 40
respectively. The cash flows of the Group are set out in the
consolidated statement of cash flows on pages 67 to 68.

The Directors of the Company do not recommend the payment of a
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2016.

SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during the
year are set out in note 31(a) to the consolidated financial statements.

Movements in the reserves of the Group during the year is set out in
page 66 to the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group are set out in note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

In accordance with the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and the
Company’s articles of association, the Company’s reserves available
for distribution to its shareholders comprise share premium,
contributed surplus and accumulated losses which in aggregate
amounted to approximately RMB345,996,000 as at 31 December
2016 (2015: RMB478,004,000). The distributable reserves are
available for distribution provided that immediately following the date
on which the dividend is proposed, the Company will be able to pay
off its debt as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year ended 31 December
2016 were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng (Chairman)
Mr. Fu Shou Gang

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Luo Wei Kun
Ms. Pang Yuk Fong
Mr. Wang Zhi He

In accordance with article 87 of the Company’s articles of
association, Mr. Luo Wei Kun, Ms. Pang Yuk Fong and Mr. Wang Zhi
He retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

The term of office for each of independent non-executive Directors is
the period up to his retirement by rotation and re-election at annual
general meeting of the Company in accordance with the provisions of
the articles of association of the Company.
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Biographical information of the Directors is set out on page 38 to
page 40 of this report.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and the Company
considers the independent non-executive Directors have remained
independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors has a service contract with the Company or
any of its subsidiaries which is not terminable by the Group within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ AND KEY MANAGEMENT'S
REMUNERATION

Details of Directors’ and key management’s remuneration for the year
are set out in notes 9 and 10 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The Directors’ remuneration are subject to shareholders’ approval at
general meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the Board
with reference to Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance
and the results of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No other contract of significance in relation to the Group’s business
subsisted at the year-end or any time during the year to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a
Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly.
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COMPETING INTERESTS

None of the Directors or the management shareholders of the
Company or any of their respective associates (as defined in the GEM
Listing Rules) had an interest in a business which causes or may
cause any significant competition with the business of the Group.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on Information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s
total issued share capital was held by the public as at the date of this
report.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS OR SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2016, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFQ”)) as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under section 352 of the SFO or
as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the required standard of dealings by directors of listed
issuers as referred to in Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules were as
follows:
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Long positions in shares, underlying shares and REXTRG - HEARGORES 2
debentures of the Company y-)

Number of
shares/

Nature of underlying Approximate %

Name Capacity interest shares of shareholdings
B 13, 1E 63 BREY

A g7 EEME ROEE Bk

Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng Interest of controlled Corporate interest 18,118,500 1.38%
FRBEE corporation NGIE: £ (Note 1)
R EE RS (M3E 1)

Beneficial owner Personal 470,588,254 35.66%
EnEBA 1A (Note 2)
(B &E 2)

Mr. Fu Shou Gang Beneficial owner Personal 324,750 0.02%
&M 5t 4 EmEAA A (Note 3)
(Bf3E 3)

Notes:

1.

Such shares are owned by Jumbo Lane Investments Limited.

Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng owns 100% interest in the issued share capital
of Jumbo Lane Investments Limited and he is taken to be interested in
the shares owned by Jumbo Lane Investments Limited pursuant to
Part XV of the SFO (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

Out of the 470,588,254 long positions, Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng is
interested as (i) a grantee of options to subscribe for 324,750 shares
under the new share option scheme adopted by the Company on
18 May 2011; (i) a beneficial owner of 376,121,483 issued shares of
the Company; and (iii) a holder of convertible bonds convertible to
94,142,021 conversion shares.

Mr. Fu Shou Gang is interested as a grantee of options to subscribe for
324,750 shares under the new share option scheme adopted by the
Company on 18 May 2011.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2016, none of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company had any other interests
or short positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures of
the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required, pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
therein, or which were otherwise required, pursuant to the required
standard of dealings by directors of listed issuers as referred to in
Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange. The Group had not issued any debentures
during the Year.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND
PERSONS WITH DISCLOSEABLE INTEREST
AND SHORT POSITION IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES UNDER THE SFO

As at 31 December 2016, the following persons (other than the
Directors or chief executive of the Company as disclosed above) had
an interest or short positions in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under section 336 of the SFO:

Long positions in shares of the Company
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Percentage of

Name Number of shares Nature of Interest shareholding
HE K& EE EEE ERESL
Ms. Zhao Xin (Note) 488,706,754 Interest of spouse 37.04%
e+ () Bz

Note: MisE -

Ms. Zhao Xin (the spouse of Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng) is deemed to be
interested in her spouse’s interest in the Company pursuant to the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2016, no other person (other
than the Directors or chief executive of the Company) had an interest or short
positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under to section 336 of the
SFO.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Apart from as disclosed under the heading “Directors’ and Chief
Executive’s Interests or Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares
and Debentures” above and in the section “Share Option Scheme”
below, at no time during the Year were rights to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company
granted to any Director or their respective spouse or minor children
or chief executive or were any such rights exercised by them; or was
the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to
enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any other body
corporate.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed on 18 May 2011, the
Company’s share option scheme adopted on 28 July 2003 (the “Old
Share Option Scheme”) was terminated and a new share option
scheme (the “New Share Option Scheme”) was adopted which will
remain in force for a period of 10 years from adoption of the New
Share Option Scheme and will expire on 17 May 2021. On 30 May
2011, the Board approved to grant options in respect of 258,300,000
ordinary shares to the Company’s Directors, employees and
consultants under the New Share Option Scheme.

There were no share options that had been granted remained
outstanding under the Old Share Option Scheme prior to its
termination.

For details of the New Share Option Scheme, please refer to the
circular of the Company dated 20 April 2011.
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Information in relation to share options disclosed in accordance with

BRIz AR £ R B AT IR BB A A

the GEM Listing Rules was as follows: BEianT
Exercise
price of
Cancelled/ per share Adjusted
Name and Asat Granted  Exercised lapsed As at Date of Exercise asat the date exercise price
category of 1January  duringthe  duringthe  duringthe 31 December grant of periodof  ofgrantof  pershare
participants 2016 year year year 2016 share options share options share options option
i £ RERE SHBRE
ZE-RE En R BRE/ R-E-AE BRE EhE RLEHz 2882
SRENERER -B-H ERH B X% t=B=t-B  BHAH 8 SRORE TeE
Executive Directors
HTEE
Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng 324,750 - - - 324,750 3062011 30/5/2011- 049 381
IRBEE 29/5/2021
Mr. Fu Shou Gang 324,750 - - - 324750 302011 30/6/2011- 0495 3.81
DEL b 29/5/2021
649,500 - - - 649,500
Employees 5,486,976 - - - 5486976 30/6/2011  30/6/2011- 0495 381
& 29/5/2021
Consultants 25,982,598 - - - 25982598 30552011 30/5/2011- 049 381
B 29/5/2021
32,119,074 - - - 32,119,074
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()  The terms and conditions of the grants that existed during the review ()  REIREHARTE 2 =P ER RIEHEDT -
period are as follows:

Number of Contractual
options Vesting conditions life of options
BRESE  SHEAHNG BRESNTFH
Options granted:
B B AR
30 May 2011 215,220,000 Vest immediately 10 years
—E——FHHA=+H B 57 88 10 F
30 May 2011 43,080,000 Half on each of the first 10 years

and second anniversaries
of grant date

—E——fFAhA="1H REBHZEEAR 10
E_FBEFERTR—F

(i) The number and weighted average exercise prices of options are as (i) FBREZHBTRINEFHTEELDT -

follows:
Weighted average Number of
exercise price options
InEFITEE BREZA
HK$
BT
Outstanding as at 1 January 2016 RZE—R"F—A—BRIE 3.81 32,119,074
Granted during the year FREEH = =
Outstanding as at RZE-—RE+_A=+—H 3.81 32,119,074
31 December 2016 RITEE
Exercisable as at RZE—RE+=ZA=+—H 3.81 32,119,074
31 December 2016 AT
The options outstanding as at 31 December 2016 had an exercise R-BE—RNE+-_A=+—HzZFTEHE
price of HK$3.81 and a weighted average remaining contractual life of PRiE 7 1T EA381E T IMEFEHELY
4.4 years. ISR H) B4 45F o
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The subscription price per share under the New Share Option Scheme
is solely determined by the Board, and shall be at least the higher of : (i)
the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotation sheet on the date of offer to grant option, which must be a
business day; (i) the average of the closing prices of the shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the 5
business days immediately preceding the date of offer to grant option;
and (i) the nominal value of a share on the date of offer to grant option,
provided that in the event of fractional prices, the subscription price per
share shall be rounded upwards to the nearest whole cent.
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MAJOR TRANSACTIONS AND EVENTS

Open offer, proposed change in board lot size and
connected transaction: set-off of the convertible
bonds

On 7 January 2016, the Company proposes to raise approximately
not less than HK$119.41 million and not more than HK$122.74
million (before expenses and after taking into account of the Set-off
Arrangement), by way of Open Offer of not less than 3,958,453,602
Offer Shares and not more than 4,053,836,574 Offer Shares at the
Subscription Price of HK$0.035 per Offer Share on the basis of three
(8) Offer Shares for every one (1) existing Share held on the Record
Date and payable in full on application.

The Board also proposes that the board lot for trading on the Stock
Exchange would be changed from 10,000 Shares to 40,000 Shares
with effect from 9:00 a.m. on Thursday, 28 January 2016.

As at 7 January 2016, Mr. Wang is the holder of the Convertible
Bonds. Pursuant to the Wang’s Undertaking, Mr. Wang and the
Company have agreed that the Subscription Price required to be paid
by Mr. Wang for his subscription in respect of the 1,182,719,949
Offer Shares under the Mr. Wang’s Undertaking would be settled by
way of: (i) HK$19.14 million by the Set-off Arrangement against the
Convertible Bonds; and (i) the remaining balance of approximately
HK$22.26 million in cash.

Pursuant to Rule 10.39 of the GEM Listing Rules, any controlling
Shareholders and their associates or, where there are no controlling
Shareholders, the Directors (excluding the independent non-executive
Directors), the chief executive of the Company and their respective
associates will abstain from voting in favour of the resolutions relating
to the Open Offer. As there are no controlling Shareholders, only the
Directors (excluding the independent non-executive Directors), the
chief executive of the Company and their respective associates will
be required to abstain from voting in favour of the resolutions relating
to the Open Offer at the Special General Meeting (“SGM”).
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As at 7 January 2016, Mr. Wang, the Chairman and an executive
Director, together with his associates are holding an aggregate of
394,239,983 Shares, representing approximately 29.88% of the
issued share capital of the Company. Save as disclosed above, no
other Directors (excluding the independent non-executive Directors),
the chief executive of the Company and their associates hold any
Shares as at 7 January 2016. Accordingly, Mr. Wang is a connected
person of the Company. The Set-off Arrangement as contemplated
under the Underwriting Agreement therefore constitutes connected
transaction on the part of the Company under Chapter 20 of the
GEM Listing Rules. The Set-off Arrangement would be subject to the
reporting and announcement requirements and the approval of the
Independent Shareholders at the SGM under the GEM Listing Rules.

As Mr. Wang is deemed to have a material interest in the Set-off
Arrangement, Mr. Wang and his associates shall abstain from voting
at the SGM on the resolutions in relation to the Set-off Arrangement.

Proposed share consolidation, change in board lot
size, revised expected timetable of the open offer
and entering into the supplemental underwriting
agreement

On 15 March 2016, the Board proposes to implement the Share
Consolidation on the basis that every ten (10) Shares of HK$0.01
each in the issued and unissued share capital of the Company be
consolidated into one (1) New Share of HK$0.10 each in the issued
and unissued share capital of the Company.

As at 15 March 2016, there are 1,319,484,534 Shares of HK$0.01
each in issue and fully paid or credited as fully paid. Assuming no
Shares will be issued or repurchased from 15 March 2016 up to the
date of the SGM, there will be approximately 131,948,453 New
Shares of HK$0.10 each in issue and fully paid or credited as fully
paid following the Share Consolidation becoming effective.
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The Share Consolidation was conditional upon, among other things,
the approval of Shareholders at the SGM. To the best of the
Directors’ knowledge, information and belief having made all
reasonable enquiries, no Shareholder were required to abstain from
voting in approving the Share Consolidation at the SGM.

As at 15 March 20186, the Shares are currently trade in board lot size
of 40,000 Shares. The Board also proposed that, upon the Share
Consolidation becoming effective, the board lot size of the New
Shares for trading on the Stock Exchange will be changed to 8,000
New Shares.

Based on the closing price of HK$0.07 per Share (equivalent to
HK$0.70 per New Share) as quoted on the Stock Exchange as at the
last trading day immediately before 15 March 2016, the board lot
value is HK$2,800 in the current board lot size of 40,000 Shares, and
HK$5,600 in the proposed new board lot size of 8,000 New Shares.

In light of the revised expected timetable for the Open Offer and the
Share Consolidation, after arm’s length negotiations between the
Company and the Underwriter, the Company and the Underwriter
have on 15 March 2016 (after trading hours) entered into the
Supplemental Underwriting Agreement to reflect the change in the
revised expected timetable for the Open Offer and to take into
consideration of the Share Consolidation. The proposed Share
Consolidation, Open Offer and connected transaction: set-off of the
convertible bonds were not approved by the Shareholders or
Independent Shareholder by way of ordinary resolution at the SGM of
the Company held on 18 April 2016.

For details of proposed Share Consolidation, change in board lot
size, revised expected timetable of the Open Offer and entering into
the Supplemental Underwriting Agreement and results of the SGM,
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 15 March
2016, 22 March 2016, 24 March 2016 and 18 April 2016, and the
circular of the Company dated 29 March 2016.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year under review, the top five customers of the Group
together accounted for approximately 49.55% of the Group’s total
sales for the year while the single largest customers accounted for
approximately 14.18% of the Group’s total sales during the year.

The top five suppliers of the Group for the year under review together
accounted for approximately 93.45% of the Group’s total purchases
for the year and the single largest supplier accounted for
approximately 43.49% of the Group’s total purchases.

None of the Directors, their respective associates or any shareholders
of the Company who owns more than 5% of the issued share capital
of the Company has any interests in the Group’s five largest
customers and suppliers above mentioned.

AMOUNT OF CAPITALISED INTEREST

Save as disclosed in this report, no interest has been capitalised by
the Group during the year.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

Particular of the retirement benefits schemes of the Group are set out
in note 33 to the consolidated financial statements.

CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES, WARRANTS OR
SIMILAR RIGHTS

As at the date of this report, the Company had outstanding options
to subscribe for 32,119,074 shares under the share option scheme
adopted on 18 May 2011 and outstanding convertible bonds
convertible to 94,142,021 conversion shares.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the bye-laws of the
Company or the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company
to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2016, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the listed
securities of the Company nor any of its subsidiaries.

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
AND CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Company are set out in
note 39 to the consolidated financial statements.

During the year ended 31 December 2016, Shanxi Qinshui Prefecture
Chengrong Investment Limited (“Chengrong Investment”) has
provided financing to the Group in the sum of RMB29,000,000. As
Chengrong Investment owns 17% equity interest in Shanxi Wanzhi
Logistics Limited (a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company),
Chengrong Investment is a connected person of the Company under
the GEM Listing Rules. As the financing is financial assistance
provided by a connected person for the benefit of the Group on
normal commercial terms (or better to the Company) where no
security over the assets of the Group is granted in respect of the
financial assistance, the transaction are exempt from the reporting,
announcement and independent shareholders’ approval under Rule
20.65 of the GEM Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 December 2016, Yangcheng Yangtai
Group Industrial Company Limited (“Yangcheng Yangtai”) has
provided financing to the Group in the sum of RMB11,080,000. As
Yangcheng Yangtai owns 20% equity interest in Huiyang New
Energy, (a non- wholly owned subsidiary of the Company),
Yangcheng Yangtai is a connected person of the Company under the
GEM Listing Rules. As the financing is financial assistance provided
by a connected person for the benefit of the Group on normal
commercial terms (or better to the Company) where no security over
the assets of the Group is granted in respect of the financial
assistance, the transaction are exempt from the reporting,
announcement and independent shareholders’ approval under Rule
20.65 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in
accordance with Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules. Save as
disclosed above, The Directors consider that those material related
party transactions disclosed in note 39 to the consolidated financial
statements did not fall under the definition of “connected
transactions” or “continuing connected transactions” in accordance
with the GEM Listing Rules during the year under review.

COMPETING INTERESTS

None of the Directors or the management shareholders of the
Company or any of their respective associates (as defined in the GEM
Listing Rules) had an interest in a business which causes or may
cause any significant competition with the business as of the Group.

AUDITORS

The accounts for the year ended 31 December 2016 was audited by
HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited whose term of office will expire
upon the annual general meeting. A resolution for the reappointment
of HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited as the auditors of the
Company for the subsequent year is to be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

By order of the Board

Wang Zhong Sheng
Chairman

27 March 2017
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

Bl B &3t ¥ 3% 5 A A 4
Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited

HL

To the shareholders of China CBM Group Company Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda with
limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements of
China CBM Group Company Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages
61 to 190, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2016, and the consolidated statement of
profit or loss, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
a summary of significant accounting policies.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group. Because of the significance of the matters
described in the Basis for disclaimer of opinion section of our report,
we have not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
to provide a basis for an audit opinion on these consolidated financial
statements. In all other respects, in our opinion the consolidated
financial statements have been properly prepared in compliance with
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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Basis for disclaimer of opinion

1.

58

Going concern

The Group incurred a gross loss of approximately
RMB11,688,000 and a net loss of approximately
RMB102,384,000 during the year ended 31 December 2016.
In addition, the Group had net current liabilities of
approximately RMB326,175,000 and significant capital and
other commitments as at 31 December 2016. The validity of
the going concern assumption on which the consolidated
financial statements are prepared is dependent on the
uncertain favourable outcomes of the steps being taken by the
directors of the Company as described in note 2(b) to the
consolidated financial statements. These conditions indicate
the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast significant
doubt about the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
and therefore the Group may be unable to realise its assets
and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the assumption that the Group will continue as a going
concern and therefore do not include any adjustments relating
to the realisation and classification of non-current assets that
may be necessary if the Group is unable to continue as a
going concern. Should the going concern assumption be
inappropriate, adjustments may have to be made to reflect the
situation that assets may need to be realised at other than the
amounts at which they are currently recorded in the
consolidated statement of financial position. In addition, the
Group may have to provide for further liabilities that might
arise, and to reclassify non-current assets as current assets.

In the absence of sufficient reliable documentary evidence, we
were unable to ascertain whether the assumptions made by
the directors of the Company in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis
were fair and reasonable. Accordingly, we were unable to
satisfy ourselves that the use of the going concern assumption
was appropriate. There were no other satisfactory audit
procedures that we could adopt to satisfy ourselves as to the
appropriateness of the use of the going concern assumption,
which might have a consequential significant effect on the
Group’s net assets as at 31 December 2016 and the Group’s
loss for the year then ended, and the related disclosures in
these consolidated financial statements.

CHINA CBM GROUP COMPANY LIMITED Annual Report 2016

EERTERER

o 43 477 A
f?ﬂﬁtﬁ /lﬁ'_fggé

REE-_ZT—X~"F+=-_A=+—H
tFEE BESEEELEEBEHOARE
11,688,000t X FEBEEH AR
102,384,0007T ° L AN - A ZF — <
F+-A=+—H BEEEEEFR
FE B ARK326,1750005T © B
EEREAREMALE - FREE
PHBERAMKBFELEBRRZE
Rtk - BURRER A B 75 3R R MY 522(0)
Frit ERREFERNZ BT
BEEBMER ZERNBERTE
ERTHEE HAESEEEF
BreEzeehiBERER UK
EEBETERNEELIEHTEEBRA
BHEREEERENEARE -

REMBHRRIBR EEEH AR
BREEFBELKEMEE  WE
SRAEMER ERERENAFEL
LEBEBQLENGKRMET  NAE
BAEDBIRBDEEZAE - M
BREBRBTIEES  BINEAEH
HENRBREEAEFTFERKRER
R AR B MR R BT Re 8- A S 2
SREBHENBEN - I EEERE
RUREE 2 EMABERE  LH
FRBDEEEFOBRRARDEE -

RRZEBAXHEBREZBRAT &
EBEHTE ERAEFTNREER
EERERUGAVBRRE(FELZ
BREEEBAFARE -HIt  &F
RAECEHRAFBECLERRNVBE
E-BMEBEEMESARAZSAR
MEZRFASESERNFEARA
FERKEEEZEEE AR
¥ EEER T - RF+_-H
=tT-BRZEEREN EXEEE
ZAEFEZBERAMREESRS
MBREAAZABAREFTRELS

2/ 48
N2



INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

2. Impairment of property, plant and equipment
and prepaid land lease payments

As at 31 December 2016, the carrying amounts of the Group’s
property, plant and equipment and prepaid land lease
payments amounted to approximately RMB728,717,000 and
RMB35,937,000 respectively. The fact that the Group incurred
a gross loss and a net loss for the year ended 31 December
2016, constitutes an indicator of impairment, triggering an
impairment test. Based on the directors’ determination of the
related cash-generating units’ recoverable amounts based on
value in use calculations, no impairment losses were
recognised for the year ended 31 December 2016. Because
of the interacting uncertainties described in the paragraphs
above, we were unable to satisfy ourselves as to the
appropriateness of the assumptions made by the directors of
the Company in the preparation of their value in use
calculations and accordingly, we were unable to assess
whether the recoverable amounts of these assets exceeded
their carrying amounts as at 31 December 2016, and whether
any impairment losses should be recognised in accordance
with Hong Kong Accounting Standard 36 “Impairment of
Assets”. Any adjustments found to be necessary would affect
the Group’s net assets as at 31 December 2016 and the
Group’s loss for the year then ended, and the related
disclosures in these consolidated financial statements.”

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
8 A% i 4

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAS”) issued by the HKICPA and to issue an auditors’
report. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report. However,
because of the matters described in the Basis for disclaimer of
opinion section of our report, we were not able to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on
these consolidated financial statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditors’ report is Mr. Jonathan T. S. Lai.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Jonathan T.S. Lai
Practising Certificate Number: P0O4165
Hong Kong, 27 March 2017
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
A AR AR

For the year ended 37 December 2076 &2 —E— NFE+—H=+—HILF/ZF

[ 2016 | 2015
—E-REF —ET-hHF
Notes RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
Bt T AR®T R ARETT
Revenue g 5 218,879 329,120
Cost of sales SHE R AR (230,567) (311,581)
Gross (loss)/profit (E8), EX (11,688) 17,539
Other income and gains H U A K Mz 6 729 464
Selling and distribution costs SHE ko KA (10,721) (8,008)
Administrative expenses THAX (58,447) (50,625)
Other operating expenses HgEmx (8,255) (4,343)
Finance costs B 5 & A 7(c) (10,925) (14,324)
Impairment loss on goodwill EEREEE 14 - (3,551)
Impairment loss on intangible assets B EEREBEESE 18 - (134,385)
Impairment loss on property, plant and ~ #73 - #23 M R &
equipment BEEE - (92,086)
Loss before taxation BRE AT E 1R 7 (99,307) (289,317)
Income tax (expense)/credit s (AX), &k 8(a) (3,077) 34,291
Loss for the year REEEE (102,384) (255,026)
Attributable to: T 5| pEqh :
Equity shareholders of the Company RAERERSIRER (101,002) (235,943)
Non-controlling interests FE1E IR HE 2 (1,382) (19,083)
(102,384) (255,026)
RMB RMB
AR AR
Loss per share BERERE 12
— Basic and diluted - ERREE (7.65) cents? | (20.49) cents?

F61H F190B 2 Wt 4Bk Ik 4R34 B 75
wEREPIG o

The notes on pages 61 to 190 form part of these consolidated
financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Aok o T 2 B Ui 2 i 4 %

For the year ended 37 December 2076 &%= — F—

AEF A —AILEE

2016 2015
—E-REF —ET-hHF
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR® T ARETT
Loss for the year KEEER (102,384) (255,026)
Other comprehensive AEEHMEEBA
income for the year
ltem that may be reclassified subsequently EZA[REEFH HIEE
to profit or loss: B&=ErIER
Exchange differences on translation of BREBINEB I B wE
financial statements of foreign ZEHERE
operations 116 1,993
Total comprehensive expense AEEXHBZHAE
for the year (102,268) (253,033)
Total comprehensive expense THEMEEBEREEHE:
attributable to:
Equity shareholders of the Company RAR)ERRE (100,886) (233,950)
Non-controlling interests FEFE AR M 2 (1,382) (19,083)
(102,268) (253,033)

The notes on pages 61 to 190 form part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
B MR VLR

At 37 December 2076 W —F— NF+—=-H=41—H

[ 2016 | 2015
—E-REF —ET-hHF
Notes RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
B 5 AR% T ARETT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment I - B AR B 16 728,717 800,681
Prepaid land lease payments AN LS 17 35,074 35,937
Deposits and prepayments e MIERFIE 19 26,347 26,530
Deferred tax assets BEETIREE 30 - 58
790,138 863,206
Current assets REBEE
Prepaid land lease payments BN LTHiEe 17 863 863
Financial assets at fair value through BEAFEFABRZ
profit or loss SREE 21 200 200
Inventories FE 22(a) 8,115 8,052
Trade and other receivables FEWBR TR S B b fE M RIE 23 100,285 111,772
Tax recoverable AUk B #5418 2,000 2,000
Cash and cash equivalents ReRkREEFEDY 24 20,534 45,437
131,997 168,324
Current liabilities REEE
Trade and other payables ERERR R EMEMRIE 25 382,927 364,754
Other borrowings Ha g 26 40,080 43,080
Obligations under finance leases &M E A 27 19,933 31,985
Provision ] 29 8,658 6,612
Tax payable FERT IR 6,574 3,462
458,172 449,893
Net current liabilities REBEERE (326,175) (281,569)
Total assets less current liabilities #EEERABESE 463,963 581,637
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

i M B5IR DLk

At 37 December 20716 I’ —FE— NFE+—-H=+—H

[ 2016 | 2015
—E—XRF —E—1EF
Notes RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
B 5 AR%T AR®TF T
Non-current liabilities FREBAE
Obligations under finance leases R E M E A 27 25,626 41,415
Convertible bonds AR ES 28 8,316 6,304
Deferred tax liabilities REFHIBEE 30 11,885 13,514
45,827 61,233
Net assets EEFRE 418,136 520,404
Capital and reserves EXRf#E
Share capital f& s 31(a) 10,910 10,910
Reserves i 421,337 522,223
Equity attributable to equity RN EIER IR R EG
shareholders of the Company
432,247 533,133
Non-controlling interests FEIE R R = (14,111) (12,729)
Total equity iR 418,136 520,404

.

»,

BEEgN_T—tF=A-+THHAYER

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 27

March 2017. BT -
Wang Zhong Sheng Fu Shou Gang
TEB =
Director Director
EE EF

FO1H E1908 2 M sE M Ak bt F 4R & B 5
WREP LD -

The notes on pages 61 to 190 form part of these consolidated
financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
Ao 1 Mt 52 W) ¢

For the year ended 37 December 2076 B2 —FE—NFE+—-H=+—HIFFEF

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

ADARERRER
Share Share General Translation Contributed ~ Share option Convertible ~ Accumulated Non-controlling
capital premium reserve reserve surplus reserve  bonds reserve losses Total interests Total equity
k& RiEE -RER BERE R4S BRERE TERRSEE Zithi &3t FEREE fgs

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB 000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR  ARMTn  ARMTR  ARTR ARETR AR%TR ARMTR ARETR AR%Tr ARETR ARETR

Balanceat 1 Janvary 2015 H-F-1%
-A-BE&# 9432 102,851 8218 [7.521) 584,838 30,849 - - 728,722 6,354 735,076

Loss for the year rERER = - = = = = = (235,943) (235,949) (19,083) (265,026)

Othercomprehensie. ~~ AEEEHZERA
income for the year - - - 1,993 - - - - 1,993 - 1993

Total comprehensive TERRERTEE
expense lor e e . . . 1983 B . . 5 33950 (19089 253089

Issue of consideration &K ERT

shares 1478 2281 - - - - - - 29,709 - 29709
Recogniton of equity ATERES

component of ERdh

convertiole bonds - - - - - - 10544 - 10,544 - 10544
Defored taxrclaingto BRI ARESZ

convertible bonds EEHE - = = = = - (189 - (189 - (189
Belance at RE-REFT2R

31 December 2015 T-RER 10910 131,082 8218 (5,528 584,838 30,849 8,652 (235943 533,183 (12729 520404
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 37 December 2076 gt —E— NE+ = H=+—HIFEZF

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

ANARERREL
Share Share General Translation Contributed  Share option Convertible  Accumulated Non-controlling
capital premium reserve reserve surplus reserve  bonds reserve losses Total interests Total equity
k& RHEE -k BERE R4BH  BRERE TEREZGE 2R &t FERER EL i
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTR AEETR ARETT ARBTT ARETR ARETT ARETR ARET R ARETT ARETR ARETT
Balance at 1 January 2016 1 =F—7F
-A-B&k 10910 131,082 8,213 (5,528) 584,838 30,849 8,652 (235,943 533,133 (12,729) 520,404
Loss for the year TEEEE - - - - - - - (101,002) (101,002 (1,382) (102,384)
Othercomprenensie. ~~ REBEH2ERA
income for the year - - - 116 - - - - 116 - 116
Total comprehensive TEERERTEE
expense for the year - - - 116 - - - (101,002) (100,886) (1,382) (102,268)
Balance at RZE-RETZR
31 December 2016 =t-R&k 10910 131,082 8,213 (5412 584,838 30,849 8,652 (336,945) 43241 (14,111) 418,136

The notes on pages 61 to 190 form part of these consolidated

financial statements.

J
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
A Bl R

For the year ended 37 December 2076 B2 —FE—NFE+—-H=+—HIFFEF

[ 2016 | 2015
—EB—XF —E—HhF
Notes RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
Bt T AR®T R ARETT
Operating activities REERK
Loss before taxation B 350 il B 18 (99,307) (289,317)
Adjustments for: BT EIERAE
Depreciation of property, plant and VI - R REBETE
equipment 80,080 74,582
Amortisation of prepaid land lease TET L FH & 85
payments 863 591
Amortisation of intangible assets | A - 7,276
Impairment loss on goodwill R EEE - 3,551
Impairment loss on intangible assets B EEREEIE - 134,385
Impairment loss on property, plant and 7% - # 238 & iR 5 (E
equipment - 92,086
Interest income FLEWA (85) (137)
Net loss on disposal of property, plant ~ H &3 - #22 K& 15
and equipment R EE 228 266
Impairment loss on trade receivables B BR X 2 BB E 1B 5,513 2,391
Finance costs iz E R 10,925 14,324
(1,783) 39,998
Changes in working capital EEESHE
(Increase)/decrease in inventories BFEGgm, me (63) 2,300
Decrease/(increase) in trade and JRE Ui iR 5% Kz L A LSUK
other receivables R A (38 0) 5,974 (201)
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other  JE/~ BE 7 & E b B 5 3%
payables g, CR ) 18,173 (19,913)
Increase in provision for production EEREEEEM
safety 2,046 2,066
Cash generated from operations REEBEXZES 24,347 24,250
PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid BT BECEMSH (1,477) (1,749)
Net cash generated from operating KEXKELE RS FEHE
activities 22,870 22,501
—E—AREFR FEEEBREEARAT 67



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

s Bl ik

For the year ended 37 December 2016 # 2 — &

—AFF= A LR

2016 | 2015
—E-RE —HF
Notes RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
B 5 AR% T AR®ETF T
Cash flows from investing actvities REZFBHELEZBERE
Payment for purchase of property, BEYE BBIRZE
plant and equipment Z A (9,473) (32,018)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEMFE - HR KK
plant and equipment Z FTiSEIE 1,641 20,480
Decrease in deposits and prepayments 5] & K T8 1< I8 R 2 183 3,744
Interest received 2 FI B 85 137
Net cash inflow on acquisition of WEEHT B A A<
subsidiaries REMAFEE - 313
Net cash used in investing activities REFZBHFFA RS EE (7,564) (7,344)
Cash flows from financing activities BEEFHELE2BERE
Proceeds from new bank and other FTIBIRIT REMERZ
borrowings FriS 318 - 10,000
Repayment of bank and other EERTT &Ei\f’&fﬁ EN
borrowings (3,000) (54,420)
Interest paid on bank and other RITREMBRZ
borrowings 258 (3,625) (5,842)
Other borrowing costs paid [REN:S ’r&% AR - (980)
Proceed from sale and lease back HERERBERXS
transaction Z P8 EIE - 98,000
Capital element of finance leases BEMAOZ ,éf RED (28,327) (55,000)
Interest element of finance leases BE M4 2 B2 E D (5,796) (7,425)
Net cash used in financing activities BEEFBA RS FE (40,748) (15,667)
Net decrease in cash and cash ReERBEESEEY
equivalents B FEE (25,442) (510)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 R—BA—HzZzHRER
January REeEEEY 45,437 43,930
Effect of foreign exchange rate EXxgFH e 539 2,017
changes
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 Rt+t=-ZA=+—Hz2
December RERREEEY 24 20,534 45,437

FO1H E1908 Z M sE A Ak itk F4R & B 7%
WREP LD -

The notes on pages 61 to 190 form part of these consolidated
financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Ao A5 W Bl ek

For the year ended 37 December 2076 B2 —F— NF+_-HA=+—HIFZ

GENERAL INFORMATION

China CBM Group Company Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated as an exempted company with limited liability in
the Cayman Islands on 15 July 2002 under the Companies
Laws of the Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda. The
change of domicile of the Company from Cayman Islands to
Bermuda was effective on 23 April 2014.

The shares of the Company are listed on the Growth Enterprise
Market (the “GEM”) of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The addresses of the registered
office and principal place of business of the Company are
disclosed in the “Corporate Information” section in the annual
report.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) are principally engaged in the business of exploitation,
liguefaction production and sale of natural gas in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”).

—REHR

HFREEEREBBERAR (AAF])
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 0 W5 A WY ik

For the year ended 37 December 2076 &2 —F—NF+ - A=+—HIF/E

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

70

(a) Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective term
includes all applicable individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong. These consolidated financial
statements also comply with the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs
that are first effective or available for early adoption for the
current accounting period of the Group. Note 3 provides
information on any changes in accounting policies
resulting from initial application of these developments to
the extent that they are relevant to the Group for the
current and prior accounting periods reflected in these
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ak 05 B Wik

For the year ended 37 December 2076 B2 —F— NF+_-HA=+—HIFZ

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2. FESHBE %)

BANBERENER

(b) Basis of preparation of the consolidated (b)

financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2016 comprise the Company and its
subsidiaries.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements is the historical cost
basis, except those disclosed otherwise in the accounting
policies below.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the
application of policies and reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of
which form the basis of making the judgements about
carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of
HKFRSs that have a significant effect on the consolidated
financial statements and major sources of estimation
uncertainty are discussed in note 4.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 0 W5 A WY ik

For the year ended 37 December 2076 &2 —F—NF+ - A=+—HIF/E

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. TESHBE@®

(Continued)

(b) Basis of preparation of the consolidated (b) FEMBRREMUEE (&)

72

financial statements (Continueqd)

Going concern

The Group incurred a gross loss of approximately
RMB11,688,000 and a net loss of approximately
RMB102,384,000 during the year ended 31 December
2016. In addition, the Group had net current liabilities of
approximately RMB326,175,000 and significant capital
and other commitments as at 31 December 2016. These
conditions indicate the existence of a material uncertainty
that may cast significant doubt about the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern and that the Group may
be unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in
the normal course of business.

Nevertheless, the directors of the Company had adopted
the going concern basis in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements of the Group based on
the following factors:

(1) Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng (“Mr. Wang”), a substantial
shareholder, the chairman and executive director of
the Company, has confirmed to provide continuing
financial support to the Group to enable it to
continue as a going concern and to settle its liabilities
as and when they fall due in the foreseeable future;

(2)  Management is formulating, and will implement, cost
saving measures to improve the Group’s financial
performance and cash flows;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Ao A5 W Bl ek

For the year ended 37 December 2076 B2 —F— NF+_-HA=+—HIFZ

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(b) Basis of preparation of the consolidated
financial statements (Continued)

Going concern (Continued)

©)

Pursuant to the Company’s announcement on 8
March 2017, during the year ended 31 December
2016, the Group conducted an in-depth research
and development and market demonstration on
automotive and household bottled liquefied A-class
air technology. In addition, the Group had conducted
product transfer test for its existing liquefied coalbed
gas equipment. The directors of the Company
consider that the bottled liquefied A-class air
business has a huge development potential and
accordingly, the Group has suspended its
production of liquefied coalbed gas since February
2017 for a comprehensive process adjustment and
certain equipment transformation of liquefied
coalbed gas equipment. The directors of the
Company expected the transformation will be fully
completed and put into production of liquefied
A-class air in June 2017 and will generate operating
cash flows to the Group.

Provided that these measures can successfully improve
the liquidity of the Group, the directors of the Company
are satisfied that the Group will be able to meet its
financial obligations as and when they fall due for the
foreseeable future. According, the consolidated financial
statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 37 December 2076 # 2 — &

—AFF= A LR

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

74

(b) Basis of preparation of the consolidated

(c)

financial statements (Continueqd)

Going concern (Continued)

Should the Group be unable to operate as a going
concern, adjustments would have to be made to write
down the value of assets to their recoverable amounts, to
provide for further liabilities which might arise and to
reclassify non-current assets and liabilities as current
assets and liabilities respectively. The effects of these
adjustments have not been reflected in the consolidated
financial statements.

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights,
to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. When assessing whether the Group has
power, only substantive rights (held by the Group and
other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that
control commences until the date that control ceases.
Intra-group balances, transactions and cash flows and
any unrealised profits arising from intra-group transactions
are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial
statements. Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in the same way as unrealised
gains but only to the extent that there is no evidence of
impairment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ak 05 B Wik

For the year ended 37 December 2016 # 2 —E— NFE1+—-H=+—HIF/ZF

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESTHBER®

(Continued)
(c) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests © MEARKRFERERZ)
(Continued)

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the
Company, and in respect of which the Group has not
agreed any additional terms with the holders of those
interests which would result in the Group as a whole
having a contractual obligation in respect of those
interests that meets the definition of a financial liability. For
each business combination, the Group can elect to
measure any non-controlling interests either at fair value or
at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the
subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position within equity, separately from
equity attributable to the equity shareholders of the
Company. Non-controlling interests in the results of the
Group are presented on the face of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as an
allocation of the total profit or loss and total comprehensive
income for the year between non-controlling interests and
the equity shareholders of the Company. Loans from
holders of non-controlling interests and other contractual
obligations towards these holders are presented as financial
liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position
in accordance with the accounting policies in note 2
depending on the nature of the liability.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions, whereby adjustments are made to the
amounts of controlling and non-controlling interests within
consolidated equity to reflect the change in relative
interests, but no adjustments are made to goodwill and no
gain or loss is recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 37 December 2076 &2 —F—NF+ - A=+—HIF/E

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

76

(c)

(d

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that
subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised
in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is recognised at
fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair value on
initial recognition of a financial asset (see note 2(g)) or,
when appropriate, the cost on initial recognition of an
investment in an associate or joint venture.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
impairment losses (see note 2(j)), unless the investment is
classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal group
that is classified as held for sale).

Business combinations and goodwill

(i) Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using
the acquisition method. The consideration
transferred in a business combination is measured at
fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred
by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the
former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are
generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Ao A5 W Bl ek

For the year ended 37 December 2076 B2 —F— NF+_-HA=+—HIFZ

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d) Business combinations and goodwill
(Continued)

@i

Business combinations (Continued)

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised
at their fair value, except that:

- deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or
liabilities related to employee benefit
arrangements are recognised and measured in
accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes and
HKAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

- liabilities or equity instruments related to
share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree or share-based payment
arrangements of the Group entered into
replace share-based payment arrangements of
the acquiree are measured in accordance with
HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment at the
acquisition date (see the accounting policy
below); and

— assets (or disposal groups) that are classified
as held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5
Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations are measured in
accordance with that standard.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 0 W5 A WY ik

For the year ended 37 December 2076 &2 —F—NF+ - A=+—HIF/E

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

78

(d) Business combinations and goodwill
(Continued)

@i

Business combinations (Continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair
value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest
in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the
acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after
reassessment, the net of the acquisition-date
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair
value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the
acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase
gain.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in
a business combination includes assets or liabilities
resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement, the contingent consideration is
measured at its acquisition-date fair value and
included as part of the consideration transferred in a
business combination. Changes in the fair value of
the contingent consideration that qualify as
measurement period adjustments are adjusted
retrospectively, with the corresponding adjustments
against goodwill. Measurement period adjustments
are adjustments that arise from additional information
obtained during the “measurement period” (which
cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date)
about facts and circumstances that existed at the
acquisition date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ak 05 B Wik

For the year ended 37 December 2076 # 2 —F

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

—NFTZHA=1—HIFFE

2. TESHHE#

) XBKEHEEEE)

(d) Business combinations and goodwill

(Continued)

@i

Business combinations (Continued)

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair
value of the contingent consideration that do not
qualify as measurement period adjustments depends
on how the contingent consideration is classified.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity
is not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates
and its subsequent settlement is accounted for
within equity. Contingent consideration that is
classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured at
subsequent reporting dates in accordance with
HKAS 39, or HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets, as appropriate,
with the corresponding gain or loss being recognised
in profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages,
the Group’s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition
date (i.e. the date when the Group obtains control)
and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in
profit or loss. Amounts arising from interests in the
acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have
previously been recognised in other comprehensive
income are reclassified to profit or loss where such
treatment would be appropriate if that interest were
disposed of.

(i)

EBast(E)
HEXEREAFEZE
BT EENRARL
frfr - BIRRES T RE
/,\%Eﬁ’uiﬁﬁ{ﬁﬁﬂﬂ Zog |
HHRAERZEEB
ﬁ{ﬁﬁéi HEEHTE
EFAE MEAREEE
SHEERPAR - BER
BEXBREBEZHAAERER
REREAHHRREE
S EREIRHEFEE
FHEERIEITIR A - A
BERIAELE (BAEE
AmE) EXsE - HER
BERmPRER -

INREB A GO REERAETT
Q'JT;?HSZE%EIHH(EDK%IE
SEfEzR) 2 A FES
%ﬁa+$$%‘%l5’ﬁﬁl £ 1
BOTRAECHEZE B
MaEE (ma) N8
RN WE B A AiE
EFEMmEEKSTERL
R 2 s E L
Zi%ﬁ EEHHRER

o mfe b SRS B
DRERDSBENEN

VA o

—~EEH PEEEREERRLF 79
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

80

(Continued)

(d) Business combinations and goodwill
(Continued)

(i) Goodwill

If the initial accounting for a business combination is
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in
which the combination occurs, the Group reports
provisional amounts for the items for which the
accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts
are adjusted during the measurement period (see
above), and additional assets or liabilities are
recognised, to reflect new information obtained
about facts and circumstances that existed at the
acquisition date that, if known, would have affected

the amounts recognised at that date.

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is
carried at cost as established at the date of
acquisition of the business (see the accounting
policy above) less accumulated impairment losses, if

any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating
units (or groups of cash-generating units) that is
expected to benefit from the synergies of the

combination.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ak 05 B Wik

For the year ended 37 December 2076 # 2 —F

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d) Business combinations and goodwill
(Continued)

(ii)

Goodwill (Continued)

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently when there is indication that the unit may
be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit is less than its carrying amount,
the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit
and then to the other assets of the unit on a pro-rata
basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in
the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is
recognised directly in profit or loss. An impairment
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in
subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the
attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the profit or loss on disposal.
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For the year ended 37 December 2076 &2 —F—NF+ - A=+—HIF/E

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

82

(e) Other investments in debt and equity

securities

The Group’s policies for investments in debt and equity
securities, other than investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, are as follows:

Investments in debt and equity securities are initially stated
at fair value, which is their transaction price unless it is
determined that the fair value at initial recognition differs
from the transaction price and that fair value is evidenced
by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset
or liability or based on a valuation technique that uses only
data from observable markets. Cost includes attributable
transaction costs, except where indicated otherwise
below. These investments are subsequently accounted for
as follows, depending on their classification.

Investments in securities held for trading are classified as
current assets. Any attributable transaction costs are
recognised in profit or loss as incurred. At the end of each
reporting period the fair value is remeasured, with any
resultant gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.
The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss does not
include any dividends or interest earned on these
investments as these are recognised in accordance with
the policies set out in note 2(s).

Dated debt securities that the Group have the positive
ability and intention to hold to maturity are classified as
held-to-maturity securities. Held-to-maturity securities are
stated at amortised cost less impairment losses (see note

2().
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 37 December 2076 # 2 —F

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(e) Other investments in debt and equity

®

securities (Continued)

Investments in securities which do not fall into any of the
above categories are classified as available-for-sale
securities. At the end of each reporting period the fair
value is remeasured, with any resultant gain or loss being
recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated separately in equity in the fair value reserve.
As an exception to this, investments in equity securities
that do not have a quoted price in an active market for an
identical instrument and whose fair value cannot otherwise
be reliably measured are recognised in the statement of
financial position at cost less impairment losses (see note
2(j). Dividend income from equity securities and interest
income from debt securities calculated using the effective
interest method are recognised in profit or loss in
accordance with the policies set out in note 2(s). Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from changes in the
amortised cost of debt securities are also recognised in
profit or loss.

When the investments are derecognised or impaired (see
note 2()), the cumulative gain or loss recognised in equity
is reclassified to profit or loss. Investments are recognised/
derecognised on the date the Group commits to
purchase/sell the investments or they expire.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on
hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value, having been within three months of maturity at
acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand
and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management are also included as a component of cash
and cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated
statement of cash flows.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

84

(Continued)

(g) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment (other than construction in
progress) are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses (see note 2())).

The cost of self-constructed items of property, plant and
equipment includes the cost of materials, direct labour, the
initial estimate, where relevant, of the costs of dismantling
and removing the items and restoring the site on which
they are located, and an appropriate proportion of
production overheads and borrowing costs (see note 2(u)).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of
an item of property, plant and equipment are determined
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the item and are recognised in
profit or loss on the date of retirement or disposal. Any
related revaluation surplus is transferred from the
revaluation reserve to accumulated losses and is not
reclassified to profit or loss.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment, less their estimated
residual value, if any, using the straight line method over
their estimated useful lives as follows:

Over the shorter of
unexpired term of

— Buildings held for own use

the leases or 20 to

30 years
— Leasehold improvements 2 -5 years
— Pipelines 5 - 20 years
— Plant and machinery 3 - 15 years
— Computer equipment 3 -5 years
— Furniture and equipment 3 - 10 years
— Transportation and motor 4 —10 years

vehicles
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ak 05 B Wik

For the year ended 37 December 2016 # 2 —E— NFE1+—-H=+—HIF/ZF

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESFTBER#E)

(Continued)

(g) Property, plant and equipment (Continued) (@) Y% - WERREBE)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated
on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Both the useful life of an asset
and its residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.

Construction in progress represents property, plant and
equipment under construction and pending installation
and is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses,
if any. Cost includes the costs of construction of the
buildings, the costs of plant and machinery and interest
charges arising from borrowings used to finance these
assets during the period of construction or installation and
testing. No provision for depreciation is made on
construction in progress until such time the relevant
assets are completed and are available for their intended
use. When the assets concerned are brought into use, the
costs are transferred to other property, plant and
equipment and depreciated in accordance with the policy
as stated above.

Expenditure on the construction, installation or completion
of infrastructure facilities such as platforms, pipelines and
the drilling of commercially proven development wells but
do not include geological and geophysical costs which are
expensed directly to profit or loss as they are incurred, is
capitalised as coalbed methane development costs within
construction in progress. Coalbed methane development
costs are stated at cost less any identified impairment
loss. Coalbed methane development costs are classified
to the appropriate category of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for intended use.
Depreciation on these assets, on the same basis as other
property assets, commences when the assets are ready
for their intended use.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 0 W5 A WY ik

For the year ended 37 December 2076 &2 —F—NF+ - A=+—HIF/E

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

86

(g

(h)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Tangible assets acquired for use in well drilling works of
ground drainage activities are classified as property, plant
and equipment.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination and
recognised separately from goodwill are initially recognised
at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded
as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets
acquired in a business combination are reported at cost
less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets
that are acquired separately.

Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are
stated at cost less accumulated amortisation (where the
estimated useful life is finite) and impairment losses (see
note 2(j)).

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives is
charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
assets’ estimated useful lives. Intangible assets with finite
useful lives are amortised from the date they are available
for use over their estimated useful lives.

Both the period and method of amortisation are reviewed
annually.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Ao A5 W Bl ek

For the year ended 37 December 2076 B2 —F— NF+_-HA=+—HIFZ

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(h) Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

)

(Continued)

Intangible assets are not amortised while their useful lives
are assessed to be indefinite. Any conclusion that the
useful life of an intangible asset is indefinite is reviewed
annually to determine whether events and circumstances
continue to support the indefinite useful life assessment
for that asset. If they do not, the change in the useful life
assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for
prospectively from the date of change and in accordance
with the policy for amortisation of intangible assets with
finite lives as set out above.

Leased assets

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series of
transactions, is or contains a lease if the Group determines
that the arrangement conveys a right to use a specific
asset or assets for an agreed period of time in return for a
payment or a series of payments. Such a determination is
made based on an evaluation of the substance of the
arrangement and is regardless of whether the
arrangement takes the legal form of a lease.

(i) Classification of assets leased to the Group
Assets that are held by the Group under leases
which transfer to the Group substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership are classified as being
held under finance leases. Leases which do not
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership to the Group are classified as operating
leases, except that land held for own use under an
operating lease, the fair value of which cannot be
measured separately from the fair value of a building
situated thereon at the inception of the lease, is
accounted for as being held under a finance lease,
unless the building is also clearly held under an
operating lease. For these purposes, the inception of
the lease is the time that the lease was first entered
into by the Group, or taken over from the previous
lessee.

2. FESTHHE#E)

(h)

0]

BREE (BERM) B

i B 72 & EE AT OE A P R IR H
Ao RIT e ElEE - BREEER
BERHERA2ENERETFHE
sl - DEBEERREMFRER
EREBEXREHEEERERY
ERZAE - mEREE Al
BEEHERERAFHEER
BAARZAEEREL SR
B WARIE ESCPratt B RR Al 2
FH B EE ZBHBRAR

HEEE

fieh 75 52 R TE 22 R A 1 T HARR A0
HE-HETEERZREEL
EFRHE - ABRER— R — &
SN MBEBLH (BFE—R
RPE—FERXZ)NERHE
EHE - EEREREBEH LR
B2l (P e R & AEE
HER)EH -

() HERFFEEZEEDHE
WAEBBREEEREE
E-MAFHERIRZ
1B K EB 1 [ B K Bl ¥ 15 88
BEXREE - HYERE
MEHERBEZEE I
EBEBEAEEL R ZBRE
DER KRB HREB EARE
B HERFIEREHE -
A EHERIEE AW
THBRAN  EEEAEHEE
FIRREEAFEEEZE
REEHBEVYHNAFE
BENoHE WIEREMR
EFEFAAR:BBER
HMALERERFFREE
VRN opttmE - HE
MABKEEEAEEY
IRETM A E R - 58 A&
MABEWCREYE o

—B-XEEH PEREREESRAT 87



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 0 W5 A WY ik

For the year ended 37 December 2076 &2 —F—NF+ - A=+—HIF/E

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

88

M

Lease assets (Continued)

(ii)

Assets acquired under finance leases

Where the Group acquires the use of assets under
finance leases, the amounts representing the fair
value of the leased asset, or, if lower, the present
value of the minimum lease payments, of such
assets are included in property, plant and equipment
and the corresponding liabilities, net of finance
charges, are recorded as obligations under finance
leases. Depreciation is provided at rates which write
off the cost or valuation of the assets over the term
of the relevant lease or, where it is likely the group
will obtain ownership of the asset, the life of the
asset, as set out in note 2(g). Impairment losses are
accounted for in accordance with the accounting
policy as set out in note 2(j). Finance charges implicit
in the lease payments are charged to profit or loss
over the period of the leases so as to produce an
approximately constant periodic rate of charge on
the remaining balance of the obligations for each
accounting period. Contingent rentals are charged
to profit or loss in the accounting period in which
they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ak 05 B Wik

For the year ended 37 December 2076 B2 —FE—NFE+—-H=+—HIFFEF

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i) Lease assets (Continued)

(iii)

Operating lease charges

Where the Group has the use of assets held under
operating leases, payments made under the leases
are charged to profit or loss in equal instalments
over the accounting periods covered by the lease
term, except where an alternative basis is more
representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived
from the leased asset. Lease incentives received are
recognised in profit or loss as an integral part of the
aggregate net lease payments made. Contingent
rentals are charged to profit or loss in the accounting
period in which they are incurred.

The cost of acquiring land held under an operating
lease is amortised on a straight-line basis over the
period of the lease term except where the property
is classified as an investment property or is held for
development for sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Aok 1 B 25 9 Bk

For the year ended 37 December 2076 &2 —F—NF+ - A=+—HIF/E

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

() Impairment of assets

(i) Impairment of investments in debt and equity

securities and other receivables

Investments in debt and equity securities and other
current and non-current receivables that are stated
at cost or amortised cost or are classified as
available-for-sale securities are reviewed at the end
of each reporting period to determine whether there
is objective evidence of impairment. Objective
evidence of impairment includes observable data
that comes to the attention of the Group about one
or more of the following loss events:

significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

= a breach of contract, such as a default or
delinquency in interest or principal payments;

- it becoming probable that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

— significant changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that
have an adverse effect on the debtor; and

- a significant or prolonged decline in the fair
value of an investment in an equity instrument
below its cost.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ak 05 B Wik

For the year ended 37 December 2076 B2 —F— NF+_-HA=+—HIFZ

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(j) Impairment of assets (Continued)

@i

Impairment of investments in debt and equity
securities and other receivables (Continued)

If any such evidence exists, any impairment loss is
determined and recognised as follows:

- For unquoted equity securities carried at cost,
the impairment loss is measured as the
difference between the carrying amount of the
financial asset and the estimated future cash
flows, discounted at the current market rate of
return for a similar financial asset where the
effect of discounting is material. Impairment
losses for equity securities carried at cost are
not reversed.

- For trade and other current receivables and

other financial assets carried at amortised cost,
the impairment loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of the estimated future
cash flows, discounted at the financial asset’s
original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective
interest rate computed at initial recognition of
these assets), where the effect of discounting
is material. This assessment is made
collectively where these financial assets share
similar risk characteristics, such as similar past
due status, and have not been individually
assessed as impaired. Future cash flows for
financial assets which are assessed for
impairment collectively are based on historical
loss experience for assets with credit risk
characteristics similar to the collective group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 37 December 2076 &2 —F—NF+ - A=+—HIF/E

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

92

0)

Impairment of assets (Continued)

@i

Impairment of investments in debt and equity
securities and other receivables (Continued)

If in a subsequent period the amount of an
impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be
linked objectively to an event occurring after the
impairment loss was recognised, the impairment
loss is reversed through profit or loss. A reversal of
an impairment loss shall not result in the asset’s
carrying amount exceeding that which would have
been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised in prior years.

Impairment losses are written off against the
corresponding assets directly, except for impairment
losses recognised in respect of trade debtors and
bills receivable included within trade and other
receivables, whose recovery is considered doubtful
but not remote. In this case, the impairment losses
for doubtful debts are recorded using an allowance
account. When the Group is satisfied that recovery is
remote, the amount considered irrecoverable is
written off against trade debtors and bills receivable
directly and any amounts held in the allowance
account relating to that debt are reversed.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
charged to the allowance account are reversed
against the allowance account. Other changes in the
allowance account and subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off directly are recognised
in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ak 05 B Wik

For the year ended 37 December 2076 # 2 —F

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(j) Impairment of assets (Continued)

(ii)

Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period to
identify indications that the following assets may be
impaired or, except in the case of goodwill, an
impairment loss previously recognised no longer
exists or may have decreased:

= goodwill;

- property, plant and equipment;
- prepaid land lease payments;

—  intangible assets;

- deposits and prepayments; and
- investments in subsidiaries.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. In addition, for goodwill,
intangible assets that are not yet available for use
and intangible assets that have indefinite useful lives,
the recoverable amount is estimated annually
whether or not there is any indication of impairment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 0 W5 A WY ik

For the year ended 37 December 2076 gt —E— NE+ = H=+—HIFEZF

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2. FESTHHE#E)

() EERE®E

(;)) Impairment of assets (Continued)

(i) Impairment of other assets (Continued) iy HiEEREGE)
—  Calculation of recoverable amount - FEAJKESE

The recoverable amount of an asset is the BEZAKE £ EIE
greater of its fair value less costs of disposal EAFERELDEK
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the FEAFAEBEEZRS
estimated future cash flows are discounted to EoUMEERAERAE
their present value using a pre-tax discount B AstAERB\ R
rate that reflects current market assessments ERREIBRTISEH
of the time value of money and the risks g BEEEENME
specific to the asset. Where an asset does not B 2 E R B P AR A
generate cash inflows largely independent of 2 BR T AT AL IR K AL IR
those from other assets, the recoverable ZERE -M—EE
amount is determined for the smallest group of EFMEZEESREALE
assets that generates cash inflows RREELWIER
independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit). REMEBEEMEAZ

BeEmA - BB

EERERAZTN
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ak 05 B Wik

For the year ended 37 December 2076 B2 —F— NF+_-HA=+—HIFZ

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

)

Impairment of assets (Continued)

(ii)

Impairment of other assets (Continued)

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or
loss if the carrying amount of an asset, or the
cash-generating unit to which it belongs,
exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment
losses recognised in respect of cash-generating
units are allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill allocated to the
cash-generating unit (or group of units) and
then, to reduce the carrying amount of the
other assets in the unit (or group of units) on a
pro rata basis, except that the carrying value of
an asset will not be reduced below its individual
fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable)
or value in use (if determinable).

Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an
impairment loss is reversed if there has been a
favourable change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount. An
impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not
reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to
the asset’s carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised in prior years. Reversals of
impairment losses are credited to profit or loss
in the year in which the reversals are
recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Aok 1 B 25 9 Bk

For the year ended 37 December 2076 &2 —F—NF+ - A=+—HIF/E

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(;)) Impairment of assets (Continued)

(iii) Interim financial reporting and impairment
Under the GEM Listing Rules, the Group is required
to prepare an interim financial report in compliance
with HKAS 34, Interim Financial Reporting, in respect
of the first six months of the financial year. At the end
of the interim period, the Group applies the same
impairment testing, recognition, and reversal criteria
as it would at the end of the financial year (see notes

2()() and ().

Impairment losses recognised in an interim period in
respect of goodwill, available-for-sale equity
securities and unquoted equity securities carried at
cost are not reversed in a subsequent period. This is
the case even if no loss, or a smaller loss, would
have been recognised had the impairment been
assessed only at the end of the financial year to
which the interim period relates. Consequently, if the
fair value of an available-for-sale equity security
increases in the remainder of the annual period, or in
any other period subsequently, the increase is
recognised in other comprehensive income and not
profit or loss.

(k) Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net
realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost
formula and comprises all costs of purchase, costs of
conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the
inventories to their present location and condition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Ao A5 W Bl ek

For the year ended 37 December 2076 B2 —F— NF+_-HA=+—HIFZ

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(k)

(),

Inventories (Continued)

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in
which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of
any write-down of inventories to net realisable value and
all losses of inventories are recognised as an expense in
the period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of
any reversal of any write-down of inventories is recognised
as a reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as
an expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at fair
value and thereafter stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less allowance for impairment of
doubtful debts (see note 2(j)), except where the
receivables are interest-free loans made to related parties
without any fixed repayment terms or the effect of
discounting would be immaterial. In such cases, the
receivables are stated at cost less allowance for
impairment of doubtful debts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 37 December 2076 &2 —F—NF+ - A=+—HIF/E

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

98

(m) Convertible bonds

Convertible bonds that contain an equity component

Convertible bonds that can be converted to equity share
capital at the option of the holder, where the number of
shares that would be issued on conversion and the value
of the consideration that would be received at that time do
not vary, are accounted for as compound financial
instruments which contain both a liability component and
an equity component.

At initial recognition the liability component of the
convertible bonds is measured as the present value of the
future interest and principal payments, discounted at the
market rate of interest applicable at the time of initial
recognition to similar liabilities that do not have a
conversion option. Any excess of proceeds over the
amount initially recognised as the liability component is
recognised as the equity component. Transaction costs
that relate to the issue of a compound financial instrument
are allocated to the liability and equity components in
proportion to the allocation of proceeds.

The liability component is subsequently carried at
amortised cost. The interest expense recognised in profit
or loss on the liability component is calculated using the
effective interest method. The equity component is
recognised in the capital reserve until either the note is
converted or redeemed.

If the note is converted, the capital reserve, together with
the carrying amount of the liability component at the time
of conversion, is transferred to share capital and share
premium as consideration for the shares issued. If the
note is redeemed, the capital reserve is released directly
to retained profits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 37 December 2076 B2 —F— NF+_-HA=+—HIFZ

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(n)

(o)

(p)

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair
value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to
initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated
at amortised cost with any difference between the amount
initially recognised and redemption value being recognised
in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings, together
with any interest and fees payable, using the effective
interest method.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair
value. Trade and other payables are subsequently stated
at amortised cost unless the effect of discounting would
be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Employee benefits

(i) Short term employee benefits and contributions

to defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave and
contributions to defined contribution retirement plans
and the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued
in the year in which the associated services are
rendered by employees. Where payment or
settlement is deferred and the effect would be
material, these amounts are stated at their present
values.

Contributions to Mandatory Provident Funds
required under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance and mandatory central
pension schemes organised by the local government
of the PRC government are recognised as an
expense in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss as incurred.
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For the year ended 37 December 2076 # 2 — &

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

100

(p) Employee benefits (Continued)

(ii)

Share-based payments

Share options granted by the Company to
employees of the Group in an equity-settled
share-based payment arrangement

The fair value of share options granted to employees
is recognised as an employee cost with a
corresponding increase in a share option reserve
within equity. The fair value is measured at grant
date using the Binomial option pricing model, taking
into account the terms and conditions upon which
the options were granted. Where the employees
have to meet vesting conditions before becoming
unconditionally entitled to the share options, the total
estimated fair value of the share options is spread
over the vesting period, taking into account the
probability that the options will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share
options that is expected to vest is reviewed. Any
resulting adjustment to the cumulative fair value
recognised in prior years is charged/credited to the
profit or loss for the year of the review, unless the
original employee expenses qualify for recognition as
an asset, with a corresponding adjustment to the
share option reserve. On vesting date, the amount
recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the
actual number of options that vest (with a
corresponding adjustment to the share option
reserve) except where forfeiture is only due to not
achieving vesting conditions that relate to the market
price of the Company’s shares. The equity amount is
recognised in the share option reserve until either the
option is exercised (when it is transferred to the
share premium account) or the option expires (when
it is released directly to the accumulated losses).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ak 05 B Wik

For the year ended 37 December 2076 B2 —F— NF+_-HA=+—HIFZ

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2. FESHBE %)

(p) Employee benefits (Continued) (p) EBEER &)

(i) Share-based payments (Continued)

Share options granted to consultant in an
equity-settled share-based payment transactions
(Continued)

Share options issued in exchange for goods or
services are measured at fair values of the goods or
services rendered, unless that fair value cannot be
reliably measured, in which case the goods or
services received are measured by reference to the
fair value of the share options granted. The fair
values of goods or services received are recognised
as expenses immediately, unless the goods or
services qualify for recognition as assets.
Corresponding adjustment has been made to equity
(share option reserve).

() Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities
are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that
they relate to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case the relevant
amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period,
and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous
years.
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For the year ended 37 December 2076 &2 —F—NF+ - A=+—HIF/E

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

102

(Continued)

(g) Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being the
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax
bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax
losses and unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which the asset can be utilised, are recognised. Future
taxable profits that may support the recognition of
deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences include those that will arise from the reversal of
existing taxable temporary differences, provided those
differences relate to the same taxation authority and the
same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either in
the same period as the expected reversal of the deductible
temporary difference or in periods into which a tax loss
arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or
forward. The same criteria are adopted when determining
whether existing taxable temporary differences support
the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from unused
tax losses and credits, that is, those differences are taken
into account if they relate to the same taxation authority
and the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse
in a period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can
be utilised.
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For the year ended 37 December 2076 # 2 —F

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(g) Income tax (Continued)

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from goodwill not deductible for tax purposes, the
initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither
accounting nor taxable profit (provided they are not part of
a business combination), and temporary differences
relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that, in
the case of taxable differences, the Group controls the
timing of the reversal and it is probable that the differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case of
deductible differences, unless it is probable that they will
reverse in the future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured
based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement
of the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using
tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end of
the reporting period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and is reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow the related tax benefit to
be utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the extent
that it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits will
be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of
dividends are recognised when the liability to pay the
related dividends is recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 0 W5 A WY ik

For the year ended 37 December 2076 &2 —F—NF+ - A=+—HIF/E

2.

104

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(@) Income tax (Continued)

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset
against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets
against deferred tax liabilities, if the Company or the Group
has the legally enforceable right to set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and the following
additional conditions are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
Company or the Group intends either to settle on a
net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously; or

- in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if
they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either:

- the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities, which, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred
tax liabilities or assets are expected to be
settled or recovered, intend to realise the
current tax assets and settle the current tax
liabilities on a net basis or realise and settle
simultaneously.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 37 December 2076 # 2 —F

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(9]

(s)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group or the Company has a
legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is
material, provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more future events are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable. Provided it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue
and costs, if applicable, can be measured reliably, revenue
is recognised in profit or loss as follows:

() Sales of liquefied coalbed gas and piped natural
gas
Revenue from sales of liquefied coalbed gas and
piped natural gas are recognised when the gas is
delivered and title has passed. Revenue excludes
value-added and business taxes and trade
discounts.

(i) Income from provision of gas supply connection
services
Revenue from provision of gas supply connection
services is recognised when the relevant
construction work is completed and connection
services are rendered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 37 December 2076 # 2 — &

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

106

(s) Revenue recognition (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

Income from provision of liquefied coalbed gas
logistics services

Revenue from provision of logistics services is
recognised when services are rendered.

Interest income
Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position initially
when there is reasonable assurance that they will be
received and that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them. Grants that
compensate the Group for expenses incurred are
recognised as revenue in profit or loss on a
systematic basis in the same periods in which the
expenses are incurred. Grants that compensate the
Group for the cost of an asset are deducted from
the carrying amount of the asset and consequently
are effectively recognised in profit or loss over the
useful life of the asset by way of reduced
depreciation expense.

A government grant that becomes receivables as
compensation for expenses or losses already
incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate
financial support to the entity with no future related
costs shall be recognised in profit or loss of the
period in which it becomes receivable.

Rental income
Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis
over the period of the lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 37 December 2076 B2 —F— NF+_-HA=+—HIFZ

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(t) Translation of foreign currencies

[tems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”).

The functional currency of the Company is Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$”) and the presentation currency is RMB. The
reason for using RMB as a presentation currency is that
the functional currency of the principal entities within the
Group is RMB.

Foreign currency transactions during the year are
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting
period. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit
or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are
translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
dates the fair value was measured.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

108

®

(u)

Translation of foreign currencies (Continued)

The results of foreign operations are translated into RMB
at the exchange rates approximating the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Statement of
financial position items, including goodwill arising on
consolidation of foreign operations acquired on or after
1 January 2005, are translated into RMB at the closing
foreign exchange rates at the end of the reporting period.
The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated separately in
equity in the translation reserve. Goodwill arising on
consolidation of a foreign operation acquired before
1 January 2005 is translated at the foreign exchange rate
that applied at the date of acquisition of the foreign
operation.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount
of the exchange differences relating to that foreign
operation is reclassified from equity to profit or loss when
the profit or loss on disposal is recognised.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset which
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready
for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the
cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed in
the period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Ao A5 W Bl ek

For the year ended 37 December 2076 B2 —F— NF+_-HA=+—HIFZ

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(u) Borrowing costs (Continued)

)

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of
a qualifying asset commences when expenditure for the
asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred
and activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for
its intended use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation of
borrowing costs is suspended or ceases when
substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the
qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are interrupted
or complete.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the
Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s lines of business and
geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and are
similar in respect of the nature of products and services,
the nature of production processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute the products
or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Aok 1 B 25 9 Bk

For the year ended 37 December 2076 &2 —F—NF+ - A=+—HIF/E

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(w) Related parties

(@ A person, or a close member of that person’s family,
is related to the Group if that person:

()  has control or joint control over the Group;
(i)  has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or the Group’s parent.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

()  The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others);

(i)  One entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or an associate or joint venture
of a member of a group of which the other
entity is a member);

(i)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party;

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and

the other entity is an associate of the third
entity;

110  CHINA CBM GROUP COMPANY LIMITED Annual Report 2016

2. TESHHE#

W) BEEAL

(@

WEBATAL BIZAL
HEALTZAREREE
BRE

U

(i)

(i)

(K

=0 g
B Y

=
=

(i)

% il X H A AR &
= ;

HAEBEEARE
%,

AREERAEERT
AAMEEERER

)

I

\

& AT R
HEAKEARE

ZEREASEER
—KBEZKE AR (A
EBRA - WBRA
Ko [R) 2 B BB 1 R R it
EARRE)

F
i
I Jf

=B

i

0w
>

e
) &
¥
|

0
]
el

%EN
R AR
3 - f mE mf
PUBSUSU

R oA
. I R CTING

okt EEEE:
SHFMABLE
—HEBAE=5E
BOAELE T2
—EBARE=FE
BEBE AT



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ak 05 B Wik

For the year ended 37 December 2076 # 2 —F

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(w) Related parties (Continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies: (Continued)

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the Group
or an entity related to the Group;

(v)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vil A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity); and

(viii)  The entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence,
or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with
the entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 0 W5 A WY ik

For the year ended 37 December 2076 &2 —F—NF+ - A=+—HIF/E

3. BFBENEH

The HKICPA has issued the following amendments to HKFRSs EhestmAeCEm NI EBMG
that are first effective for the current accounting period of the WMELZIBRTAR - EEBEVBR

3. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

112

Group:

Amendments to HKAS 1

Disclosure Initiative

SRR AR EE SRR
B B R AR

BERGRUE IR HELM
CHEN

Amendments to HKAS 16 and Clarification of Acceptable BEAGERFE165E BEHERHY
HKAS 38 Methods of Depreciation and REBGHENE HAEZHZ

Amendments to HKAS 16 and
HKAS 41

Amortisation

Agriculture: Bearer Plants

383k 2 (BRI AR

BEBGEREI6 KX £LEME
LEBEGHEAE Y

MR ZERTA
Amendments to HKAS 27 Equity Method in Separate ERSQTERETH BUHBEHIXZ
Financial Statements pA HEN E25

Amendments to HKFRS 10,
HKFRS 12 and HKAS 28

Investment Entities: Applying the
Consolidation Exception

BEEMBRERANE KEEE EA
105 BEMBER  HEAKZH

EERNFI12RRE  IEX
gt ERIFE285%
ZIBRI R
Amendments to HKFRS 11 Accounting for Acquisitions of EBY RS L WEAEPEE
Interests in Joint Operations FR BRI A w BETE
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to BB REER —E-——fFZ—
HKFRSs 2012 - 2014 ZIBE AR E— [y F 5B
2 BB B
EERFEEX
#

The directors consider that the adoption of the amendments to
HKFRSs has no material effect on the Group’s consolidated

financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ak 05 B Wik

For the year ended 37 December 2076 # 2 —F

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Up to the date of issue of these consolidated financial
statements, the HKICPA has issued a few amendments to
standards and new standards which are not yet effective for the
year ended 31 December 2016 and which have not been
adopted in these consolidated financial statements.

HKFRS 9

HKFRS 15

HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 7

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKFRS 2

Amendments to HKFRS 4

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and

HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS 15

Financial Instruments?

Revenue from Contracts with
Customers?
Leases®

Disclosure Initative’

Recognition of Deferred Tax
Assets for Unrealised Losses'
Classification and Measurement
of Share-based Payment
Transaction®
Applying HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments with HKFRS 4
Insurance Contracts?

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture*

Clarification to HKFRS 15
Revenue from Contracts with
Customers?

L Effective for accounting periods beginning on or after

1 January 2017.

2 Effective for accounting periods beginning on or after

1 January 2018.

g Effective for accounting periods beginning on or after

1 January 2019.

& Effective for accounting periods beginning on or after a

date to be determined.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 0 W5 A WY ik

For the year ended 37 December 2076 &2 —F—NF+ - A=+—HIF/E

114

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what
the impact of these amendments to standards and new
standards is expected to be in the period of initial application
but is not yet in a position to state whether those amendments
to standards would have a significant impact on the Group’s
results of operations and financial position.

ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

Judgements and estimates are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.

(@) Sources of estimation uncertainty

Key sources of estimation uncertainty are as follows:

(i) Estimation of impairment of trade and other

receivables

The policy for recognising impairment on receivables
of the Group is based on an evaluation of the
collectibility and ageing analysis of accounts and on
management’s judgement. A considerable amount
of judgement is required in assessing the ultimate
realisation of these receivables, including the current
creditworthiness and the past collection history of
each debtor. If the financial conditions of the Group’s
debtors were to deteriorate, resulting in an
impairment of their ability to make payments,
additional impairment may be required.

CHINA CBM GROUP COMPANY LIMITED Annual Report 2016
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ak 05 B Wik

For the year ended 37 December 2076 B2 —F— NF+_-HA=+—HIFZ

4. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

(a) Sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(ii)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment
In considering the impairment losses that may be

required for the Group’s property, plant and
equipment and construction in progress, the
recoverable amount of the asset needs to be
determined. The recoverable amount is the higher of
fair value less costs of disposal and the value in use.
In determining the value in use, expected cash flows
generated by the asset are discounted to their
present values, which require significant judgement
relating to items such as the level of sales volume,
selling price and amount of operating costs. The
Group uses all readily available information in
determining an amount that is a reasonable
approximation of the recoverable amount, including
estimates based on reasonable and supportable
assumptions and projections of items such as sales
volume, selling prices and amount of operating
costs.

During the year ended 31 December 2016, no
impairment loss of property, plant and equipment
was recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss (2015: RMB92,086,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 0 W5 A WY ik

For the year ended 37 December 2076 gt —E— NE+ = H=+—HIFEZF

4. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND

116

ESTIMATES (Continued)

(b) Critical accounting judgements in applying
the Group’s accounting policies

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, management has made the following critical
accounting judgements:

(i) Renewal of gas business operating permits

The Group holds certain gas business operating
permits with licence period of 3 to 5 years at date of
issue which will be expired in year 2017 to 2021 and
the renewal of which is subject to the approval by
the relevant PRC authorities. In the opinion of the
directors, taking into account legal opinion from the
Company’s PRC legal counsel, there are no legal
impediments for the Group to renew its gas business
operating permits upon expiry.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ak 05 B Wik

For the year ended 37 December 2076 # 2 —F

4. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

(b) Critical accounting judgements in applying
the Group’s accounting policies (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Renewal of gas business operating permits
(Continued)

If the Group were unable to renew these permits
upon expiry, the carrying amounts of the Group’s
property, plant and equipment of approximately
RMB728,717,000 (2015: RMB800,681,000) and
prepaid land lease payments of approximately
RMB35,937,000 (2015: RMB36,800,000) might be
significantly reduced, and the Group might increase
depreciation and amortisation charges of those
assets where their useful lives are less than
previously estimated, or it might write off or write
down the carrying amount of those assets.

Income taxes

Determining income tax provisions involves
judgement on the future tax treatment of certain
transactions. The Group carefully evaluates tax
implications of transactions and tax provisions are
set-up accordingly. The tax treatment of such
transactions is reconsidered periodically to take into
account changes in tax legislations. Deferred tax
assets are recognised for all unused tax losses to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the losses can be utilised.
Significant management judgement is required to
determine the amount of deferred tax assets that
can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and
level of future taxable profits together with future tax
planning strategies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Aok 1 B 25 9 Bk

For the year ended 37 December 2016 g2 —FE— NE+ = H=+—HIFEEZF

5. REVENUE 5. Y=
2016 | 2015
—E-XEF —ET—hF
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR¥ T ARETT
Sales of liquefied coalbed gas BILEERIHE 146,951 268,601
Provision of liquefied coalbed gas RRICEE R RE
logistics services 10,013 3,206
Sales of piped natural gas (including BEBRARIEE
provision of gas supply connection (BIERHEERZERRS)
services) 61,915 B S8
218,879 329,120
6. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 6. HMWwARWzH
2016 | 2015
—E-XEF —ET-hF
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR%T T ARETT
Interest income from bank deposits RITFE R ZF BUA 85 137
Net foreign exchange gain INE W 5 FER 72 131
Rental income HE WA 148 =
Other income Hab g A 424 196
729 464
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Aok o Y B I R Mk

For the year ended 37 December 2076 B2 —FE—NFE+—-H=+—HIFFEF

7. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 7. BRBAIEE

Loss before taxation is arrived at after charging: GRAEEE B IATNSIE

of approximately RMB31,000 (2015:
RMB255,000).

2016 2015
—E-XRF ZT—hHF
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR¥T T AREEFTT
(a) Staff costs (including directors’ (a) & T KA (BiEHK o+
and chief executive’s HNEERESTEHRA
emoluments in note 9) EME)
Salaries and other benefits Fre hHEAEF 26,566 24,635
Retirement benefits schemes RREFFT S
contributions 4,162 3,796
Total staff costs * BB TR A 30,728 28,431
Amount excluded staff costs SHEIMERRERIRER
capitalised in construction in progress b2 BIRRAK ARKE

31,0007t (ZZE—FH4F : A
R #0255 0007T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 0 W5 A WY ik

For the year ended 37 December 2076 # 2 — &

120

—NEFZA=1—HIFE

LOSS BEFORE TAXATION (continued) 7.

Loss before taxation is arrived at after charging: (Continued)

BREEAIE B (2)

BREAEEEHIBRATSE (&)

2016 | 2015
—E-XxEF —T—hF
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR® T AREF T
(b) Other items (b) Hi1EH
Cost of inventories (Note 22(b)) FEZ KA (M E22(0)) 132,301 205,950
Auditors’ remuneration 1% 25 B % A
— audit services - ZERTS 1,716 1,609
- non-audit services - IR 189 -
Depreciation of property, plant VI MBS RBITE
and equipment 80,080 74,582
Amortisation of prepaid land lease FEAT T 4 8
payments 863 591
Amortisation of intangible assets EmEEEH
(included in cost of sales) (B ASHERKA) - 7,276
Impairment loss on trade receivables FE W BR 3R 2 R B E5 1B
(included in other operating (G AEAD
expenses) KERZ) 5,513 2,391
Net loss on disposal of property, plant HEMS - #R KK
and equipment (included in other ZFEBE GTAEAM
operating expenses) LERYT) 228 266
Operating lease charges in respect T REF 2 REHED
of land and buildings EH 811 685
Research and development costs 7 kAR 579 -
(c) Finance costs (c) MERAK
Interest expenses on bank and other ARAFANEZEESE
borrowings wholly repayable within ZERIT R EABE K
five years ZFBHAX 3,625 5,842
Other finance costs H A 7l & B A - 980
Effective interest on convertible bonds AR ES CERFE 1,504 77
Finance charges on obligations under MEMREREZ
finance leases mE & A 5,796 7,425
Total interest expenses on financial WIHRAFEFAER
liabilities not at fair value through ZEBBEZNER
profit or loss Y 4a%E 10,925 14,324
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8.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Ao A5 W Bl ek

For the year ended 37 December 2076 2 —ZF— NFE+— H=+—HI-F/F

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

(@)

Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
represents:

8.

REBEBERANZAES

(@)

REBmRAZTIALR

[ 2016 | 2015
—E-RE —E-RHEF
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR® T AR®ET T
Current tax - PRC Enterprise BNEAFE — R
Income Tax (“EIT”) B ([¥mE
Bl
Provision for the year NFERME 4,769 2,310
Deferred tax EERIE
Origination and reversal of temporary TR =EEEREE
differences (1,692) (36,601)
Income tax expense/(credit) PRSHR (3B %) 3,077 (34,291)

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
and continued in Bermuda as an exempted company
under the laws of Bermuda and, accordingly, is exempted
from payment of the Bermuda Income Tax.

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the
estimated assessable profits for the year ended
31 December 2016 (2015: 16.5%). No provision for Hong
Kong Profits Tax has been made as the Group has no
estimated assessable profits arising in or derived from
Hong Kong for the years ended 31 December 2016 and
2015.

Taxation for overseas subsidiaries is charged at the
appropriate current rates of taxation ruling in the relevant
countries.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Aok 1 B 25 9 Bk

For the year ended 37 December 2016 # 2 — &

—AFF= A LR

8. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 8.
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

(@) Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss

represents: (Continued)

Under the Law of the PRC on EIT (the “EIT Law”) and
Implementation Regulations of the EIT Law, the tax rate of
the PRC subsidiaries is 25% from 1 January 2008

onwards.

(b)  Reconciliation between income tax expenses/(credit) and
accounting loss at applicable tax rates:

REBEERRNZAES @)

(@)

REBmRAZTIARE

(%&)

RIEBBERMAERNFBEDER
(TEEMEBOE] REEMEH

EEIRD]

o B

1=l

TENF-A-—BHEZREXE

25% °

mEANXAEZAENMAS
(%) BEFTEEHERAT

2016 |

2015
—EB—XF —E—HRF
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR®T R AR®ET T
Loss before taxation Br T AT B 1B (99,307) (289,317)
Notional tax on loss before taxation, %888 %: 75 &) # 2 i A &
calculated at the rates applicable  RitE 2R RIEER &
to the tax jurisdictions concerned %18 (23,000) (70,007)
Tax effect of non-deductible PAIMBRAX 2 BB g
expenses 7,212 28,154
Tax effect of non-taxable income ~ HEZRBRWA 2 HiGF & - (12)
Tax effect of tax losses not allowed 7~ A gt B &9 57 T8 &5 18 2 Fi 75
for tax deduction A 5,503 7,092
Tax effect of tax losses not RERMIEBE HBETE
recognised 14,568 2,772
PRC withholding tax P ETERE (1,206) (994)
Utilisation of tax losses previously — EhF e i R R 2 T TEE 18
not recognised - (1,296)
Income tax expense/(credit) PSR (%) 3,077 (34,291)
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For the year ended 37 December 2076 B2 —F— NF+_-HA=+—HIFZ

8. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

()

Pursuant to the EIT Law in the PRC, from 1 January 2008,
non-resident enterprises without an establishment or
place of business in the PRC or which have an
establishment or place of business in the PRC but whose
relevant income is not effectively connected with the
establishment or a place of business in the PRC, will be
subject to withholding tax at the rate of 10% (unless
reduced by tax treaty) on various types of passive income
such as dividends derived from sources within the PRC.

Pursuant to the Sino-Hong Kong Double Tax Arrangement
and the related regulations, a qualified Hong Kong tax
resident will be liable for a reduced withholding tax rate of
5% on dividends from a PRC enterprise if the Hong Kong
tax resident is the “beneficial owner” and holds 25% or
more of the equity interest of the PRC enterprise. A
withholding tax rate of 5% is applicable to entities held by
a qualified Hong Kong incorporated subsidiary.

Income tax recognised directly in equity

8. MEBBERANZIES @)

(©)

REBTBECEMRERE A=F
ZENF-—A—BE EFBEEREA
AR KB E R - B
EHBIRARI RS R
BEG 2 WA BEEFBIE A
BREBRERWA LB ERBER
ZIEEREE  BERZERD
WA ERFBEREAZEE
1E10%M1 R (BR IR 12 1 W 195 72 O
%) BB -

RETEEEHR L RGBSR
ERMEABUERATELE
MIBEREEA] EHEZT
B> 2£25% K A F R AR - &
ERBEAREREFELEXIK
R RLE R Al = B R EBINHR
B EE% - HEBBEMKILLZ
MERRRHAZERZBIHE
5% ©

BEEREN SRR SR

2016 |

2015
—EB-RE —ET—RF
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR%BT AR®ET T
Deferred tax ERERE
Initial recognition on issue of P17 AT AR (B 5 IR 4148
convertible bonds R - 1,892
Total income tax recognised HERERERZ
directly in equity FriS it 4858 - 1,892
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124

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 9. EERBETHAEME
EMOLUMENTS

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the five (2015: six) ERNFENEEZ(ZE—HFE: ~4E)
directors and the chief executive were as follows: EERERTBRAESAZHESHOT
Equity-
Salaries, Retirement settled
allowances benefits share-based
and benefits  Discretionary schemes payment 2016
Fees in kind bonuses contributions expenses Total
DRELE
SR A
§e 2R BIKER itz ZB-5F
wE  BUEREAN  BERL GEMR  AREX @t

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARWTR ARWTR AR®TR ARETR AR%®TR

Executive directors BTES

Wang Zhong Sheng B - 1,098 - 6 - 1,104

Fu Shou Gang EL - 252 - - - 252

Independent non-executive BUHTES

directors

Wang Zhi He TZA 86 - - - - 86

Luo Wei Kun BiEE 43 - - - - 43

Pang Yuk Fong viF 43 - - - - 43
172 1,350 - 6 - 1,528
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For the year ended 37 December 2076 2 —ZF— NFE+— H=+—HI-F/F

9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Salaries,

allowances

and benefits

Fees inkind

¥ RRRE

e et
RMBOOO  RMB'000
ARETL  ARETR

9. EERESTHRAEM= &)

Equity-
Retirement settled
benefits ~ share-based
Discretionary schemes payment 2015
honuses ~ contributions EXPEnses Total
WRERS
KRB
RAAER| By  -3-1f
g SRl R st

RMB'000 RVB 000 RVB'000 RMB'000
ARETL  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR

Executive directors HiEs
Wang Zhong Sheng il - 1,048 - 17 - 1,065
Shi Liang (Retired on 26 May 2015) ER(R=E2-1%1

AZtABRE) = 15 - 5 - 20
Fu Shou Gang OEL) = 276 = = = 276
Independent non-executive directors ~ BYFH1TES
Wang Zhi He T 87 - - - - 87
Luo Wei Kun BES 40 - - - - 40
Pang Yuk Fong [ 40 - - - - 40

167 1,339 - ) - 1,58

During the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015, since the
appointment of the chief executive officer of the Company
remains outstanding, no emoluments were paid to the chief
executive officer of the Company.

Neither the chief executive officer nor any of the directors
waived any emoluments in the years ended 31 December 2016
and 2015. No inducement payments to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office were paid or
payable to any director or the chief executive officer for the
years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015.

=

REBE-_Z—R"ERZT-—HF+=
A=+—BLFE AREARRERK
ZRITHREE - A EA AR RITE
BEZ S -

RBEZZT—XR"FERZT—RF+=
A=1+—RHLEE #$ETHRBHK
TREERETAHE -REBEEZZ
—RNER_FT—RF+-_A=+—H
IHFE - WEAERESHITHRER
S A5F Bk 8 A5F AE {0 A AN £ B Bk A0 A AR
SER RE BB A -
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For the year ended 37 December 2076 gt —E— NE+ = H=+—HIFEZF

it

10. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST 10. ZEHFAL
EMOLUMENTS

AEBREHESHFALP ME (=
T—hF MB)REF KEZH
TR FIRE B =% (=F—1h

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group,
two (2015: two) are directors whose emoluments are disclosed
in note 9. The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the

other three (2015: three) individuals are as follows: F =ZB)ATZMESBENAT :
2016 | 2015
—E-XEF —T—hF
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR®T T ARET T
Salaries and other emoluments Fre EMAEF 1,681 741

Retirement benefits schemes RIREFIET SR

contributions 41 29
1,722 770

The emoluments of the three (2015: three) individuals with the

\ J

=R (ZE-RF  =ZR)RaHAL

highest emoluments are within the following bands: ZHENFATEHE
' 2016 2015
—E—-REF —E—RF
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
AH A#
Nil to RMB1,000,000 =T &= AR#1,000,0007T 3 3
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

11.

12.

For the year ended 37 December 2076 # 2 —F

DIVIDENDS

No dividend has been proposed or declared by the directors for
the year ended 31 December 2016 (2015: Nil).

LOSS PER SHARE

The basic and diluted loss per share is RMB7.65 cents per
share (2015: RMB20.49 cents per share). The calculation of the
basic loss per share for the year ended 31 December 2016 is
based on the loss attributable to equity shareholders of the
Company of approximately RMB101,002,000 (2015:
RMB235,943,000) and the weighted average number of shares
of approximately 1,319,484,000 (2015: 1,151,722,000) in issue
during the year ended 31 December 2016. The calculation for
diluted loss per share for the year ended 31 December 2016 is
based on the loss attributable to equity shareholders of the
Company of approximately RMB101,002,000 (2015:
RMB235,943,000) and the denominator used are the same as
for the basic loss per share. Diluted loss per share attributable to
equity shareholders of the Company for the years ended 31
December 2016 and 2015 is the same as the basic loss per
share as the effect of potential ordinary shares from the exercise
and conversion of share options and convertible bonds are
anti-dilutive.

11.

12.

—~EEH PEEEREERRLF

Ao A5 W Bl ek

—NFTZHA=1—HIFFE

BB
BE_ZT— X F+_A=1+—HIHF

B EFWEZZRNKETRKE (=
T—RF |\

BRER

iﬂxgﬂiﬁﬁﬁ/ﬁ)@ﬂ@%tﬂx}\ﬁ%? 65

H(ZB—HF: BRARM2049
5) BEZB-RETZA=t—

BLEFEZSRERBEDBRERE
E-E—RF+_A=+—HILEE
RRAERRELBEENARE
101,002,0007C (ZE—HE: ARK
235,943,0007T) & B2 #1715 hi#E F
) #471,319,484,0004% (:%—ﬁﬁ :
1,151,722,0000%) st BB/ - H=E
%—ﬁ%+:ﬂ:+—a¢¢&2#
RE#EBEBENDRBARRERRERE
1l B8 49 A R #101,002,0007T (= F
— R F: AR¥235,943,0007T) 5t &
B MARFEZHBHEGRER
EEER - BE-_FT—ARFER_ZF
—hAF+-A=+—BHLEFEARA
BaBRREESRESEERGRE
AEERR - RELKRETHERER
BRERITBRRESF 2 BELRKRA
B RESERE o
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13.

128

SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group’s operating segments are determined based on
information reported to the chief operating decision maker (the
“CODM?”), being the Company’s board of directors, for the
purpose of resources allocation and performance assessment.
The CODM reviews the Group’s internal reporting, assesses the
performance and allocates the resources of the Group as a
whole, as all of the Group’s activities are considered to be
primarily dependent on the performance of exploitation,
liquefaction production and sale of natural gas in the PRC.
Therefore, the CODM considers there is only one operating
segment under the requirements of HKFRS 8 Operating
Segments. In this regard, no segment information is presented.

Additional disclosure in relation to segment information is not
presented as the CODM assess the performance of the sole
operating segment identified based on the consistent
information as disclosed in the consolidated financial
statements.

The total segment result is equivalent to total comprehensive
expense for the year as shown in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income and the total
segment assets and total segment liabilities are equivalent to
total assets and total liabilities as shown in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

CHINA CBM GROUP COMPANY LIMITED Annual Report 2016
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13. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 13. 22 H©)
(@) Geographical information (@ MHIEBER
The Group principally operates in Hong Kong and the REBFTEEFTBERNPRHLEHE
PRC. 7% o
The Group’s revenue from external customers and ANE BRI IEA B 5D KK B S
information about its non-current assets by geographical HEPHWRNIEREEER
locations are detailed below: BRI

Revenue from external

customers Non-current assets*
REIMBEF K E FRBEE
2016 2015 2016 2015
—E-KREF —T-hF —E-XKE —T-0F
RMB’ 000 RMB’000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000

ARBT R ARETT ARBT R ARBETT

Hong Kong B - - 210 1,175
PRC + 218,879 329,120 789,928 861,973
218,879 329,120 790,138 863,148
* Non-current assets excluding deferred tax assets. 3 ERBEENBIFEEERIEEL
o
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13.

130

SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

(b) Information about major customers

Revenue from customers of corresponding years
contributing over 10% of total revenue of the Group is as

13. SEGMENT REPORTING
(Continued)

(b)

FEEFNER

HEFERR 2 WaEBiBAEE
BIEE10%MEPIT

follows:
2016 2015
—E—XRF —E—hF
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR®T T ARET T
Customer A BEA 25,354 52,005
Customer B ZFB 31,047 65,322
Customer C BFEC 26,419 35,825
82,820 153,152
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For the year ended 37 December 2076 B2 —FE—NFE+—-H=+—HIFFEF

14. GOODWILL 14. BHE
RMB’ 000
ARETT
Cost: A
At 1 January 2015 R-—ZE—RF—H—H 344,100
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 34) U BE BT B A =) (B 5£34) 3,551
At 31 December 2015 and 2016 RZE—RHER
—E-RFE+ZHA=+—H 347,651
Accumulated impairment losses: It REESE
At 1 January 2015 R-ZE—HRF—HF—H 344,100
Impairment loss BIEEE 3,551
At 31 December 2015 and 2016 RZZE—RHFR
—E—XR"F+=-A=+—H 347,651
Carrying amount: BRMEE :
At 31 December 2015 and 2016 RZE—AFR
—E-RF+=-A=+—8H -

15. IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL, 15. B8 - %ﬁ%ﬁ\%ﬂ&%% >
INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND PROPERTY, B 2R Kk e 2 B R
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

At the end of the reporting period, the directors have reviewed R|EHRKR  ESERBENRE D

goodwill, intangible assets and property, plant and equipment REAEENHELAEUZEHE -

allocated to the Group’s CGUs for impairment testing purpose. BREENARDE  HBEREBEET
BT ©
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15.

132

IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL,
INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND PROPERTY,
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continueq)

Coalbed methane exploration and development,
natural gas liquefaction and LNG distribution

The recoverable amount of this CGU is determined based on
value in use calculations with reference to an independent
professional valuation. The key assumptions for the value in use
calculations are those regarding the discount rate and growth in
revenue and direct costs during the year. Management
estimates the discount rate of 22% (2015: 21%) using pre-tax
rates that reflect current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the CGU. Changes in selling
prices and direct costs are based on past experience and
expectations of changes in the market.

The value in use calculations are derived from cash flow
projections based on the most recent financial budgets for the
next 5 years approved by management. Cash flows beyond the
5-year period have been extrapolated using a steady growth
rate of 3% (2015: 3%) per annum which is based on industry
growth forecasts.

Based on value in use calculation at 31 December 2016, the
recoverable amount of this CGU was found to be higher than its
carrying amount. Accordingly, no impairment loss was
recognised during the year ended 31 December 2016 (2015:
impairment losses of approximately RMB3,551,000,
RMB97,864,000 and RMB92,086,000 on goodwill, intangible
assets and property, plant and equipment respectively allocated
to this CGU have been recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31 December
2015).
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15. B8 -BEEEURYE

HERREZBERNE 2

HKERBERAE  XRARRIL
RRAE R AR T #H

ARSEEBENZAINESREIRE
BUSXGHEREBECAEBEFE £
BEEFEZTERRNEBEHAFE
ZEHHE CWEERRERERAZR®
®o BEREM AR ERR2% (=T
—RF:21%) NEARBRERE
KREHEE M RASELS
2B ERE ZBRBATANEAE - &
BREEBERAZEHUBELRK
MBTERgEH BEE -

EREEFENREREEEEIE
ZEMARKSFHHEREMBES 2B
ERERR - BESFHEZRER
EEARRZFERERIW(ZF—10
F:3%)HEE  RFERRTIAITE
BRBRAELE -

BE-ZZT—A"F+_A=+—RH2ZE
REETE ERABRSELEENZ
AREESESRERAEME - ALt &
BT RE+-A=+—BLEE
MEERBEEE (ZE—RF: 8
B2 EBEEENRYE HRREE
R 5L (B /&5 18 9 Bl 49 A R 63,551,000
7T+ AR #97,864,0007T K A R #&
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15. IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL,

INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND PROPERTY,
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Piped natural gas located in Guangxi

The recoverable amount of this CGU is determined based on
value in use calculations with reference to an independent
professional valuation. The key assumptions for the value in use
calculations are those regarding the discount rate and growth in
revenue and direct costs during the year. Management
estimates the discount rate of 29% (2015: 29%) using pre-tax
rates that reflect current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the CGU. Change in selling
prices and direct costs are based on past experience and
expectations of changes in the market.

The value in use calculations are derived from cash flow
projections based on the most recent financial budgets for the
next 5 years approved by management. Cash flows beyond the
5-year period have been extrapolated using a steady growth
rate of 3% (2015: 3%) per annum which is based on industry
growth forecasts.

During the year ended 31 December 2016, based on value in
use calculations at 31 December 2016, the recoverable amount
of this CGU was found to be higher than its carrying amount.
Accordingly, no impairment loss was recognised during the year
ended 31 December 2016 (2015: impairment loss on intangible
assets allocated to this CGU of approximately RMB36,521,000
have been recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss for the year ended 31 December 2015).

15. BE -BEEEUARYE

%%%& nﬁ1ﬁ2/ﬁiﬁ I/\U nit (%)

UREANEBERAR

AESELEBNZAIKREESEIZE
BUEEHERBEREENEET -
FREBBEFEZETERRIIIEHASF
EZMBEER WREREREEKAZ
Bk - EEEMF - AR K A20% (=
T—RHF:29%) HEAREE A
E¥RHBE TSR RBRSES
BRHFERBZBBAMNEAE
EBREEXNAZEEH HABTLR

MG ENEEHREE -
EREEAENREREEEEIE

ZERMAKRSFHBEEMBESEZR
ERETER - BESFHHE 2 IREN
iﬁiﬁ%%ﬁ_ZEiE?S%(:%@*ﬁ
F:3%)EE  ZFERERTIAITE
BRI AEZLE -

REZE= f—A$+ A=+—H1
FE - RE= A¢+ A=4+—
HZ@%FE CBRABReESE
$u27W@i%mmE%E@ A
o #HE_E—XFEF+-_A=+—H
tFERERRIEEARESELSE
N RBEEBEE(ZZE—HF : 2R
AEeELESBUCEREEZRER
B A R%36,521,000LE REE —
E—RAFF+ A=+ —HILEFEZLE
BERRAER) °
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

134

16. % EBERKRE

Transportation
Buildings Furniture and
heldfor ~ Leasehold Plantand ~ Computer and motor ~ Construction
ownuse improvements Pipelines ~ machinery  equipment  equipment vehicles  in progress Total
KEER Bg EHIE
2BF  RBIR EE HERER  EERE GERRE kRE  RRIR &3t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB' 000 RMB'000
AR¥TL  ARBTR  ARETR  ARETR  AR%Tn ARMTR ARBTR  ARETR  ARMTR
Cost R
At 1 January 2015 R=E-1%5-5-8 132,389 638 162,724 587,876 299 2441 3,128 17,718 1039213
Acquiston of subsidaries B A (H3)

(Note 34) 33910 - - 4817 - 5 17 666 39,566
Addtions hE = - - 2,569 17 151 2618 62,754 68,109
Transfer from constructonin #£ A TEH,

progress 5047 - 6,604 A48 - - - (36,369) -
Disposals & (15,104) - - - - - (1,551) - (16,65)
Bxchangeadustments  EXEE - 3 - - 2 6 8 - 183
At 31 December 2015and 1 H=E-1E+-B=1-R

January 2016 RZF-7E-A- 156,742 675 169,328 619,480 318 2,654 36,400 144,769 1,130,366
Addtfons E 1,152 930 - 1302 - 3 3118 3146 9,959
Transfer from constructionin #£ R T EH,

progress - - 9,337 - - - - (9,337) -
Disposals = - - - - - - (3479 = (3479
Bxchangeadustments B % - i - - 2 7 110 = 166
At 31 December 2016 RZF-"ETZA=1-A 157,804 1652 178,66 620,782 320 2972 36,149 138,578 1,137,012
Accumulated depreciation Z3HTERE(E

and impairment
At 1 January 2015 R=2-1F-A-H 5,017 638 15,882 102,854 20 1885 19830 - 166,336
Charge for the year REERH 5,956 I} 8,293 55,568 » Vi) 4450 - 74,582
Impaiment loss REEE 54,772 = 5119 23,554 = = 687 7,204 92,086
Witien back on disposals £ (2,084) - - - - - (1379 = (3407)
Bxchangeadustments ~ EREE - 13 - - 2 6 67 - 8
At 31 December 2015and 1 R=B-RE+Zf=1-8

January 2016 R=8-nE-A-H 83,711 675 29,954 181976 m 2183 23,661 7,204 329,685
Charge for the year AEESH 8,048 28 9454 57,387 2 25 4687 - 80,080
Witien back on disposals ~ (HEEE - - - - - - (1,610) - (1,610)
Bxchangeadustments ~ ERHE - 4 - - 2 7 84 - 140
At 31 Decerber 2016 RZE-rE+ZA=1-A 91,759 980 39,408 239,363 204 2375 26,820 7,204 408,29
Carrying amount REE
At31December2016  R=Z-REtZA=t-H 66,135 672 139,257 361,419 2% 597 9,321 131,284 128117
At 31 December 2015 RZF-RF+ZA=1-A 73,031 - 130374 437,504 47 511 12,789 187,475 800,681
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

Notes:

)

(i)

(i)

(iv)

The buildings held for own use are situated on land held under
medium-term leases in the PRC.

The pipelines of the Group are located in the PRC.

At 31 December 2016, the Group’s building held for own use and
plant and machinery with carrying amount of approximately
RMB57,301,000 (before impairment) (2015: RMB60,447,000 before
impairment) and RMB76,721,000 (before impairment) (2015:
RMB87,222,000 before impairment) respectively were pledged.

The carrying amount of the Group’s assets held under finance
leases at 31 December 2016 of approximately RMB76,721,000
(before impairment) (2015: RMB87,222,000 before impairment)
was included in plant and machinery and approximately
RMB601,000 (2015: Nil) was included in transportation and
motor vehicles.

=

16. W% > HBERRE 2

GEE

) FEERAZEFURETERTHE
MFB L E -

i) AEEZEBLRTE -

iy RZT—R"E+ZA=+—H =K
SEBFERAZETFTURHEES R
W2 BREE S B4 A R #57,301,000
TORER (Z2—FFE: ARK
60,447,0007C R ERT)) R AR
76,721,000 CRkERI) (ZE—H
& AR #87,222,0007T CRL{EAT))
B -

ivy RZETE—R"F+ZA=+—H =K
SEREBREMEFFEZEEZR
EE# AR #76,721,0007T CRIERT)
(ZZ—1F : AR®87,222,0007T
CRERT)) That AMESE R - B4
AR#EB01,0000 (ZE—FHF - &)
ST A & TE -
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17. PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS

The carrying amount of the Group’s prepaid land lease

17. At €

AEEREHOTRANLHES 2K

payments is analysed as follows: HESFAT ;
2016 | 2015
—B-REF —EhEF
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR¥ T AR®ETF T
Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—HZE@EE 36,800 33,499
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 34) W BE BT 8 2 &) (P 5E34) - 11,390
Amortisation for the year AN F S H (863) (591)
Disposals e = (7,498)
Carrying amount at 31 December Rt A=+—HZzE@E 35,937 36,800
Less: Current portion - BVERER (D (863) (863)
Non-current portion JERNEREB 15 35,074 35,937

T+ S R ERARE  H
IR E -

The prepaid land lease payments are held under medium-term
leases and situated in the PRC.

R-ZE—RE+=-A=+—8 K&
EEMLTBEe 7 EREEOARK
17,192,000 (ZZE—HF : AR
17,609,0007T) B JEHE R -

At 31 December 2016, the Group’s prepaid land lease
payments with a carrying amount of approximately
RMB17,192,000 (2015: RMB17,609,000) were pledged.

HE-_ZT—XRE+_A=+—HI=F
E# T B ARE154,000T (=
—RF: AR¥154,000T) R AR
709,000t ( ZZE—HF : ARK
437,00070) D RIRZEEBE KR ZHE
BN R 1T S P BR o

The amortisation charges for the year ended 31 December
2016 of approximately RMB154,000 (2015: RMB154,000) and
RMB709,000 (2015: RMB437,000) are included in cost of sales
and administrative expenses respectively in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.
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For the year ended 37 December 2076 2 —ZF— NFE+— H=+—HI-F/F

18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 18. BILEE
Operating
Exclusive license for
right for liquefied
piped natural coalbed gas
gas operation logistics Total
EERARR BILEER @t
ER2BREN MREELR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T R AR®T R AR®T R

Cost AR
At 1 January 2015, RZE—RF—H—RH"
31 December 2015 and 2016 ZE-AFRZF-R
F+-A=+—H 334,811 97,300 432,111
Accumulated amortisation Rt #ERRE
and impairment
At 1 January 2015 RZE—H¥—A—H 197,672 92,778 290,450
Impairment loss (Note 15) FEEE (M15) 132,238 2,147 134,385
Amortisation for the year INE 4,901 2,375 7,076
At 31 December RZE-—RAFR_E—RF
2015 and 2016 +=-B=+—H 334,811 97,300 432,111
Carrying amount REE
At 31 December 2015 and 2016 RIBE-RERZE—RE
+=-HA=+—~H - - _
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For the year ended 37 December 2076 gt —E— NE+ = H=+—HIFEZF

18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

138

(a)

(b)

(c)

Exclusive right for piped natural gas
operation in Beiliu City

It represented the exclusive right to operate in gas pipeline
infrastructure and provision of piped natural gas in Beiliu
City, Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region, the PRC and
was amortised as cost of sales on a straight-line basis
over the estimated useful lives of 45 years.

Exclusive right for piped natural gas
operation in Ruyang County

It represented the exclusive right to operate in gas pipeline
infrastructure and provision of piped natural gas in Ruyang
County, Luoyang City, Henan Province, the PRC and was
amortised as cost of sales on a straight-line basis over the
estimated useful lives of approximately 28.5 years.

Operating license for liquefied coalbed gas
logistics

It represented the operating license for liquefied coalbed
gas logistics in the PRC and was amortised as cost of
sales on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful
lives of 5 years.
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(a)

(b)

(c)

18. BEEE (&)

EERmEEEBERARE
BeBRER

ZHENFEET B ERL R B AR
ERTEERRE BERRFEM
REEBRARZIBRER - X
HEHAREERMGAIERFH
A5 RIERIHERAHH -

EAEREEEBERARE
BeBRER

ZAENBBER BN A RE T
R EMREBERREME
HEBRARZBRERN @ L
EREER G AIERFEHD
28.5F M R SHE AN HH

RICKBRYREEDR

ZHREAETELERIERER
MR EBRR  WIRAREE
4 ET A2 A F B R 1E B 81
ERAEE 5 o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao 5 W B ik

For the year ended 37 December 2076 B2 —FE—NFE+—-H=+—HIFFEF

19. DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS 19. Al & RFEM KA

2016 2015
—E-XRE —E-REF
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000

AR®TR ARETT

Warranty money paid for the acquisition ~ FiEtEFAEZHE T
of equipment under finance lease WEREZ N
arrangements (note (i) B2 (FIEEM)) 14,700 14,700

Other deposits for acquisition WhE TR 2
of interests in land (note (ii)) H TS (Bt aEi) 10,462 10,462
Prepayments TR 3B 1,185 1,368

26,347 26,530
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For the year ended 37 December 2076 &2 —F—NF+ - A=+—HIF/E

19. DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

140

Notes:

)

(i)

On 28 January 2015, IIFAMNKIEREIRER GR A A
(transliterated as Shanxi Qinshui Shuntai Energy Development
Company Limited) (“Shanxi Qinshui”) entered into a conditional
finance lease agreement in relation to the sale and lease of
equipments with FEERIETE AR AT (transliterated as CIMC
Capital Ltd.) (“CIMC”) (“2015 Finance Lease Arrangement”),
pursuant to which, (i) Shanxi Qinshui conditionally agreed to sell
and CIMC conditionally agreed to purchase the certain liquefied
natural gas equipment (“Equipments”) for a total consideration of
RMB98,000,000; and (i) Shanxi Qinshui conditionally agreed to
lease from CIMC, and CIMC conditionally agreed to lease to
Shanxi Qinshui, the Equipments for a total lease consideration of
RMB114,836,400 for a term of 36 months by monthly
installments inclusive of interest, with a lump sum handling fee in
the sum of RMB980,000. The lease consideration may be
adjusted according to the floating lending interest rate to be
promulgated by PBC from time to time. Shanxi Qinshui shall pay
an amount of RMB14,700,000 as warranty money to CIMC. The
2015 Finance Lease Arrangement constituted a major transaction
on the part of the Company under the GEM Listing Rules. The
2015 Finance Lease Arrangement was approved by the
shareholders by way of ordinary resolution at the special general
meeting of the Company held on 30 March 2015. During the year
ended 31 December 2016, Shanxi Qinshui entered into a
supplemental agreement to extend the term for a further 12
months.

The balance represents deposits paid by the Group for the
acquisition of interests in land located in the PRC which will be
held for own use under operating leases.
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19.

e RFEANRE )

GEX

)

(i)

RZZE—RF—A=Z+ B LA
WKIEZRGERERAR AR (NUFA
LK) B E R EREE T L
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BEEFRIERARZLME ([RHE] -
@R (B A AR #98,000,0007T i &
(i) WK B EERE R R SEEA
R EAGERE R LA KEE
BRE O BEEREARAREK
114,836,400t * A& Hi361E A (& A
SENER BEMNE)  BN—2£R
FEB S L ARMO80,0005T - FAE
REATREFBEARRITTEEM
MEFHEEMERIELFAE - LED
KZAR P & X AR 14,700,000
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Bl —T-—hERERSEHEARENX
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ak 05 B Wik

For the year ended 37 December 2076 # 2 —F

20. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

—NFTZHA=1—HIFFE

20. A RARIFEMB LR ZFE

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at RZEBE—RF+_A=+—H &AARQ
31 December 2016 are as follows: AEEMBARIZFHBET :
Proportion of
ownership interest
WL bl
Place of Particulars of issued
incorporation/ and paid-up share Group’s
establishment/ [registered effective
Name of subsidiary operations capital interest ~ Direct Indirect Principal activities
HMERL/
RItE/ BRORMMS ¥ 3|
(il PR LEBY RE/ERERFE EREE ER BE IEER
A ERE R E AR A PRC Registered capital of 100%  100% - Investment holding
(transliterated as Shanxi G HK$85,000,000 REER
Yangcheng Shuntai Energy FMER
Development Company Limited) 85,000,000 7T
(“Shanxi Yangcheng Shuntai”)
(notes (a) and (g))
(ML ERHIER])
(M ke)
Shanxi Qinshui PRC Registered capital of 100% 100% - Manufacture and sales
(notes (a) and (d)) iF HK$240,000,000 of liquefied coalbed
WAL K (e R(d) B 240,000,000 7T gas
EERHERILEER
BERLARRERLA PRC Registered capital of 97.5% - 975%  Sales of piped natural
(transliterated as i RMB20,000,000 gas and provision of
Guangyxi Beilu Gas FHER gas supply connection
Company Limited) (note (b)) A&%20,000,0007 services
(P (b)) HEBBANR RIREM
RS RS
Hebei Shuntai (note (a)) PRC Registered capital of 100%  100% - Sales of liquefied
L IEZR (3k) E RMB87,280,000 coalbed gas
HMER HERILEER
AR%87,280,0007C
LWEEZMRERA PRC Registered capital of 83% - 83%  Provision of liquefied
(transliterated as i RMB60,000,000 coalbed gas logistics
Shanxi Wanzhi FHER services
Logistics Limited) AR 60,000,007 RERIEER
(“Wanzhi Logistics”) (note (c) W AR
(r&xmin ) (Hike)

ZE-AEFH HEEEREEERLF
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For the year ended 37 December 2076 &2 —F—NF+ - A=+—HIF/E

20. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 20. AAREFEMB AR ZFHE

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (&)

(Continued)

Proportion of
ownership interest
b b

Place of Particulars of issued

incorporation/ and paid-up share Group’s

establishment/ Iregistered effective

Name of subsidiary operations capital interest  Direct Indirect Principal activities

HRARL/

Rt/ BRARMM r58

WEARER LERY RE/EMERFEE BERER B BE IEER

Hong Kong Chung Wo Energy Hong Kong HK$1 100% - 100% Investment holding
Investments Limited Bk BT REER

AR M REEREBRAR

BEEAERERAF PRC Registered capital of 100% - 100%  Sales of natural gas
(transliterated as Luoyang i HK$60,000,000 RAARHE
Shunhe Energy Company Limited) HHEA
(“Luoyang Shunhe”) (note (o)) 60,000,000 7
(IBEEIER ) (M3E0)

GG EG N RE RO A PRC Registered capital of 60% - 60% Exploration,
(transliterated as i RMB30,000,000 development and
Yangcheng Hulyang New FHER production of coalbed
Energy Development AR #30,000,0007C methane
Company Limited) 0iR - FAER
(“Yangcheng Huiyang”) (note (b)) EERER
W UIGE )

BHEEZEREEERAR PRC Registered capital of 100% - 100% Gas distrioution
(transliterated as i RMB10,000,000 RARAH
Yangcheng Shun An FHER
Gathering Pipeline A&%10,000,0007
Company Limited) (note (a))

(M)

BEBIBERERA A PRC Registered capital of 100% - 100% Sales of liquefied
(transliterated as i RMB1,000,000 coalbed gas
Xian Country Lun Shun Ralig- RILEEREE
Energy Development AR #1,000,00070
Company Limited) (note (a))

(MzHa)
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Ao A5 W Bl ek

For the year ended 37 December 2076 2 —ZF— NFE+— H=+—HI-F/F

20. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

20. ARRFEMB LR ZHE

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (4&)
(Continued)
Proportion of
ownership interest
WL bl
Place of Particulars of issued
incorporation/ and paid-up share Group’s
establishment/ Iregistered effective
Name of subsidiary operations capital interest  Direct Indirect Principal activities
HMAL/
RABE,/ BRARMM ¥ |
WEARER LEny RE/ERERFE ERESs  EE B TEEER
HEES B TREMEERLE  PRC Registered capital of 100% - 100% Manufacturing and sales
(transliterated as Nuoxin (Xian i RMB47,564,900 of PE gas pipelines
County) Engineering Materials FER HERBERLE
Company Limited) (“Nuoxin AR 47 564,9007C HREE
Engineering”)
(E3H)
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For the year ended 37 December 2076 &2 —F—NF+ - A=+—HIF/E

20. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 20. ARBRFTEMB AT 2B

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(Continued)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results or
assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would,
in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive

(#&)

BEERRLEARAFIMNBRABAA/EE
FEAKREREREES - EFRR
RUEEMHBARZFIFEEHRR
BRITE e

length.
Notes: Pt
(@)  Registered under the laws of the PRC as a wholly-owned foreign (@ WBREFBIEEIAMABINGBEERE -

enterprise.

(b)  Registered under the laws of the PRC as a limited liability (o) WBEFBZEIMABREERLE -
enterprise.

©)  Registered under the laws of the PRC as a Sino-foreign equity © WBEFRBEEEFMATIINEEDRSE -
joint venture.

(d)  The registered capital of Shanxi Qinshui was HK$300,000,000, @) W7 K Z FE | E A A300,000,000
of which HK$240,000,000 (2015: HK$240,000,000) has been 7 7T+ B #240,000,0008 T (=&
paid up as at 31 December 2016. — A4 : 240,000,000/ ) E R =

T-R"FE+tZA=+—B&-
(e) The registered capital of Shanxi Yangcheng Shuntai was @ WaEBRIERzZFME RS

HK$300,000,000, of which HK$85,000,000 (2015:
HK$85,000,000) has been paid up as at 31 December 2016.

The Group had no subsidiaries which have material
non-controlling interests for the years ended 31 December
2016 and 2015.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
w3 WG A B ik

For the year ended 37 December 2076 B2 —FE—NFE+—-H=+—HIFFEF

21. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

21 ROV EFABEZEZ2EME
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS E

2016 2015
AP S —T—ARF
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR® TR AREEFIT
Financial assets at fair value through AT EFABHRZ S REE -
profit or loss:
— Unlisted investment fund outside — BABBIELTREES
Hong Kong 200 200
22. INVENTORIES 22. €
(@) Inventories in the consolidated statement of (@) REEMBRARAZTFE
financial position comprise: BE:
2016 2015
—E-XEF —T—RF
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR® TR AREFIT
Raw materials JR#4 # 6,003 5,477
Finished goods 2K o 2,112 2,575
8,115 8,052

(b) The analysis of the amount of inventories

b)) EERABIWFTABRZ

recognised as an expense and included in GFESHE2IWHMT :
profit or loss is as follows:
2016 2015
—E-AE —E—RHF
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR¥TR ARBETT
Cost of inventories sold BEEFEEZHRA 132,301 205,950

—EAEER TEEEREEARLIF
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For the year ended 37 December 2076 gt —E— NE+ = H=+—HIFEZF

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

146

23. FE W BR K e H At B W R IR

2016 2015
ZE-RF —T—hF
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR%BT ARETT
Trade receivables JrE Lk BR 3R 17,603 16,950
Less: Allowance for doubtful debts B REREE (13,257) (7,744)
4,346 9,206
Bills receivable R 3,193 745
Other receivables H A i U FR0E 22,328 17,784
Amount due from a related JiE W A 58 1 R RIE
company (note 39(b)(i) (B 5E39(0)() 3,730 7,261
Loans and receivables ER & EWFRIA 33,597 34,996
Advances to suppliers ) 4t P P B K 1,840 4,081
Prepayment relating to construction ~ E2ERFEZ AR 2
expenses AT FRIR 49,248 42,828
Other prepayments H b TERIE 9,904 25,715
Value-added tax recoverable AT I E R 5,696 4,152
100,285 111,772

All of the trade and other receivables are expected to be
recovered or recognised as expenses within one year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Ao A5 W Bl ek

For the year ended 37 December 2076 B2 —FE—NFE+—-H=+—HIFFEF

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

23. EWERA R EMEWRRIE &)

(Continued)
(@) Ageing analysis (@ HRERDH
As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis R (REZBBEEIRR
of the trade receivables, based on invoice date and net of IREE) R EEAR Z R DT
allowance for doubtful debts, is as follows: [N
[ 2016 | 2015
—E—XREF —E—RHF
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR® T AR®ET T
Within 1 month 118 A K 3,078 5,500
More than 1 month but 18 A & {B31# A A
less than 3 months 428 1,602
More than 3 months but 38 A& 1E6@A N
less than 6 months - 995
More than 6 months but 618 A& 181218 A A
less than 12 months - 587
More than 12 months 1216 A 1& 840 522
4,346 9,206
The Group generally allows credit period of 30 to 180 REBE—MR4 T EFP30E180H
days to its customers. The Group may, on a case by case FEH AEEARGERERR
basis and after evaluation of the business relationship and RETEEBARREEE EBE
creditworthiness, extend the credit period upon the FEXEREER-
customers’ requests.
(b) Impairment of trade receivables (b) PEULRRFR 2Rl (B

Impairment losses in respect of trade debtors are
recorded using an allowance account unless the Group is
satisfied that recovery of the amount is remote, in which
case the impairment loss is written off against trade
debtors directly (see note 2 ())).

ZE-AEFH HEEEREEERLF

FEM SRR BB B 1R T 5R R B A
ARADER - MEACSR BE A IR 5R0R
B R BE ME AR B RR SN - LB R
T OREE IR E & R R R
85 (R EE2() ©
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For the year ended 37 December 2076 &2 —F— NF+ - A=+—HIF/E

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 23. EWER R H b FE W5k I8 ()
(Continued)
(b) Impairment of trade receivables (Continued) b) FEWERFRZBE#)
The movement in the allowance for doubtful debts for FAREWBRRZ RIFE G 2 &
trade receivables during the year is as follows: N
[ 2016 | 2015
—E—ARE “E—RF
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000

AR®TR ARETTT

At 1 January n—HA—H 7,744 5,353

Impairment loss recognised BRI EESE 5,513 2,391

At 31 December W+=—A=+—~” 13,257 7,744

At 31 December 2016, the Group’s trade receivables of RZZE—R"F+=ZA=+—H"
approximately RMB13,257,000 (2015: RMB7,744,000) AEBZERERODEARE
were individually determined to be impaired. The 13,257,000 (ZZE—HF : A
individually impaired receivables related to customers that R ®7,744,0007T) JHERIEE A
were in financial difficulties and management assessed AR © Bl RE 2 B WUk T8 ER A
that the receivables were not recoverable. Consequently, AV BRERFHERH BEE
specific allowance for doubtful debts were recognised. fhEt B EEWFIENTKE -

Rt - B RERFERET R EAE -

The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit N [ I 4 B 5% 5 H M E SR IR
enhancement over their other receivable balances. EHRBETNERRIEMEE

WHRTH
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Ao A5 W Bl ek

For the year ended 37 December 2076 B2 —FE—NFE+—-H=+—HIFFEF

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(Continued)

(c) Trade receivables that are not impaired

The ageing analysis of trade receivables that are neither

23. EWERA R EMEWRRIE &)

(c)

7R 3k AEL P L BR K

1R 88 A o 18 Bl B FL RRLE O 8 U

individually nor collectively considered to be impaired are RSN ZEREE DA -
as follows:

[ 2016 | 2015
—E—RE —E—TE
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR® T ARBFTT
Neither past due nor impaired R H R ARRE 3,069 8,097
Less than 1 month past due wER D P1E A 380 476
1 to 3 months past due B ER1Z=3ME A 29 =
Over 3 months past due %60 HA 8 48 31E A 868 633
1,277 1,109
4,346 9,206

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate
to a wide range of customers for whom there was no
recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired related
to independent customers that have a good track record
with the Group. Based on past experience, management
believed that no impairment allowance was necessary in
respect of this balance as there has not been a significant
change in credit quality and the balances are still
considered fully recoverable. The Group did not hold any
collateral over these balances.

ZE-AEFH HEEEREEERLF

R Ko AR B H) USRI &
RERF  %EFRFPRIOYVER
RACER ©

E 28 BB 1) AR ORL(E 2 FE Wk IR
RAREHER RIFEAREZE
VYEFPER REBELR '
BEEMEEHREEERLEEAN
g  BEBERDRESAZ
gk m - MBAARARIEL
AR - NEE W E X T
PRI A A E RS -
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24.

150

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

24. RERREEED

[ 2016 | 2015
—E-REF —ZT—hF
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000

AR®TR ARETTT

Cash and cash equivalents ReRRSFEY
— Cash at bank and in hand — RITERFERE

20,534 45,437

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and cash
equivalents of the Group denominated in RMB amounted to
approximately RMB17,419,000 (2015: RMB33,565,000). RMB
is not freely convertible into other currencies, however, under
the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange
RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct
foreign exchange business.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ak 05 B Wik

For the year ended 37 December 2076 2 —ZF— NFE+— H=+—HI-F/F

25. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 25. P AR AR I H At FE A5 7RIE

2016 | 2015
ZE-RF —ET-hF
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR®T R ARETT
Trade payables FETER X 160,236 130,059
Amounts due to directors JE 1~ E = 3R (M 5E39(b)(i))
(note 39(b)(i) 13,738 14,628
Amounts due to non-controlling FETB B A B 2 FEFERR AR R
shareholders of subsidiaries FRI8 (B 5E39(b)(i))
(note 39(b)(ii)) 6,451 7,497
Accrued expenses and FE &R 2 K B b FE S 3RIE
other payables 52,595 33,838
Payables for acquisition of property,  UBEHZE - #EE &
plant and equipment X ERT IR 138,062 157,642
Financial liabilities measured at REEKAFEZCRAE
amortised cost 371,082 343,664
Deposits received from customers BESSI G 10,019 16,937
Value-added and 0B B N H b pE R IE
other taxes payables 1,826 4,153
382,927 364,754
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For the year ended 37 December 2076 gt —E— NE+ = H=+—HIFEZF

25. FEAY BRFR I ELfth B Y RKIH (42)

RB|ERR - BAERREZEH)

25. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of the

trade payables, based on invoice date, is as follows: ZERESNIT
2016 | 2015
—EB-XF —E—HRF
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR®T R ARETT
Within 1 month 11&8 A K 3,294 4,002
More than 1 month but less than 3 &8 A& B3 AR
months 447 244
More than 3 months but less than 6 31 A & 1B61E A K
months - 59,291
More than 6 months but less than 12 618 A & 1E1218 A K
months 155,688 65,985
More than 12 months 1218 A & 807 537
160,236 130,059

The trade and other payables are expected to be settled or FERNBE R R E e FOBFEER A —
recognised as income within one year or are repayable on FEREEHERAR A BIZREKE
demand. Eo
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For the year ended 37 December 2076 2 —ZF— NFE+— H=+—HI-F/F

26. OTHER BORROWINGS

26. HAth &K

2016 |

2015

—E-REF —T—AF

RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000

AR¥ T ARETT

Unsecured other loans EEAEMER 40,080 43,080

Analysed as: 2kin' (N

Amount due within 1 year shown under B & & T —F R E| 8 2 38

current liabilities 40,080 43,080

Notes: B3
Unsecured other loans represent loans due to non-controlling
shareholders of PRC subsidiaries of the Group and bear interest at
fixed rates ranging from 7.12% to 11.50% (2015: 7.12% to 11.50%)
per annum. Interest expenses on unsecured other loans to
non-controlling shareholders of the subsidiaries amounted to
approximately RMB2,122,000 (2015: RMB2,506,000) to Chengrong
Investment (Note 39) and amounted to approximately RMB1,503,000
(2015: RMB1,588,000) to Yangcheng Yangtai (Note 39) were charged
to profit or loss within “finance costs” during the year ended 31
December 2016.

EXFHEMBEREEMAEEFENBER
RIERB R ZER BN TFF7.12%
E11.50% (ZFB—FHE : 712%%11.50%)
ZEEFMEE - MM B AR IEEBRIRR
BEIE (M 5E39) &FZ b5 2 (M3E39)
R BRBEBERZAEREZ DA
#AREE2122000c (ZE—HF : AR
#2,506,0007T) & #) A R #1,503,0007T
—T—FF: AR¥1,588,0007T) BB
HE_Z—RE+-A=+—BLEEH
BERIRNZBEMNE -
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27. OBLIGATIONS UNDER FINANCE LEASES  27. Bt &L & IE

At 31 December 2016, the Group had obligations under finance RZE—RNF+—_A=+—"8" K&
leases repayable as follows: BT EENMNREHE L AE
[ 2016 ] 2015
—E-REF —T—Hh
Present Present
value of value of
the Total the Total
minimum minimum minimum minimum
lease lease lease lease
payments payments payments payments

REEE REHEE ®EHE HEMEE
NRNERE GESE NHERE (g8t
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
ARBT R ARBTR ARBETT ARBETTT

Within 1 year 1R 19,933 23,479 31,985 37,675
After 1 year but within 1% B2FR
2 years 21,800 23,337 35,210 37,675
After 2 years but within 2F B ESFER
5 years 3,826 3,871 6,205 6,280
45,559 50,687 73,400 81,630

Less: Total future interest 33 = R H B
expenses FkE] (5,128) (8,230)

Present value of lease A RENIRE

obligations 45,559 73,400
The Group leases certain equipment for its operations under the REEREMERYTHREE TR
finance lease arrangements as detailed in note 19. These leases ERRERLE  FIESNHIEF19 -0
are classified as finance leases and have remaining lease term ZERG TS EAREEY R
of 26 (2015: 26) months. HIm2efEl A (ZF—01F : 26f@8A) -
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28. CONVERTIBLE BONDS

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Company
issued HK$ denominated zero-coupon convertible bonds with
principal amount of HK$21,238,440 as part of the consideration
for acquisition of the Nuoxin Engineering Group (Note 34). The
convertible bonds have a maturity period of 5 years from the
issue date and are (i) convertible at the option of the bondholder
into 94,142,021 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the capital
of the Company at a conversion price of HK$0.2256 per share.

The convertible bonds contain two components: liability and
equity elements. The equity element on initial recognition
amounted to RMB10,544,000 was presented in equity as part
of the “convertible bonds reserve”. The effective interest rate of
the liability component of the convertible bonds on initial
recognition was 23.4% per annum.

No convertible bonds were converted during the years ended

31 December 2015 and 2016.

The movement of the liability component of the convertible
bonds for the year is set out below:

28. ATARKRESH

BHE-_Z—AF+-_A=+—HILF
BN AREETABITEHE A2
R 4) 521,288,440 o 2 T E AR
B UMERKEBEREEE 2 MR
B (M15E34) - IR EH B #/THH
REAFER BESFFEAMNESE
R B T R%0.2256/8 T A A D
ARATEREMEC.O1HE T
94,142,021 )8 L% -

AMRESBEMELH BERE
HEMD c ISR EI I DO AEA
K ¥10,544,0007C © I iEz A5 1E[ 7]
BmRESFHE] 2 — 0D VP HER
RABRRESBENRS 2cERFHX
5523.4% ©

REE_Z—AHER_T—RE+=
A=+—BItFE BEBERES
JEBE o

AMEEFABESORFAZEEH
UM

2016 |

2015

—B-REF —EThF

RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000

AR®T R AR®ET T

At 1 January R—HA—H 6,304 =
Issued during the year FAB BT - 6,173
Effective interest expense charged ENBRCERMERXS 1,504 77
Exchange difference E N ZE 508 54
At 31 December W+=—HA=+—H” 8,316 6,304
—E—AREFR FEEEBREEARAT 155
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29.

156

PROVISION 29. &
2016 2015
—E-XRF —T—hF
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR®T T ARETT
At 1 January R—H—H 6,612 4,546
Provision for the year NEFERME 3,224 2,959
Amount utilised for the year RNFEEEA 2 HIE (1,178) (893)
At 31 December R+—A=+—H 8,658 6,612

The provision for production safety has been determined by the
directors to meet the production safety standards.

CHINA CBM GROUP COMPANY LIMITED Annual Report 2016

SEZEREBEIRESETE  UFA
TEZEEE-



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ak 05 B Wik
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30. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 30. REMBMRRERAZMEH
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

T . i 3
Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised ERRZBELEHREERAR
The components of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognised in KRE IS IR R P R HE T BIA &
= S AN ~ 7=t
the consolidated statement of financial position and the E\/(E\{E\) Z 5 RERF A E B
movements during the year are as follows: IO :
Fair value
adjustment
on prepaid
lease

Fairvalue  payments  Fair value
adjustment forland  adjustment

on property, under on
plantand  operating intangible Convertible Withholding
equipment leases assets bonds tax Others Total
L LRI

nx #% Riiw
&P By HVEEZ
AVERE ATERE AVERE TRRES BH it h)
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000
ARBTR AR®TR AR®TR ARRTn ARRTn AR®TR ARRTR

A1 January 2015 R-Z-FE-A-A 10 69 (35419 - B 519 (62649
Creditedl{charged) to A/ (ke s

oroft orloss (119 6 %415 13 994 % 3601
Charged to equity Theks - - - (1,892) - - (1,892)
Acouisition of subsidlaries WENBLE

(Note 34) (Fza4) (3577) (1,924) - - - = (5,501)
Exchange differences ERES - - - (15) = =
At 31 December 2015 and RZE-RF+-A=1-H

1 January 2016 R-Z-AE-A-A 6685 (49 Ss BI 083 (13.456)
Credted to proft or loss HABR 179 5 = 248 1206 = 1692
Exchange differences EiZE - - - (121) - = (121)
At 31 December 2016 R-Z-xE-A-B 3508 (2439 - 0% (38%) 83  (11,885)
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30. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised
(Continued)

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for
financial reporting purposes:

30. A& MR R A ZFTEH

(%)
EHRIACELEHAEERERE
(%)

TH AR @R E S R
TRAERR DT

[ 2016 | 2015
—E—XEF —ET—RF
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000

ARBT T ARETT

Deferred tax assets recognised in RERE B IR R MR
the consolidated statement of ZIRETHIRE E
financial position - 58
Deferred tax liabilities recognised in the 4R & B #4540 3 R #E R
consolidated statement of financial ZIEEHIBAE
position (11,885) (13,514)
(11,885) (13,456)

Deferred tax assets not recognised

At 31 December 2016, the Group has not recognised deferred
tax assets in respect of estimated cumulative tax losses carried
forward of approximately RMB108 million (2015: RMB50 million)
is due to expire within 1 to 5 years under the current tax
legislation for offsetting against future taxable profits of the
Group in which the losses arise. The cumulative tax losses have
not been recognised as a deferred tax asset as it is not
probable that future taxable profits against which the losses can
be utilised will be available in the relevant tax jurisdiction and
entity.
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31. CAPITAL AND RESERVES 31. EX KRB
(@ Authorised and issued share capital (@ ZEREBRITRAE
[ 2016 ] 2015
—E-RE —T-RHF
Number of Number of
shares Amount shares Amount
RHEE -] fr 2B x|
’000 RMB’000 000 RMB'’ 000
TR AR%Txn T ARETFT
Authorised ordinary shares of FREEO1IET
HK$0.01 each: ZIETEE B
At 1 January and 31 December R—A—BkK
+=—A=1+—H 20,000,000 174,064 20,000,000 174,064
Issued and fully paid — Ordinary ERITRHE
shares of HK$0.01 each: — R HEE0.01
BT TR
At 1 January m—A—H 1,319,484 10,910 1,141,480 9,432
Issue of consideration shares BITRERD - - 178,004 1,478
At 31 December ®R+=—A=+—H 1,319,484 10,910 1,319,484 10,910

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive
dividends as declared from time to time and entitled to
one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All
ordinary shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s
residual assets.

On 12 December 2015, the Company issued 178,004,166
ordinary shares of HK0.01 each to Mr. Wang as part of
the consideration for the Nuoxin Engineering Acquisition
during the year ended 31 December 2015 (Note 34).

BRERHEAGRKBTREIR
ZERBERARREZLEZRE
B—RRERE - AL BRY
ARAZRBREEDZFHABEHE

s o

H

RZZF—RAF+=ZA+=H K
~ A B MmELEE BT
178,004,166/% & % M {H0.01%
T2 TR - MERRFERNETT
W EREEE 2B HRE (K
#£34) °

ZE-AEFH HEEEREEERLF 159



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 0 W5 A WY ik

For the year ended 37 December 2076 &2 —F—NF+ - A=+—HIF/E

31. CAPITAL AND RESERVES

160

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves

(@i

(i)

(i

Share premium
The application of share premium account is
governed by the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda.

General reserve

According to the relevant laws and regulations in the
PRC, each of the PRC subsidiaries is required to
appropriate at least 10% of its after-tax profit (after
offsetting prior years’ losses), based on the PRC
statutory financial statements prepared in
accordance with the generally accepted accounting
principles (“GAAP”) and financial regulations
applicable to PRC enterprises, to the general reserve
until the balance of the fund reaches 50% of the
PRC subsidiary’s registered capital. Thereafter, any
further appropriation can be made at the directors’
discretion.

The general reserve fund can be utilised to offset the
prior years’ losses, or be utilised to increase the
capital on the condition that the general reserve shall
be maintained at a minimum of 25% of the registered
capital after such increase.

Share options reserve

The share options reserve comprises the portion of
the grant date fair value of unexercised share options
granted to executive directors, employees and
consultants of the Group that has been recognised
in accordance with the accounting policy adopted
for share-based payments in note 2 (p)(ii).
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31. EXRfRE
EEZMEERE®N

(b)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

R A7 818

B EERZEAXZBR
ZERBDE (A N\—F)
e e

—REE
RIBEFRE@EERER
EFEKBARNKER
TFEEEEEZ  BAREIR
AREFRATAREE
RAD RPBEPEEAZ
MIEROI R R BEE
MBmE  BERT R
FEHZD10%EE — R
fFE EEEsoitnE
BB AR FEMRER
Z50% A1k °

Hig BEFABIBREE
HAE R RRINE R - — AR
B AEERHEBEFE
BRI AEEMmER
HEIBINE ANE - —REHE
AEBIDOREMEARZ
25% °

BREMRE
BREREERR TAE
BHiTES EELEH
HIARTTRE AR ER R L A
HAFEHe zHBne
AR AR B SE2(p) (i) BT 3t A R
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31. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

(c)

Translation reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation of
the financial statements of foreign operations. The
reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policy set out in note 2(u).

(iv)

(v) Convertible bonds reserve
The convertible bonds reserve represent the value of
unexercised equity component of convertible bonds
issued by the Company. The reserve is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policy set out in
note 2(m).

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and
to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost
of capital.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its
capital structure to maintain a balance between the higher
shareholders returns that might be possible with higher
levels of borrowings afforded by a sound capital position,
and makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of
changes in economic conditions. In order to maintain or
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the
amount of dividends paid to shareholders, issue new
shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of
total debt to equity. Total debt comprises the Group’s
other borrowings and obligations under finance leases as
shown in the consolidated statement of financial position.
Equity comprises equity attributable to equity shareholders
of the Company as shown in the consolidated statement
of financial position.

ZE-AEFH HEEEREEERLF

31. EXRRRE 2
b FEZ2EERENE)

(c)

(iv) BERHE
REFEBEREmERE
NEBTEBRREEZE
HEBE BMEFBRRBN
TUFTEL . EETBURRRIE ©

(v) FIRREZHE
AR EFHEEART
BITH A BRBESFRRTT
EHEm B 2 EE - %
WARB M T2m) e e
ATBRBEIE ©

ERER

AEEEREARAZ T ERIERHE
RAKBERELE 2L - A
RERBHER AR FREER
REBEARBEE KA

AEEESRY F R REEA
BARGRE  NEEFRESKRR
O] ¥R E2 A2 42 B AR Al A 2 B
=EEKFEZEREFE XA
BB BBEENEREIE
B ANEEFREFEIRN TR
ZEREEER  BITHRIHESR
B DARUE(E S

AEBENEREHEREERR
HEXRER -RAGBBEARE
ZERITREMETRIARBERL
AYE (ERA MR RAR) -
B EE AR BEERRENE
& (MR E M BARERFIR) -
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31.

162

CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

31. EXKRE#E

(c) Capital management (Continued) © BEXEE#E)
The total debt to equity ratio as at 31 December 2016 and N-E—REN-_ZE—FHFE+—
2015 are as follows: A=+—HBzRaEHERt=X
s
2016 | 2015
—E-XEF —ET—hF
Notes RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
B 5 AR®T T ARETT
Other borrowings H th {8 5K 26 40,080 43,080
Obligations under finance BE R E AE
leases 27 45,559 73,400
Convertible bonds Al R (5 5 28 8,316 6,304
Total debt maE 93,955 122,784
Equity attributable to equity AN A4 55 I% SR FE (H M 25
shareholders of the
Company 432,247 533,133
Total debt to equity ratio mEEHERLE 21.74% 23.03%
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32. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was
adopted pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed by the
shareholders of the Company at the extraordinary general
meeting held on 18 May 2011 and will remain in force for a
period of 10 years. The purpose of the Scheme is to attract and
retain the best available personnel, to provide additional
incentive to employees (full-time and part-time), directors,
consultants and advisers of the Group and to promote the
success of the business of the Group.

(@) The terms and conditions of the grants are

2. UREGEURBHER 2

R5

AR R RT 8 ([3%5 &) ToR
BARRBERNR-_Z——FAA+N
BETHRRFNAE LREERR
BERS UBRTFHREAKER
Mo At SN BRI NBREES
AB BMAKENEE (28 KK
B) BF BEELERAREEIN
BER) - WIREAKRERBEXY

(@) RHEFERREAEDT

as follows:
Number of Contractual life
options  Vesting conditions of options
BRESE BERKH BREGHES
Options granted:
BRHBRE
30 May 2011 27,957,078 Vst immediately 10 years
—F——FHAZtA NEEE 5
30 May 2011 5,696,092  50% are exercisable at any time after the expiry of 1 year from 10 years

the date of grant up to 2 years from the date of grant; and

100% are exercisable at any time after the expiry of 2 years

from the date of grant up to 10 years from the date of offer.
“Z2——FRA=TH 50%RI IR I B BT 1 6F £ X ) B e st 24 HRReIBE T

BE(TEE ¢ R100%AI X B BB EH M2 F E 2 B Bk

stm10F HARIRER 7L

Total share options granted 33,553,170
ERHEREAY
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32. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED 2. UREEEURDABERZ
TRANSACTIONS (continued) RS #E)
(b) The number and weighted average exercise b) BREZHERMEFGT
prices of share options are as follows: EEWE :
The following table discloses movements in the TREBHZE_T—<F+=A
Company’s share options under the Scheme during the =t RLEFEZFTEBETZAR
year ended 31 December 2016: NAEEERREE )
Number of
Period during share options Exercised Lapsed Outstanding at
which share options ~ Exercise price  Outstanding at  granted during during during 31 December
Date of grant are exercisable per share 1 January 2016 the year the year the year 2016
RZB-AE RZB-AF
-A-A ERRE tZB=+-A
REBE BRETTRE  SROKE AT ZBREHE  FREARE FREAN R
HKS
k)
30/5/2011 30/5/2011 - 29/5/2021 381 27,632,328 - - - 27,632,328
30/5/2011 30/5/2012 - 29/5/2021 381 2,243,373 - - - 2,43373
30/5/2011 30/5/2013 - 29/5/2021 381 2,243,373 - - - 2,243,373
32,119,074 - - - 32,119,074
Exercisable
atthe end of year
RERTTE 32,119,074
Weighted average
exercise price (HK9)
IETTRE
(%7 381 - - - 381
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32. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b) The number and weighted average exercise
prices of share options are as follows:
(Continued)

The following table discloses movements in the
Company’s share options under the Scheme during the

2. UREEEURNBERZ

RS )
b BREZEERMNEFEHET

EEWME (&)

TEEEHE—_ZT—RF+—A4
=+ BUHFEZAEEBETIZAK

year ended 31 December 2015: NE B EEE
Number of share QOuistanding at
Period during which share  Exercise price  Outstandingat 1 options granted Exercised Lapsed 31 December
Date of grant options are exercisable pershare  January 2015 duringtheyear  during the year  during the year 2015
RZE-1f WZE-1%F
-A-B  FARitZ TZA=1-H
RitAH BRENTRSE  SROGE A EREER  £AEAE EREXR Afrf
HKS
BT
30/5/2011 30/5/2011 - 29/5/2021 381 27,632,328 - - - 27,632,328
30/5/2011 30/5/2012 - 29/5/2021 381 2,243,373 - - - 2,243,313
30/5/2011 30/5/2013 - 29/6/2021 381 2,243,373 - - - 2,243,373
32,119,074 - - - 32,119,074
Exercisable at the
end of year
RERTTE 32,119,074
Weighted average
exercise price (HK9)
mEFaHEE(Er) 381 - - - 381

No new share options were granted to eligible participants
under the Scheme during the years ended 31 December
2016 and 2015.

No share options were exercised during the years ended
31 December 2016 and 2015.

BE-T AER-F-1F
ToAST-BLEE  BER
Bt EA A RE RERLH
AR -

BE_Z—REFE-_ZE—HF
+-A=t+—BHILFEMEREK
HEETTIE ©
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32. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED 2. UREEEURGAER 2

TRANSACTIONS (continued) R5(E)

(b) The number and weighted average exercise b) BEBREZHE RMEFTT
prices of share options are as follows: EEMT (@)
(Continued)
The options outstanding at 31 December 2016 had an RZE—XRF+-_A=1+—H82
exercise price of HK$3.81 (2015: HK$3.81) and a RITEBARE 2 TEERI.81E
weighted average remaining contractual life of 4.4 (2015: T (ZFE—HF:381%8L)
5.4) years. RN ZINETFIENFE R4

F(ZE—FHFE :545F) «

33. DEFINED CONTRIBUTION RETIREMENT 33. EFEH TR KRG E
PLAN

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the NEBMRERNRESEBIENESES
“MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident BlvEE REFTERFIMELATES:

Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the EEM R E I ATER 8 ([8FE
jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF ®FtEll) - BB EEHBE LGS

Scheme is a defined contribution retirement scheme ANEIE 7 FREMEIGEARETE - B8
administered by independent trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, BeitE EXREEBESEKE
the employer and its employees are each required to make ERBWA Z5%MBEETEIEH
contributions to the MPF Scheme at 5% of the employee’s ®k - = A 2 BB A R &30,000
relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of BT o WD ET I FUS BN B SR R
HK$30,000. Contributions to the MPF Scheme vest 8MA -

immediately.

The Company’s subsidiaries established in the PRC participate ARARRARKL 2B RRIAESE
in a mandatory central pension scheme organised by the PRC T REZLHEHRPTHEBTEY 7 a4
Government for certain of its employees, the assets of which RAURIRE TS ZEtEl 2 EER K
are held separately from those of the Group. Contributions SEEESFRFER - BRiIEZsElZ
made are based on a percentage of the eligible employees’ WA RNEBEZEAEREEBEZH L
salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they become RIERMHE - WHREMERIEZRIG -

payable in accordance with the rules of the scheme. The EEXTHFIRELE L2 EEERES
employer’s contributions vest fully once they are made. A -
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34.

For the year ended 37 December 2076 # 2 —F

DEFINED CONTRIBUTION RETIREMENT
PLAN (Continued)

Under the above schemes, retirement benefits of existing and
retired employees are payable by the relevant scheme
administrators and the Group has no further obligations beyond
the annual contributions.

The aggregate amounts of employer’s contributions by the
Group in respect of retirement benefits schemes dealt with in
profit or loss for the year are disclosed in note 7(a) to these
consolidated financial statements.

The Group does not have any other pension schemes for its
employees in respect of the subsidiaries outside Hong Kong
and the PRC. In the opinion of the directors of the Company,
the Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities as at
31 December 2016 and 2015 in respect of the retirement of its
employees.

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

Year ended 31 December 2015

Pursuant to an acquisition agreement dated 12 October 2015
entered into between Shanxi Yangcheng (as purchaser) and
Mr. Wang (as vendor) (the “Acquisition Agreements”), the Group
acquired from Mr. Wang the entire equity interest in Nuoxin
Engineering for a consideration of RMB50,300,000 (the “Nuoxin
Engineering Acquisition”) which was settled (i) as to
approximately RMB32,900,000 by way of allotment and issue
of 178,004,166 consideration shares, credited as fully paid, at
an issue price of approximately HK$0.2256 per consideration
share; and (ii) as to approximately RMB17,400,000 by way of
issue of convertible bonds in the principal of approximately
HK$21,348,000 convertible up to 94,142,021 conversion
shares at a conversion price of HK$0.2256 per conversion
share.

33.

34.

—~EEH PEEEREERRLF

Ao A5 W Bl ek

—NFTZHA=1—HIFFE

ERHRBRKETE )

Riz Eaist 8 RAELEKER 2R
KENBBEBFEEREAREXN
AEERSFHRFIINLEEGEL -

$$lﬁ RORtE MR 81 2 B £ it
RERFAZBESETERE YER
%?% B FE SRR BT 57 () AR EE -

AEBEY EREE NP EAINIER
Az BB R EMEMERDSETE -
ARRMEERB N_TE—RFR-
Z-AF+RA=+—H XrEEY

mEMSHARBRKZEARAR
&

Lz 5% Bt BB 2 =)
BE-F-AF+t-A=t+-HIL#F
E

BEILAGH (ERE ) BE L4 (1F
BER) VAR AE-T—AF+
A+=ZBz Wiz (TWEHED -
AEBREEERBEHRRE 2 ZER/RA
Bm((HEWESHE])  REAEAR
#50,300,0007T * LA T 575 S E A -
() AR 1TEERRE R DK £0.2256
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34.

168

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Year ended 31 December 2015 (Continued)

Nuoxin Engineering and its subsidiary (collectively referred to as
the “Nuoxin Engineering Group”) is mainly engaged in the
manufacture and sale of PE gas pipeline, metal model in
construction use, mining machine, road compacting machine,
crane and exhaust fan for natural gas.

The Nuoxin Engineering Acquisition constituted a disclosable
and connected transaction on the part of the Company under
the GEM Listing Rules and the ordinary resolution relating
thereto were passed by the shareholders of the Company at a
special general meeting held on 3 December 2015. The Nuoxin
Engineering Acquisition was completed on 11 December 2015.

Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of

34. WEEKMT B~ Al (&)

BE-F-AF+-A=1t—-HLHF
B (&)

AEMEMBAR (RHEIHEEED
TENFHERHEERLBRREE
FRERGZEBEL  REKS
BEBEH - B Ko K IR SR e LA o

BEAIER LR HEWEEE
BRRARR—HATHEERBERS -
BERBTERZREN T —R1F
T AZBRTHREEIAS LE
AARRERBB #HEWESEER
E—RFE+_A+—B%K -

KRB FAREEERCHEREA

acquisition: & :
RMB’ 000
AR®F T
Property, plant and equipment (Note 16) 3 - Hees MRk (MsE16) 39,566
Prepaid land lease payments (Note 17) AN EEE (MFE17) 11,390
Inventories 7E3 1 519
Trade and other receivables JE 2 B 5% Kz L A SR 1,192
Cash and cash equivalents ReMR2EEYD 313
Trade and other payables JE 1< BR 3R K2 B A FE& < R IE (4,604)
Deferred tax liabilities (Note 30) EEBIE B & (H5E30) (5,501)
Net identifiable assets and liabilities AHERFEERAE 42,875
Goodwill on acquisition (Note 14) B e (K5E14) 3,551
Consideration RE 46,426
Total consideration satisfied by: BREATYEEEN
Consideration shares REKRMD 29,709
Convertible bonds (Note 28) AR ES (FF5E28) 16,717
46,426
Net cash inflow arising on acquisition: WS B 2 IREMAFE -
Cash and cash equivalents acquired Tz R e MRS EEY 313
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34. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2015 (Continued)

Acquisition-related costs amounting to approximately
RMB454,000 had been excluded from the consideration
transferred and had been recognised as an expense in profit or
loss during the year ended 31 December 2015, within
administrative expenses.

The fair value of receivables acquired, which principally
comprised trade and other receivables approximated their gross
contractual amounts. There were no contractual cash flows not
expected to be collected.

The goodwill arising from the acquisition amounted to
approximately RMB3,551,000 which was mainly attributable to
(i) the difference between the agreed issue price of the
consideration shares and convertible bonds and their
acquisition-date fair value; and (i) deferred tax liabilities arising
from the fair value exercise of the land and property, plant and
equipment as at the completion date.

The Nuoxin Engineering Group did not contribute any revenue
to the Group’s revenue and results for the period from date of
acquisition to 31 December 2015. If the acquisition had been
completed on 1 January 2015, the Group’s total revenue for the
year ended 31 December 2015 would had been approximately
RMB329,120,000 and loss for the year ended 31 December
2015 would had been approximately RMB257,149,000. This
pro forma information was for illustrative purposes only and was
not necessarily an indication of revenue and results of
operations of the Group that actually would have been achieved
had the acquisition been completed on 1 January 2015, nor
was it intended to be a projection of future results.
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 3. cRITESE

CATEGORY

AEERBREMRNEEER TR
FRmEEWT

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments of the Group as at the end of the reporting period

are as follows:

2016 2015
—EB—REF ZT—hF
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AREF T AREEFTT
Financial assets TREE
Financial assets at fair value through ~ #EZAFEFABRZ S REE -
profit or loss:
Held for trading FHIEEE 200 200
Loans and receivables: ER Rk EWFRIE
Trade and other receivables R L B R B L Ath i AR SRR 33,597 34,996
Cash and cash equivalents BeMkREEED 20,534 45,437
Financial liabilities tREE
At amortised cost: LA $5 K AR 51| BR
Trade and other payables JRE < BR 3R K2 L A FE < R IE 371,082 343,664
Other borrowings EMER 40,080 43,080
Obligation under finance leases AT E AR 45,559 73,400
Convertible bonds AT R (E 5 8,316 6,304
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND

FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

The Group’s major financial instruments include financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss, trade and other receivables,
cash and cash equivalents, trade and other payables, other
borrowings, obligations under finance leases and convertible
bonds. Details of the financial instruments are disclosed in the
respective notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk,
currency risk and other price risk arises in the normal course of
the Group’s business. The management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner. There has been
no change to the types of the Group’s exposure in respect of
financial instruments or the manner in which it manages and
measures the risks.

(@) Credit risk

(i)  As at 31 December 2016, the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying
amount of each financial asset in the consolidated
statement of financial position after deducting any
impairment allowance.

(i) Inrespect of trade and other receivables, in order to
minimise risk, the management has a credit policy in
place and the exposures to these credit risks are
monitored on an ongoing basis. Credit evaluations of
its customers’ financial position and condition are
performed on each major customer periodically.
These evaluations focus on the customers’ past
history of making payments when due and current
ability to pay, and take into account information
specific to the customers as well as pertaining to the
economic environment in which the customers
operate. The Group does not require collateral in
respect of its financial assets. Trade debtors are
usually due within 30 to 180 days from the date of
billing.

36 cRIAECHEEREERR

AV

AEBEZIESRTARERATE
AFABRZEREE  BURIRFR KR E
W HIR - He MRS FEY &
5% B 3R Re HL A B AN KIR ~ Eo AR AR K
MEHEAZEANATRBRES - 2/
TAZHBRESBMERE - %%
TRTACZHBERREEASEER
EEBERTELZFEERR - RE
Bl FMERE gs¥ERNEE
fERRER - EREEENENZE
B AERERSABEEZEN
Bt ARBARSRITAZERER
e HEIE NEt Em 2 77 23 & &
) o

@ FERB

) RZE—-—XRF+ A
=+—HB XEBZ&K
FEERRBLERE VB
XAZEE R EELTR
ERDRE R HEE 2 BREE -

i) AEEREEKERRE
fib FE UL SR IE 2 B\ B - B IR
BEFTY—HBEERX -
I B RS E R ETH
BER AEE2THY
EXERPZ2HBEMRR R
BHETEETG ZF
THHEERPBAZNE
HREBEBZEERBAIZX
Negeh TEBRREFPETE
BREEPLEMELHE
REBZER AEEIT &
HESRMEEERERRD -
JEWARR —HRBMRAERM
#E30Z 180H W EI| Hf -

ZE-AEFH HEEEREEERLF 171



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 0 W5 A WY ik

For the year ended 37 December 2076 &2 —F— NF+ - A=+—HIF/E

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

172

(@) Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

(i)

(Continued)

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced
mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer. The default risk of the industry and
country in which customers operate also has an
influence on credit risk but to a lesser extent. At the
end of the reporting period, the Group has no
significant concentration of credit risk as only 3.46%
(2015: 5.67%) of the total trade receivables was due
from the Group’s five largest customers.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the
Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from trade
and other receivables are set out in note 23.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit-rating agencies.
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 36. TR TAHBEBREER

FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL YNSA-NE-)
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
() Liquidity risk b) REBEZER

Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management, including the
short-term investment of cash surpluses and the raising of
loans to cover expected cash demands, subject to board
to directors’ approval. The Group’s policy is to regularly
monitor current and expected liquidity requirements and
its compliance with lending covenants to ensure that it
maintains sufficient amount of cash and adequate
committed lines of funding from financial institutions to
meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer
term.

The following tables set out the weighted average effective
interest rate and the remaining contractual maturities at
the end of the reporting period of the Group’s
non-derivative financial liabilities based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on
rates current at the end of the reporting period) and the
earliest date the Group can be required to pay:

AEBET 2B EEERAR
BEEXAZHEESERE BERS
BB AR ENEBREET M
REMREFR  HEAEEES
HETAMEE - AEBZBRS
EHERENLBAZADES
FXR - REBTEERGEZER
AR B ETTMNRE
B RN S BB RS R SR
HEERE  UWnrHEHLE

TR AEBZIFTESREA
BERRE AR MEFHERF
ERBTANH  DERGLOR
HERSR (BRERGHONEX
g (MZEFR) RBERRZR
TTMERFEZFEMNF) ALK
BATEEZRFHYMETE :
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 36. TR ITAZHBREMREER
FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL NS R =NE-))
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b) Liquidity risk (Continued) b) REBESERRE)
2016 2015
Z5-AE “3-1%
Morethan  More than Total Morethan  More than Total
Within ~ 1yearbut 2yearsbut contractual Within -~ 1yearbut ~ 2yearsbut  contractual
Effective ~ 1yearor  lessthan  lessthan undiscounted  Carrying Efectve  1yearor  lessthan  lessthan undiscounted Carrying
interestrate  on demand 2years Syears cashflows  amount | inferestraie  ondemand 2 years Syears  cashflows amount
% RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'00  RMB'000  RMB’000 % RMB'O0  RVB'000  RMB'OO0  RMB'000  RWB'000
15/ & 15/ af
gA%E  1ENLE 2FENE REBRS JER  1ENE 2FNE REBES
BRAZ  EZREE  2FNm SFMR  REER BEE| ERAE  BREE  FMA SENMA RERE KEf
% ARMTR ARBTR ARBTR ARMTR ARETR % ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETT ARETR
Trade payables ERER NATEE 160,23 = - 160286 160206 | NATER 130,069 = - 130059 130059
Amounts due to EREERE
directors NATER 13,738 - - 13,738 13738 | NATER 14,628 = = 14,628 14,628
Amounts due to ERNEARZ
non-controling FERBRE
sharenolders of
SUbsidiaries NATRER 6,451 - - 6,451 6451 | NATER 7491 = = 7491 7497
Accrued expenses R R
and other payables AtbERZE NATER 52595 - - 52,505 52505 | NATER 33838 = = 33838 33838
Payables for acquistion ~ #E#1E  BER
of property, plant ECPAEN]
and equipment NATER 138,062 - - 138,062 138062 | NATER 157,642 = = 157,642 157,642
Other borrowings AfbfeR 112t 71210
(note 26) (HiH26) 11.5% 42,282 - - 420 40,080 11.5% 51075 = = 51075 43080
Obiigations under HERERE
finance leases (Msk7)
[note 27) 10.20% 23479 28331 381 50,687 45,559 10.08% 37,675 37,675 6,280 81,630 73,400
Convertible bonds ThERES
(note 28) (Hi3k28) 24% - - 17,400 17,400 8316 234% = = 17400 17400 6,304
436,843 28387 2,21 481,451 465,037 432,414 37,675 23,680 493,769 466,448

174 CHINA CBM GROUP COMPANY LIMITED Annual Report 2016



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Ao A5 W Bl ek

For the year ended 37 December 2076 B2 —F— NF+_-HA=+—HIFZ

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c)

Interest rate risk

The Group’s fair value interest rate risk relates to primarily
to its fixed-rate borrowings. The cash flow interest rate risk
of the Group relates primarily to their variable-rate bank
deposits and obligations under finance leases. The
management considers that the exposure to interest rate
risk on bank deposits is insignificant. For borrowings
which are fixed-rate instruments is insensitive to any
change in interest rates. A change in interest rates at the
end of the reporting period would not affect profit or loss.
The cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on
the fluctuation of the interest rate to be promulgated by
the People’s Bank of China (“PBOC”) arising from the
Group’s RMB denominated obligations under finance
leases. The Group currently does not have an interest rate
hedging policy. However, the management monitors
interest rate exposure and will consider hedging significant
interest rate exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2016, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 50 basis points in the interest rates,
with all other variables held constant, would have
increased/decreased the Group’s loss for the year by
approximately RMB425,000 (2015: RMB346,000). The
sensitivity analysis above indicates the instantaneous
change in the Group’s loss for the year that would arise in
respect of the exposure to cash flow interest risk arising
from floating rate obligations under finance lease held by
the Group.
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

176

(d) Currency risk

@i

Exposure to currency risk

RMB is not freely convertible into foreign currencies.
All foreign exchange transactions involving RMB
must take place through PBOC or other institutions
authorised to buy and sell foreign exchange. The
exchange rate adopted for foreign exchange
transactions are the rates of exchange quoted by the
PBOC that would be subject to a managed float
against an unspecified basket of currencies.

Foreign currency payments, including the remittance
of earnings outside the PRC, are subject to the
availability of foreign currency (which depends on the
foreign currency denominated earnings of the Group)
or must be arranged through the PBOC with
government approval.

The group entities collect most of the revenue and
incur most of expenditures in their respective
functional currencies. The directors consider that the
Group’s exposure to foreign currency exchange is
insignificant as the majority of the Group’s
transactions are denominated in the functional
currency of each individual group entity. The Group
currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy. However, the management monitors foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign exposure should the need arise.
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(d) Currency risk (Continued)

@i

Exposure to currency risk (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the carrying
amounts of the Group’s major monetary assets
denominated in a currency other than the functional
currencies of the relevant group entities are as
follows:

36 ERTECUKRKREER

NFEE#)

) BE¥EEE)

() EWEBREEGE)
RiERR - NEE M
FAEEEERIEEE AN
EBIECTIEEREE
MBREELD D

Exposure to foreign currency

S B B AR I

2016 2015
—EB—REF —ET—hHF
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000

ARET T ARETT

Cash and cash equivalents R4 MBS EEY
- Hong Kong dollars — BT

2,469 2,322
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 36. eMITACHERBEER

FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL YNSRI ERE )

INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(d) Currency risk (Continued) d E¥REE)

(i) Sensitivity analysis (i) HRBREDH

The following table indicates the approximate TR&HEP R EEHKR -
change in the Group’s loss for the year and REBRNFEEENE
accumulated losses in response to reasonably BREREANEEFEERE
possible changes in the foreign exchange rates to SEREZER 25188
which the Group has significant exposure at the end BEMELA 2B EE -

of the reporting period.

2016 ‘ 2015

—E-RE —T-RF
Increase/ Effect on loss Increase/ Effect on loss
(decrease) after (decrease) after
in foreign taxation and in foreign taxation and
exchange  accumulated exchange accumulated
rates losses rates losses
HHEER HREE
ExtH/ K EtEE EBx LA/ KR EE
(R &) 2% (FE) ZEE
RMB’000 RMB’ 000
AR®TR ARETFT
Hong Kong dollars BT 5% (129) 5% (116)
(5%) 123 (5%) 116
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 36. TR TAHBEBREER

FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL YNSERE )
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(d) Currency risk (Continued) ) E¥ERE)

(ii) Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined
assuming that the change in foreign exchange rates
had occurred at the end of the reporting period and
had been applied to the Group’s exposure to
currency risk for financial instruments in existence at
that date, and that all other variables, in particular
interest rates, remain constant. Results of the
analysis as presented in the above table represent
an aggregation of the effects on each of the group
entities’ loss for the year. The stated changes are
used when reporting currency risk internally to key
management and represent management’s
assessment of reasonably possible changes in
foreign exchange rates over the period until the end
of the next reporting period. The analysis is
performed on the same basis for 2015.

(e) Other price risk

Oil and gas price risk

Apart from the financial instruments disclosed above, the
Group’s activities expose it to market risk relating to oil
and gas price risks.

The Group is engaged in a wide range of gas related
activities. The global oil and gas market is affected by
international political, economic and global demand for
and supply of oil and gas. A decrease in the world prices
of cruel oil and gas could adversely affect the Group’s
financial position. The Group has not used any derivative
instruments to hedge against potential price fluctuations of
crude oil and refined and gas products. The management
will consider hedging oil and gas exposure should the
need arise.
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

®

180

Fair value measurement

@i

Financial assets and financial liabilities measured
at fair value

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the
Group’s financial instruments measured at the end
of the reporting period on a recurring basis,
categorised into the three-level fair value hierarchy
as defined in HKFRS 13 Fair value measurement.
The level into which a fair value measurement is
classified is determined with reference to the
observability and significance of the inputs used in
the valuation technique as follows:

° Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using
only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted
prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities at the measurement date.

° Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using
Level 2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail
to meet Level 1, and not using significant
unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are
inputs for which market data are not available.

° Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using
significant unobservable inputs.

CHINA CBM GROUP COMPANY LIMITED Annual Report 2016

36 eRITAECHKEEREER
DNEEFEE)

®

AFEE

@i

BRATENEZEREE
RempBas

NTEEER
TREJNRMEARRE
FUHREFEZAEES
BMIAZAFE ZSFA
FEEEBVBEHRS ER
FISRAFHEFERTEZ
“RBRAFESEHE B R
FEAEZHDHEELEMH
B FE A28 AR
ZABREREZHET
W

o EURME: EUE
BEABBHEY A
TE - B AR
S8 ENEE B EE
PR 5 2 K T
Bt e

o  FOMIHME: LE2MR
BWABE (BTFE
FIR 2B R@E A
HE)tE - BTER
BRZAAHERGA
BEZAFE T
BRE ABEAREZE
ERSHEBEAmIZEIE
oA B -

. EMMEE: EREX
2R BERABE
HEZATHE-



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ak 05 B Wik

For the year ended 37 December 2076 2 —ZF— NFE+— H=+—HI-F/F

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

®

Fair value measurement (Continued)

@i

Financial assets and financial liabilities measured
at fair value (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

The fair value of the Group’s financial assets carried
at fair value through profit or loss amounting to
approximately RMB200,000 (2015: RMB200,000) as
at 31 December 2016 and is classified as Level 1.
The fair value of financial instruments traded in active
markets is based on quoted market prices at the
end of the reporting period. During the year ended
31 December 2016, there were no transfers between
Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level
3. The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers
between levels of fair value hierarchy as at the end of
the reporting period in which they occur.

Fair value of financial assets and financial
liabilities carried at other than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial
instruments carried at cost or amortised cost are not
materially different from their fair values as at 31
December 2016 and 2015 except for the following
financial instruments, for which their carrying
amounts and fair value and the level of fair value
hierarchy are disclosed below:

—EAEER PEEEREEARLF
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A 0 W5 A WY ik

For the year ended 37 December 2016 %2 —E—NE+—H=1—HI-FEF

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 36 TERITEAECHERREER
FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL NEEE)
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
® Fair value measurement (Continued) " 2FEFEE
(i)  Fair value of financial assets and financial (i) YFEAFEIEFEz2SH
liabilities carried at other than fair value EEREREEZATE
(Continued) (%)
2016 ‘ 2015
ZE—RE —E—1h
Carrying Carrying
amount Fair value amount Fair value
REE AEE EEE REE
RMB’ 000 RMB’000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000

ARBT R ARBTR ARBETT ARBETTT

Financial liabilities £ & & &

Convertible bonds I ik &% 8,316 9,597 6,304 8,243

The fair values of the liability component in TMBREFEERDZA
convertible bonds are estimated as being the FEDNGEEERRKRIR S
present values of future cash flows, discounted at MEZBAEBE MAKRERS
interest rates based on the government yield curve MENREBERRERARZ
as at the end of the reporting period plus an B W m s EARFTERM
adequate constant credit spread, adjusted for the FREBZEEBEEZ®RA XY
Group’s own credit risk. R YERAERZ

BHEERRELFEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND

FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL

INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(M Fair value measurement (Continued)

(ii) Fair value of financial assets and financial
liabilities carried at other than fair value

(Continued)

Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed

B 1 T 5 1 0 B ik

For the year ended 37 December 2076 2 —ZF— NFE+— H=+—HI-F/F

36 ERTECUKRKREER

NFEE#)

®

Fair value measurements as at

31 December 2016 categorised into

R-B-RETZA=1-82
AUTEN 2 AVEHE
Fair value Level 1 Level 2
AVE 1 £24
RMB'000 RMB’000  RMB’000
ARETR ARETR

Level 3
EXH
RMB’000

AR®TR ARWTR

DFEFE®E)

(i) WHBRAFEIIRZERH
EERERMEBEZATE
(%)
EREATEZAR
Fair value measurements as at
31 December 2015 categorised into

RZEZ-RE+-A=1+-0%

RATERIZ ATEE
Fair value Level 1 Level2 Level 3
A F1R EV ER
RVB'000  RVMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

ARETTL ARETT ARETR ARMTR

Liabilities 8f
Convertiole bonds A/ Tk (E%

9,507 - -

9,507

8,243 = = 8,243

37. COMMITMENTS

(@)

37. &iE

In addition to the finance lease arrangements as detailed
in note 19, the Group had the following significant capital
commitments contracted but not provided for in the

consolidated financial statements:

(@)

AP FE10PTRE AL 2 B E HE 225k
Sh - AEBEREZRAMBHRERER]
WHERBB Z ERERNALENT

Acquisition of property, plant and YB& ¥ % - # 25 & R &

equipment (including

construction in progress)

(BREZIR)

2016 | 2015

—e-x%| —T-uf

RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000

AE¥ T AREET T

135,000 143,000
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For the year ended 37 December 2076 gt —E— NE+ = H=+—HIFEZF

37.

38.

184

COMMITMENTS (Continued)

(b) At the end of the reporting period, the total future
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases in respect of office premises are payable as follows:

37. &iE (&)

b)) RBERKR - REMIEVERZ

AHRBELEHOEN 2 B
EEERIBLBEMT

[ 2016 | 2015
—E-RE —E-RHEF
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000

AR®TR ARETT

Within 1 year 1FR 109 540
After 1 year but within 5 years 118 E5F R - 85
109 625

The Group leases a property held under operating lease
with initial lease term of one to three years. None of the
leases includes contingent rentals.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2016, the Group’s shareholding in Shanxi
Qinshui were pledged. Details of the Group’s pledge of other
assets are included in notes 16 and 17 respectively.
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38.

. J

AEEZZKEHOBEYNE - 1)
REMA—E=F - AEENY
THAEEARAEE

EEER

RZE—XRNFE+ZA=+—H K&
ER LT K IR A - A%
Bz H i & ERIRFEE DRI N M T
16517 °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Ao A5 W Bl ek

For the year ended 37 December 2076 B2 —F— NF+_-HA=+—HIFZ

39. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

For the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015, the directors
are of the view that the followings are related parties of the

39. EXBEALIRS

BE_T—XRFr-_ZT—hHF+=A8
—t+—HIEFE BFERAETIEA

Group:
Name of party Relationship
KRB EIIR & Effectively owned 17% equity

AR ET AT (transliterated
as Shanxi Qinshui Prefecture
Chengrong Investment
Limited) (“Chengrong
Investment”)

B EEREEE R

AR /A 7] (transliterated as
Yangcheng Yangtai Group
Industrial Company Limited)
(“Yangcheng Yangtai”)

EB)N 5 R BETR £ M0 AR A%

APBREAA] (transliterated as
Zhengzhou Zhengcheng
Energy Technology Service
Company Limited)
(“Zhengzhou Zhengcheng”)

interest in Wanzhi Logistics
as a non-controlling
shareholder of a subsidiary
and provided financing to
the Group of
RMB29,000,000 as
disclosed in note 26.

Effectively owned 20% equity

interest in Yangcheng
Huiyang as a
non-controlling shareholder
of a subsidiary and provided
financing to the Group of
RMB11,080,000 as
disclosed in note 26.

Effectively owned 20% equity

interest in Yangcheng
Huiyang as a
non-controlling shareholder
of a subsidiary.

ABASEEZBEEAL:
ERELER B R
7K S B Bl EB—RK B AR
KEBR FEE R AR R EBR
EERA BEEEMRD
(MR RIg & ) 17 %% 725 #E 2% -
SRR
e AR K
29,000,0007T (%0
MIE2BFTINEE) ©
CTACES EE—RKEB AR
SEEX ZIEERBRRE
BRAA BHEGHER
(55952 1) H20% & A& &

N = AR BETR

H o RAAEHE
REESARE
11,080,0007¢ (4
M EE26FTiER)

1ER — B 2 &)

My AR #S ZIFEBEBERE
BR AR A SRS
(T&HM = A ) HI20%6H% A HE s ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 37 December 2076 &2 —F— NF+ - A=+—HIF/E

39. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 39. EXBEALRF &)

TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(a) In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed in (a)
elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the
Group entered into the following material related party

B R & B 75 ok H b BB 40 PR R
MR 5 K aE o ARBEERTL
TIHERBEALRS -

transactions:
[ 2016 | 2015
Name of related party Nature of transaction —E—XREF —E—RF
BEALER REHEE RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR®T T AR®TIT
Nuoxin Engineering Purchase of materials - 2,248
E2H BEME

Nuoxin Engineering was a company owned by Mr. Wang. During
the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group completed the
acquisition of Nuoxin Engineering from Mr. Wang on 11
December 2015 (Note 34), and accordingly Nuoxin Engineering
became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group. The transaction
were based on terms between the parties involved.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 37 December 2076 2 —ZF— NFE+— H=+—HI-F/F

39. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b) Balances with related parties

30. EXHEEALTRZ (#®)

b) EHEEEALZERR

As at 31 December 2016 and 2015, the Group and the NRZE—RFR-E—RHFE+=
Company had the following balances with related parties: A=+—8B AEEKAKQFE

@i

(ii)

Amount due from a related company

FEANLTE NIIAERR

() Eh-—EBEEXIIRE

Maximum
amount
outstanding
during the year
FABRS
REEEE

2016 2015 |
—B-RF —F-h%F
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR®T T AREET T AR¥T T

Yangcheng Yangtai 5 3% [5 2= 3,730 7,261 7,261
The amounts due are unsecured, interest-free and REBERFBERERR -
repayable on demand. BB RBIRERKEE -

Amounts due to directors/non-controlling

(i) ENES HWELRZHE

shareholders of subsidiaries R IR R ARIE
The amounts due are unsecured, interest-free and REBERFBEREERR -

repayable on demand.

R ENBRBEKRER -
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For the year ended 37 December 2016 %2 —E—NE+—H=1—HI-FEF

39. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 30. ERBEEALTRS ®)

TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(©) Key management personnel remuneration © FEEBEABZFHMH
Remuneration for key management personnel of the AEEBFESTBABZEH (B
Group, including amounts paid to the Company’s FED BB SO R P 5103 B8 2
directors and the chief executive as disclosed in note 9 ENARRIES &eTHAER
and certain of the highest paid employees as disclosed in RETHESEHMNES 2 HIE) 10
note 10, is as follows: ™

2016 | 2015
—E-XEF —ET-hF
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000

AR®T R ARET T

Short-term employee benefits EHEB R 3,203 2,247
Post-employment benefits BB 12 42 47 51

Total remuneration is included in BN 4a %A+ A [ 8 TR A |
“Staff costs” (Note 7(a)) (FF3E7(a)) 3,250 2,298
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OF THE COMPANY

For the year ended 37 December 2076 # 2 —F

40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

40. &R

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Ao A5 W Bl ek

—NFTZHA=1—HIFFE

A 2 B B AR L 3R

[ 2016 | 2015
—B-AE =A%
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR¥T T AREF T
Non-current assets FNRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y - e NREE 1,827 2,909
Investments in subsidiaries REB AR Z&E 232,963 232,963
234,790 235,872
Current assets REEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries NGRS 207,271 292,514
Amount due from a director el E =08 . 4,633 2,951
Prepayment and other receivables T BRIE fo B At R U FR IR 751 11,608
Cash and cash equivalents BekReEED 552 9,531
213,207 316,604
Current liabilities REEE .
Amounts due to subsidiaries FER I8 2 Al 5RR 11,554 6,969
Amounts due to directors JENESEHIA 1,247 1,051
Accruals and other payables FEETE A Nk B A FET IR 3,540 3,580
16,341 11,600
Net current assets REBEERE 196,866 305,004
Total assets less current liabilities #EEERARBEE 431,656 540,876
Non-current liabilities *nBEE
Convertible bonds Ef % 5 8,316 6,304
Deferred tax liabilities EEMRIBEE 1,222 2,555
9,538 8,859
Net assets BEFE 422,118 532,017
Capital and reserves ﬁzli R #E
Share capital g s 10,910 10,910
Reserves 1.:% & 411,208 521,107
Total equity RS 422,118 532,017

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on

27 March 2017.

Wang Zhonc
Director

EE

Sheng

EEgRN_T—LHF=-A-ttB#
R PR T 85 o

Fu Shou Gang
el
Director
EE
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For the year ended 37 December 2016 %2 —E—NE+—H=1—HI-FEF

41.

190

IMMEDIATE PARENT AND ULTIMATE
CONTROLLING PARTY

At 31 December 2016, the directors consider the immediate
parent and ultimate controlling party of the Group to be Jumbo
Lane Investments Limited, which is incorporated in the BVI.
Jumbo Lane Investments Limited does not produce financial
statements available for public use.

CHINA CBM GROUP COMPANY LIMITED Annual Report 2016

41.

HEEBQARARBRERE

R-ZBE—-—RNE+-ZA=+—H &=
REANEEHEEI AR RERIERS
RBEREBRAT  EREBREX
HEAMAKY BELKEERAANL
BRHUHEARFERA ZHMBERE -



FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A7 B 5 4k 2

For the year ended 37 December 2076 B2 —F— NF+_-HA=+—HIFZ

RESULTS S
For the year ended 31 December
BZ+t-A=t—-HLEE
2016 2015 2014 2013 2012
ZE-RE | ZT-LhF —T-OmFE ZT-=F "T-_F
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR®TR | ARBTT ARETRT AR®BTT ARETR
Revenue e 218,879 329,120 301,119 187,184 183,834
Loss from operations REXBELEZER (88,382) (44,971) (64,559) (76,196) (26,913)
Finance costs HBER (10,925) (14,324) (16,057) (27,657) (7,214)
Fair value loss on other HeMEEL
financial assets DNTEEBE - - - - (17,051)
Loss on extinguishment of dHEEBAGEZER
financial liability - - (57,024) - -
Impairment loss on goodwill EEREESR - (3,551) (104,298) (163,000) (2,339
Impairment loss on intangible ~ EF & ERERE
assets - (134,385)  (138,702) (25,000) -
Impairment loss on property, — #1% - # 2 MRER
plant and equipment BEEE - (92,086) = = =
Loss before taxation BHAIEE (99,307)|  (289,317)  (380,640)  (291,859) (53,517)
Income tax (expense)/credit ISR (F%),/
i (3,077) 34,291 38,324 13,092 (7,945)
Loss for the year REEEE (102,384)|  (255026)  (342,316)  (278,761) (61,462)
Attributable to: T5IfE -
Equity shareholders of the ARAEERE
Company (101,002)| (235943  (333:348)  (271,440) (55,130)
Non-controlling interests IR = (1,382) (19,083) (8,968) (7,321) (6,332)
Loss for the year AEEEBR (102,384) (255,026) (342,316) (278,761) (61,462)
—E—AREFR FEEEBREEARAT 191
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For the year ended 37 December 2076 gt —E— NE+ = H=+—HIFEZF

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

EERER

At 31 December

W+=HA=+-8
2016 2015 2014 2013 2012
“E-RE | ZT—hF ZTMFE —T-—=F —T-—=F
RMB’000 | RMB’000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR®TR | ARBTT ARETT ARBTRT ARETT
Total assets BEE 922,135 | 1,031,530 1,283,223 1,506,671 1,545,761
Total liabilities BaE (503,999) (511,126) (548,147) (685,922) (523,058)
Non-controlling interests FEPE AR R o 14,111 12,729 (6,354) (15,322) (22,643)
Equity attributable to equity AN AR R
shareholders of the FE(h s
Company 432,247 533,133 728,722 805,427 1,000,060
192
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